EARRE 2023 x4

Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited Annual Report

U EZERERA A

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(RRERBEMK I HERAT) -~ —

Stock Code R 31C3E : 9928 — (_
[ | [




B &%
CONTENTS

NAEIRERLE
Corporate Milestones

F 2R

Awards Won
NEIER

Corporate Information

EFERE
Chairman’s Statement

MBEHE

Financial Summary

BEELERERE
Directors and Senior Management

EEegWmE
Report of Directors
PEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

13

18

25

26

38

103

B AZ AR E

Independent Auditor’s Report

RAEBEER
Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss

FeETHBAX
Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

A BIRRE
Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

et FEs
Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

AR RER

Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

B R P A

Notes to the Financial Statements

hFEMBEE

Five-Year Financial Summary

127

136

137

138

140

142

145

267



REABLE
CORPORATE MILESTONES

2023F1A
JANUARY 2023

BAME2023FEE THESZIER B

2023F1 8138 BRAMEEEMNAEEBREEMEF2023FETES -
ERBETERRTY  2EEFE2022F THEBR - WFAEE 72023
FTEARRERMEBER -

Times Neighborhood Annual Work Conference 2023
Held Successfully

On 13 January 2023, Times Neighborhood held its 2023 annual
work conference at Guangzhou Baiyun International Unit. The
conference focused on the development trend of the industry,
summarised the overall work progress in 2022, and deployed the
general requirements and important tasks for the work in 2023.
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Linli Zhilian Technology and Linlibang Network
Technology were Awarded “Guangdong Specialized,
Refined, Distinctive and Innovative SMEs"

On 18 January 2023, Guangzhou Linli Zhilian Technology Co.,
Ltd. and Guangzhou Times Linlibang Network Technology Co.,
Ltd. under the Group successfully passed the accreditation of
“Guangdong Specialized, Refined, Distinctive and Innovative
SMEs”, which amply demonstrated the innovative capability,
technological R&D strength, and industrial specialization of Linli
Zhilian Technology and Linlibang Network Technology, ranking at a
pioneering level among their industry counterparts.
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Times Neighborhood Annual Results Announcement
2022 Released

On 29 March 2023, Times Neighborhood announced its 2022
annual results. Under the overlapping pressures of macro-economy
and industry cycles, Times Neighborhood has risen to the challenge
by adhering to its long-term development strategy, sticking to the
development foundation of high-quality property services, insisting
on the development of quality scale, developing advantageous
businesses with long-term value, and facing the uncertain future
with clear strategic determination and execution, establishing a
solid foundation for the Company’s long-term sustainable and high
quality development.
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Times Neighborhood’s Renewal with China-Singapore
Smart Park to Explore New Direction of Industrial Park
Services

China-Singapore Guangzhou Knowledge City is a national level
bilateral cooperation project between China and Singapore, and
Times Neighborhood has provided services to the park for more
than three years. On 31 March 2023, the signing ceremony for
cooperation between Times Neighborhood and China-Singapore
Smart Park was held successfully in Guangzhou, declaring
the official takeover of the park. On 28 March 2023, Times
Neighborhood was highly recognised by its partner for its superior
national hospitality service during the visit of Singaporean Prime
Minister Lee Hsien Loong.
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Times Neighborhood Hainan Lingshui Tree Benchmark
to Explore New Paths of Urban Services

Providing a differentiated sanitation solution for different
living conditions in Lingshui County, Hainan Province, Times
Neighborhood expanded its services to a wider urban space by
breaking service boundaries with innovating service modes, which
garnered extensive attention and reports from the industry and the
media.
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Times Neighborhood Service UP Conference 2023 Held
Successfully

On 13 April 2023, with the theme of “Happy Co-creation”,
the Times Neighborhood Service UP Conference 2023 was held
successfully in Guangzhou, at which the “Initial Plan 3.0” was
officially announced to revolve around enduring initial spirit of
service of Times Neighborhood and drive continuous service
innovation centering on the better life of property owners.
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Times Neighborhood Retained 11th in Top 100 Property
Management Companies in China

On 26 April 2023, in the “Research Results Conference of China
Top 100 Property Service Enterprises 2023 and 16th Forum of China
Top 100 Property Service Entrepreneurs” organized by the Beijing
China Index Information Technology Academy and the Research
Group for the Top 10 Real Estate Enterprises in China, Times
Neighborhood retained 11th in Top 100 Property Management
Companies in China.
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Times Neighborhood Ranked 13th in Listed Property
Enterprises and 5th in Best ESG Practices

On 10 May 2023, China Property Management Think Tank and CPM
Research Institute released the 2023 China Property Management
Industry Listed Property Enterprises Assessment Research Report,
and Times Neighborhood was awarded 2023 Top 20 Listed
Companies of China Property Management Service and 2023
ESG Best Practice of China Listed Property Management Service
Companies, thus proving its strengths once again.
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Times Neighborhood First Service Innovation
Competition Was Held

On 31 May 2023, under the theme of “Elderly Friendly, Child
Friendly and Pet Friendly”, Times Neighborhood commenced
its first Service Innovation Competition to solicit innovative
community service proposals from employees and property owners,
thereby putting into practice its annual brand slogan of "Happy
Co-creation".
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Better Recycling Plan of Carbon Reduction Officer in
Neighborhood Held Successfully

From July to November 2023, Times Neighborhood launched the
"Better Recycling Plan", collaborating with Times Foundation,
SEE Conservation Pearl River Program Centre, and Mead Johnson
Nutritionals (China) in promoting a new low-carbon lifestyle through
a variety of community-based parenting activities and environmental
protection courses.
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Times Neighborhood Interim Results Announcement
2023 Released

On 29 August 2023, Times Neighborhood announced its 2023
interim results: operating revenue reached RMB1.22 billion, core
net profit increased by 9.7% year-on-year to RMB113 million,
representing a significant increase, and gross profit margin was
effectively elevated to 23.5% through continuous adjustments to
the business portfolio and optimisation of resource allocation.
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Times Neighborhood’s Second Creator Photography
Contest Was Held

On 1 September 2023, Times Neighborhood launched its second
Creator Photography Contest, targeting customers, partners and
employees to invite photography collections of "wonderful people,
matters, objects and scenes in the Times Community and the beauty
of the Neighborhood", and the response was overwhelming.
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Times Neighborhood’s Third Happy Creation Festival
Was Held

From 23 September to 6 October 2023, the third Times
Neighborhood Happy Creation Festival was held successfully, with
more than 270,000 national Times property owners enthusiastically
participating in the creation journey in the romantic golden autumn,
enjoying the good times of family and national gathering.
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Times Neighborhood’s Third Modern Service Creator
Contest Was Held

From September to December 2023, Times Neighborhood held the
third Modern Service Creator Contest, showcasing the creativity
and beauty of the Neighborhood in innovative forms such as live
streaming theatre, demonstrating the diversity of community life,
and conveying the Neighborhood core values of "Love, Focus, and
Creativity".
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Times Neighborhood Contributed to the Success of the
Heyuan Marathon

On 17 December 2023, "2023 Heyuan Wanlv Lake Marathon"
blazingly kickoff. Times Neighborhood, as the official service
provider of the marathon, provided a series of services such as race
preparation, venue cleaning and material supply, accompanied by
15,000 runners to join the sports event for all and run for a better
city together.
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Time of Award Award Title Awarding Unit
L 202344 A 2023 R EI ¥ ¥ BR 7% B 3 (> ¥ TOP11 b R R I 15 BT R R
(Thfgk 1)
April 2023 2023 Top 100 Property Management Companies in China Beijing China Index
(TOP 11) Information Technology

Academy (“CIA")

2 20234 A 20237 W) ¥ IRAGESGE R B FH 1 2 TOP4 ki1
April 2023 2023 China Excellent Property Management Company by CIA
ESG Development (TOP 4)

3 2023F 4R 20237 B {E =Y AR T 11 1B 75 1 #TOPS ki1
April 2023 2023 China Residential Property Service Capability Exceptional CIA
Companies (TOP 5)

4 202344 A 2023 EEXERYETZEEBFDETOP2 gk
April 2023 2023 China Industrial Park Property Management Exceptional CIA

Companies (TOP 2)

5 2023454 2023F B F W ERBREBEES B ETOPS ki1
May 2023 2023 China Excellent Listed Property Management Company CIA
by Investment Value (TOP 5)

6 2023%5H 20237 B ¥ R L A R A & 7& 1TOP6 5B

May 2023 2023 China Listed Property Management Companies in Terms CIA
of Growth Potential (TOP 6)

BRI RAR AR /2023 £43% 9
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May 2023

10 2023454
May 2023
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August 2023

12 202348A
August 2023

20237 B ¥ AR 7 £ A Al R I E AR B 1TOP8
2023 China Listed Property Management Companies in Terms
of Community Value-added Service Capabilities (TOP 8)

20237 B4 3 fR 7% - 2 BT 5 H R 8% 1TOP7
2023 China Listed Property Management Companies in Terms
of Market Expansion Ability (TOP 7)

20237 BB L ARITOP13
2023 Listed Company of Property Management Service
(TOP 13)

20237 Y EIE FTH AR E L EESGA FFEFETOP10
2023 Leading Listed Company of Property Management
Service for ESG Sustainable Development (TOP 10)

2023 EMEEF B ERBEE
2023 China Property Customer Satisfaction Model Enterprises

2023 EMEmETE N ABDE
2023 Top 100 Brand Influential Property Management
Companies in China
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September 2023

15 202349 A
September 2023

16 2023411 H
November 2023
17 2023412 H

December 2023

18 20234128
December 2023

2023 EEmERB HAREE
2023 Top 100 High-quality Service Property Management
Companies in China

2023 B EMBEXBELREMEEE (HEARES8E)

2023 China Leading Brand Enterprises in Terms of Professional
Operation of Property Management (Valued at RMB8.8
billion)

20231 BN 2 W) E AR TS B 5 o i
2023 Outstanding Brand of Public Buildings Service in China

5175 S R % B0 21— 202345 ¥ 4 (R 19 1B 22
The 16th Times Marketing Ceremony — 2023 Brand Value
Communication Award

023EREMERBEGEAERENDLE

2023 Guangdong Province Property Service Comprehensive
Development Strength Enterprise

20222023 F ERAMEE BT EREETE
2022-2023 Guangdong Property Management Industry
Integrity Benchmark Enterprise
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hYEE
China Property
Management Think Tank

Gkl
CIA

SRR 1
CIA

X T i e R B A
Time Weekly and
Time Finance
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Guangdong Property
Management Industry
Institute (“GPMII")
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GPMII
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December 2023
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December 2023

21 20234127

December 2023

2023 K E@YERB MR B
Well-known Property Management Enterprises in Great Bay
Area in 2023

2023E B E KN ERYERE IS ALE LD E
2023 Leading Enterprises in the Property Management Market
in Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area

2023E R KSR ERE BB

Top 100 Property Management Enterprises in Guangdong-
Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area in 2023
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Meng

Ms. Xie Rao

Ms. Zhou Rui

Mr. Yao Xusheng (resigned on 4 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (Chairman) (appointed on 4 September 2023)

Mr. Bai Xihong (Vice Chairman) (re-designated from Chairman to Vice
Chairman on 4 September 2023)
Mr. Li Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian
Dr. Wong Kong Tin
Dr. Chu Xiaoping

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian (Chairman)

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (appointed on 4 September 2023)
Dr. Wong Kong Tin

Mr. Li Qiang (ceased on 4 September 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (Chairman) (appointed on 4 September 2023)

Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian
Dr. Chu Xiaoping
Mr. Bai Xihong (ceased to be Chairman on 4 September 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Dr. Wong Kong Tin (Chairman)

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (appointed on 4 September 2023)
Dr. Chu Xiaoping

Mr. Bai Xihong (ceased on 4 September 2023)
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RE HERERZEES ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

SRR (FE) (R2023F9H4H Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (Chairman) (appointed on 4 September 2023)

BZEE)

Tzt Ms. Wang Meng

HEia L Ms. Xie Rao

B+ Ms. Zhou Rui

BBRLE Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian

B85k L A (R2023F 9 A4 A =T £ /E) Mr. Bai Xihong (ceased to be Chairman on 4 September 2023)

ARIWE COMPANY SECRETARY

EFEB LT (FCG * HKFCG) Ms. Ng Sau Mei (FCG, HKFCG)

REAR AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

A+ Ms. Zhou Rui

LEBR T Ms. Ng Sau Mei

AMREE REGISTERED OFFICE

71 Fort Street 71 Fort Street

PO Box 500 PO Box 500

George Town George Town

Grand Cayman Grand Cayman

KY1-1106 KY1-1106

Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

REARLIME (HE]D HEADQUARTER AND REGISTERED OFFICE

RBRAEMBRERE IN THE PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA (THE
IIPRC")

e 1103, 11th Floor

Eﬁﬁ ] 410 Dongfeng Middle Road

BN T Yuexiu District, Guangzhou

RELR BE410%: Guangdong Province

11181103% PRC

ERETEEEME PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

BB

Suites 3905-3908, 39th Floor

Gk
Two Exchange Square
‘<2E!£ = {8 ntL
FT_K};\ zgﬂf 8 Connaught Place
R 5 E%5258
39423905-3908 = Central
- - Hong Kong
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HEHERNBFERARE PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Appleby Global Services (Cayman) Limited Appleby Global Services (Cayman) Limited

71 Fort Street
PO Box 500
George Town
Grand Cayman
KY1-1106
Cayman Islands
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2R AEER1835
BRI
171#81712-171655 48
EEEER
EREEBREBEEE

B RN E ST

BB

iR

EaA

B4 it 0 — 2A3918
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Appleby

aE

UM ERIE 1857
=R =N
42184201-03%12%

71 Fort Street
PO Box 500
George Town
Grand Cayman
KY1-1106
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong and U.S. laws:

Sidley Austin

39th Floor, Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street

Central

Hong Kong

As to Cayman Islands law:

Appleby

Suites 4201-03 & 12, 42/F

One Island East, Taikoo Place
18 Westlands Road, Quarry Bay
Hong Kong
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www.shidaiwuye.com

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’'s Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Ping An Bank, Guangzhou Sinopec Building Branch
1st Floor, Sinopec Building, Tower B

191 Tiyu Xi Road

Tianhe District, Guangzhou

Guangdong Province

PRC

China Construction Bank, Zhongshan Longdu Branch
3 Xijiao Yunhan Road

Qijiang Highway

Zhongshan

Guangdong Province

PRC

Guangdong Huaxing Bank, Guangzhou Branch
Room 109, 1st Floor

Qiaoxin International Finance Centre

62 Jinsui Road

Zhujiang New Town

Tianhe District, Guangzhou

Guangdong Province

PRC

STOCK CODE

9928

COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.shidaiwuye.com
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EBETR
BalE
Xinjiang Uygur
Autonomous Regi

Al B Al
Tibet

HE#®

on Gansu

58

Qinghai

Autonomous Region

EHE
South China Sea Islands

BEHEEME
Total contracted GFA

117.688E5K

117.6 million m?

BEeEHER
Total number of
contracted projects

926 &
926

* LA E¥9AEZE2023F12A31H IE&UE -
* All of the data above are the data as of 31 December 2023.

AREL
Heilongjiang

B

Jilin

N Liaonin
NS EAE g
Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region

40
Beijing .
saE Tiar/\jin
EEOEERE 75 Hebei .

Ningxia Hui .
Autonomous Region "2 Shandong

STEE
BREE 5 TR
Shaanxi 2L Jiangsu
H S
enan sy i

£ Shanghai
izzble Anhui

Sicfillelm R == AL
Chongging Zhejiang
IR
B Hunan Jiangxi F%,;igz
. ujian
Guizhou *EE 4y

£ st Guangdong =5 Taiwan
Yunnan AR 3
Al P Hong Kong

Guangxi Zhuang Macao
Autonomous Region

hisiea)

Hainan

MEEREERENE MEEREEIRR
GFA under property Projectsunder
management property management

110.988F5 K 8641

110.9 million m? 864
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited (the “Company” or “we”
or “Times Neighborhood”), | am pleased to present the audited
annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year” or the
"Reporting Period”).

The year 2023 is a year of ups and downs in the economic
environment and industry situation. The complexity and uncertainty
of the international environment became more pronounced during
the year, while the resistance to the domestic demand boost and the
expected turnaround remained strong. In the face of both internal
and external challenges, China’s economy demonstrated excellent
resilience and achieved steady growth.

Under the guidance of the national high-quality development goal,
the real estate and related industries focused on risk mitigation in
2023. According to the data from the National Bureau of Statistics,
indicators such as the area of commercial properties sold, the total
investment in real estate developments and the area of new housing
construction for the year declined on a year-on-year basis, which
brought about considerable impacts on the closely related property
management industry. In response to the current economic cycle,
numerous property management enterprises have expedited the pace
of their transformation in marketing, independence, standardization
and professionalization. On one side, it has introduced fierce market
competition in the existing market and non-residential market, while
on the flip side, it has restored business operation fundamentals to
focus on its core business by reinforcing the quality foundation in
pursuit of long-term development.

In 2023, the Group worked together to overcome difficulties with a
proactive response to the industry challenges, and to promptly adjust
its business strategies to constantly improve the internal development
momentum and quality, and achieved a year-on-year increase of
approximately 10.7% in core net profit attributable to owners of
the parent, and a year-on-year increase of approximately 13.4%
in cash at the end of the Reporting Period. This has earned us the
award of 11th in the Top 100 Property Management Companies in
China, demonstrating our determination to promote the high-quality
development of the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Extensive development of core urban agglomerations
to upgrade project quality

In 2023, the Group’s contract project management area was
approximately 120 million sg.m., and the Group’s project area
under management was approximately 110 million sq.m., of
which the project contract area distributed in the four core urban
agglomerations of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area, Yangtze Delta, Chongging-Chengdu region and Central
China was approximately 95.73 million sq.m., representing an
increase of approximately 2.5 percentage points over the total
contract area of last year. The project contract area distributed
in the first and second tier cities was approximately 88.53 million
sg.m., representing an increase of approximately 2.4 percentage
points over the total contract area of last year.

The Group adhered to qualitative scale expansion, maintained
active exploration of quality projects, and proactively eliminated
some projects with poor comprehensive quality, thereby
establishing a solid foundation of scale for long-term healthy
business growth. In 2023, the Group achieved a breakthrough
in the expansion of the existing market. For industrial logistics
parks, the Group secured key projects such as Xi‘an Cainiao
Industrial Park (78 % 3 & & % &) and Hangzhou Ali Industrial
Park (47 M B B 2 % [&) , maintaining its continuous leading
position in the field of industrial logistics park services. For
urban public services, the Group secured benchmark projects
such as Hainan Lingshui Environmental Sanitation Integration
(BEPEKIRE —EE{t)and by provision of quality services, has
aided Lingshui County in Hainan in ranking at the top of the
list in Environmental Sanitation at the county level for a long
period of time by maintaining a high-quality urban environment.
The implementation of key urban public services projects has
provided the Group an excellent reputation foundation to build
the second curve of scale growth.
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Iterative upgrading of service products and building
a solid foundation for service quality

In order to further respond to the development trend of
diversified and refined customer demands, the Group continued
to improve its service products and completed the iterative
upgrading of its service products in 2023, so as to profoundly
create value for its customers.

In terms of residential services, we introduced differentiated
residential solutions represented by the “Blooming Program”,
and devoted our efforts to building four major service product
ranges, namely “Bauhinia”, “Tulip”, “Golden Lily” and
“Sunflower”, to respond to the needs of customers in different
types of residential communities in high degree. In 2023, the
Group constantly upgraded the “Initial Plan” action, improving
customer satisfaction with in-depth services and optimizing
customer experience with technology tools. By constructing a
“Triple Friendly Community” with high customer stickiness that
is elderly-, child-, and pet-friendly through humanistic activities,
we achieved an overall growth of 3% in customer satisfaction
for the Year, demonstrating the high recognition by property
owners.

As for public construction and urban services, we have launched
the “SHOW Urban Program”, a refined urban public service
solution, to create sophisticatedly refined services for the city.
With advanced management and technological methods, the
Group has created benchmarks in environmental sanitation
integration, urban spatial operation and order maintenance,
and constructed an urban environment with a greater sense of
quality and comfort, thus contributing to create a better city for
living, working, and exploring.

20  TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



MERTSIARE  BHEBEY
R

2023F ANEE MR A HRENE -
BERAEERZIEKE - HEE
BERE KEEE2REET
BHEL NBTEEXNLN I
B~ K EREREAK AN - B OB B AK
REZEHEETRAEERE -
EIRWAEEIRE— IR -

REBNRTHELCLHEREFEH
EEEMEDEEE 202035 BH ¥
FREHBBERRLLLEA28% AT
BEE (A BERESERMESH 2T
25%MEAEBELER R RR -
SEBZFMBOBIEEERRE
EEENa  SBEEEELENSN
N AR B R BIRAAIE — 4R [0
ERRIME  BIEBEMRENE—2
BELRERSIRETEEETLHN
BT ITEE R BEEA Y R K
Ao

Prioritization of efficiency leading to reformation
and the digital and intellectual transformation
beginning to show results

In 2023, the Group continued to enhance management leanness.
We have focused on optimizing the entire cycle of project
operation and the whole process of management and control,
and carried out cost management reforms in various dimensions,
such as reforms on headquarters management costs, outsourcing
costs, water and electricity costs and garbage removal cost,
which further improved our management effectiveness.

We focused on constantly optimizing the convenience and
intelligence of our customer service platform. In 2023, the
online bill payment rate of property owners increased by 28%
year-on-year, with 25% of the consultation orders throughout
the Year resolved automatically by artificial intelligence (Al)
customer service or other intelligent technologies. At the same
time, the data assets stored in the multi-business system began
to show management benefits, data anomaly alert and analysis
helped the Company detect and manage “non-compliant,
impulse, irresponsible, unregulated” issues in the front line
promptly, and further automate data and processes effectively to
reduce the offline workload of the staff at entry-level, showing
an initial results in the digital and intellectual transformation.
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PROSPECTS

With the accelerated recovery of China’s economy and the periodic
bottom out of the upstream real estate industry, the property
management industry is expected to see further improvement in the
external environment and resume its growth. At the policy level, the
“2024 Government Work Report of the State Council” proposes to
“vigorously promote the construction of a modern industrial system
and accelerate the development of new quality productivity.”, which
clearly requires "accelerating the development of modern producer
services”. Under the guidance of the policy, the property management
industry is expected to continue to expand the development
boundaries and the development space. The National Development
and Reform Commission recently issued the Catalogue for Guiding
Industry Restructuring (2024 Version), which adjusted the property
service industry from “Encouraged Category — Other Services” to
“Encouraged Category — Business Services”, and elaborated the
contents of the industry in greater detail. This adjustment has further
clarified the positioning of the property industry. The property
enterprises will adapt to the trend, gradually shift the focus of their
development to the direction of consumption services, and accelerate
the pace of transformation with the support of the policy.

In 2024, the Group will continue to adhere to its long-term
development strategies, insist on profit growth with cash flow,
qualitative scale growth, devoted service quality and cost-competitive
organizational structure in pursuit of high-quality development goals,
and will continue to create value unwaveringly.

1. Determination of implementing the “Spark Program”
to promote high-quality growth in scale

On its scale deployment, the Group will continue to focus on the
four urban agglomerations of Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area, Yangtze Delta, Chongging-Chengdu region
and Central China, and will promote the “Spark Program” with
determination to accelerate the enhancement of project density,
so as to achieve a high degree of synergy amongst the projects
in the regions, optimize the allocation of resources and maximize
the marginal value of the projects in the vicinity. The increase in
density and synergy of residential projects will create a broader
platform and better environment for the Group to develop its
consumption services business. For non-residential projects, the
Group will continue to promote the “SHOW Urban Program” to
develop more benchmark projects, in order to further strengthen
the capacity of integrated urban services.
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Solid enhancement of service quality and
acceleration of the organic integration of
value-added business

Quality of service is the basic foundation of a property
enterprise. The Group will confront the market competition,
adapt to the changes in the industry proactively, adapt to the
policy development trend proactively, strengthen the quality of
service, earn customers’ recognition by providing services with
quality that matches the price, and implement the concept of
“Surprise Customers with Quality and Satisfy Customers with
Service” with determination.

Meanwhile, we will continuously focus on implementing our four
service product ranges, namely “Bauhinia”, “Tulip”, “Golden
Lily” and “Sunflower”, to accelerate the property services with
core value-added businesses. We will strengthen product synergy
and innovation in our value-added business to create one-stop
asset management services and enhance the integration of
product design to build a more systematic value-added service
delivery capability. We will customize integrated asset solutions
for major clients, establishing closer service relationships and
creating greater service value for customers through efficient
asset operations.

Digital intelligence to lead business development,
and professional organization to draw businesses
together

The Group will continue to focus on its development path
of digital and intelligence transformation, creating an
organizational platform for the growth of all, and jointly draw
a blueprint for career development. We will continuously utilize
the online service process and the construction of intelligent
equipment for service experience, lead a digital lifestyle and
provide customers with comprehensive solutions for enjoying
future life. At the same time, we will utilize smart cities, smart
communities, smart parks, smart elevators and so on as starting
points to promote our development in digital intelligence.
Leading by operational efficiency, we will improve the data
structure, govern problematic data, consolidate the foundation
of data assets, and fully utilize the productivity of data.
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The Group will simultaneously enhance the professionalism of
the organization by implementing the “Cornerstone Program”,
precisely training employees to turn them into multi-talent
staff. Internally, we will implement an employee partnership
and co-creation mechanism to leverage our employees’ internal
motivation. Externally, we will introduce high quality partners
with special strengths to activate a new engine and accelerate
access to a wider range of markets and customer groups.

In the future, Times Neighborhood will continue to fulfill its
corporate mission of “Bring a Better Life for More People”,
establish full-lifecycle “Technology+Service” platform, and
pursuit on high-quality development goals in terms of scale and
operation, in order to keep striving for the realization of the
strategic vision of “becoming a global platform for excellence in
lifestyle services”.

FEFHHTEE Shum Chiu Hung
= |p:d Chairman and Non-executive Director
202493 A26H 26 March 2024
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

20234 20224 b )
2023 2022 Changes
AREBTT ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
TEHRKER Key financial information
B Revenue 2,471,305 2,606,042 (5.2)%
EN Gross profit 515,705 555,894 (7.2)%
FEERE Loss for the year
R ECE T — Including non-controlling interests (204,470) (199,595) 2.4%
S YNCIE Z=NY (] — Attributable to owners of the parent (201,763) (213,627) (5.6)%
BREHEE ARG LFNE Core net profit attributable to owners of
(TBREFLEMERT) the parent (excluding the non-recurring
expenses) 158,597 143,305 10.7%
M20234F 720224
12A31H 12A31H
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
AR®BT ARBFT
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
BEMRE Total assets 2,604,783 2,928,883
BfEER Total liabilities 1,141,584 1,238,895
BE NMBEITHE Cash and bank balances 941,366 823,395
SR Total equity 1,463,199 1,689,988
HREHEB AEE#EZR Equity attributable to owners of the parent 1,350,995 1,569,944
FTEHKLE R Key financial ratios
FEF) = Gross profit margin 20.9% 21.3%
peralpe Net profit margin T#EA N/A TEA NA
%00 7% Fl & Core net profit margin 6.7% 6.2%
FREAREEEE - Basic and diluted losses per share,
AR RMB cents (21) (22)
FTEZEHE Key operating data
RERMEERLEERE GFA under management as at year end
(TRERTAXRBIEES) (excluding urban public services projects)
(B&FHXK) (million sq.m.) 110.9 118.7
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Meng (E &), aged 37, was appointed as our executive
Director on 26 August 2019 and is primarily responsible for the
strategic planning and overall operations of our Group. Ms. Wang
is also our chief executive officer and director of some of our
subsidiaries. Since July 2019, Ms. Wang has been serving as the
general manager of Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Corporate
Governance Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Times Neighborhood”) where
she has been responsible for its overall operation and management.

Ms. Wang joined our Group in February 2019. From February 2019
to July 2019, she served as a deputy general manager at Guangzhou
Times Neighborhood where she was primarily responsible for its
business and technology development, market expansion, medium
and long-term project development and management of some of its
subsidiaries. Prior to joining our Group, from July 2006 to September
2016, Ms. Wang served at Guangzhou Key Public Construction
Project Management Office (BT EM A HERIBEEEENLE),
a governmental department, where her last position was the director
of integrated management department and was primarily responsible
for its human resources, administrative logistics and property
management. From September 2016 to March 2018, Ms. Wang
served as a deputy director at Guangzhou Probity Education
Management Center (BEM T BB E B+ 4), a governmental
department, where she was primarily responsible for its human
resources, administrative logistics and property management. From
April 2018 to September 2018, Ms. Wang worked at Guangzhou
Aerospace Haite System Engineering Co., Ltd. (EMM K EHF X
FITEABMRR AR, a company principally engaged in information
technology, where she was primarily responsible for exploring market
opportunities. From October 2018 to February 2019, Ms. Wang served
as a deputy general manager and general manager of public relations
at Guangzhou Yaojie Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (J& /N 7 #2 #4¢
EHEFZE AR AR, a subsidiary of Times China Holdings Limited
("Times China”), where she was responsible for public affairs and
property management of real estate projects in Southern Guangzhou.

Ms. Wang received her bachelor’s degree of arts from Guangzhou
University (&N X E2)in the PRC in June 2006 and her master's
degree in public administration from Jinan University (2 A2 ) in the
PRC in December 2014.
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Ms. Xie Rao (# ), aged 45, was appointed as our executive
Director on 26 August 2019 and is primarily responsible for the
quality operation management, brand positioning and promotion and
public relations maintenance of our Group. Ms. Xie is also our vice
president. She has also been serving as a deputy general manager
at Guangzhou Times Neighborhood since joining our Group in July
2017. From June 2020 to January 2021, Ms. Xie served as the general
manager of Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Environmental Science
Technology Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Company).

Prior to joining our Group, from November 2003 to October 2006,
Ms. Xie served as the senior training director of human resources
department at Guangzhou Mayland Investment Limited (& /1 ZE #k
HEWWEBPRAT), a property developer, where she was primarily
responsible for recruitment and training. From October 2006 to
July 2017, Ms. Xie served as an assistant to the general manager at
Guangzhou Tianli Property Development Co., Ltd. (B X 7 ¥ % 3%
EBAMRAF), asubsidiary of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (&
ME i ERR D AR AR (“Guangzhou R&F”) which is a property
developer listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
"Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 2777) at that time, where she was
primarily responsible for talent strategy planning, property quality
construction and maintenance of public relations.

Ms. Xie has been serving as a member of China Property Management
Association (R B ¥ 2 &1 1% € )and a vice president of Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute (EREAWEETIBITEHE)
since 2019 and 2018 respectively. Ms. Xie acted as a vice president of
Guangzhou Property Management Association (BN ¥ EEIBITE
# @) from November 2018 to December 2020. She served as a deputy
director of the Quality Standards Committee ({Z2X(k T{EZ B &) of
Guangzhou Property Management Association from December 2018
to May 2021. She has acted as a director of the Health and Epidemic
Prevention Committee (EFEH[F ZH ¥ X 8§ €) of Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute (EREAWEEIBITEHE)
since August 2020. In August 2020, Ms. Xie was rated by Guangdong
Property Management Industry Institute as the “Outstanding Figure”
for the 20th anniversary of the establishment of Guangdong property
management industry. In December 2020, she was rated among the
“China’s Top 100 Property Managers in 2020 (202077 B ¥ 2 4838 A
10058) ” and “China’s Top 50 Property Managers in Greater Bay Area
in 2020 (20207F By 2458 A K E5058) “ in the “China’s Property
Managers for 2020" sponsored by Leju Finance and co-sponsored by
Sina Finance, Chinese Entrepreneurs, Fangchan.com and CPMRI. In
January 2021, she was awarded the title of the “Leader for the 25th
Anniversary of the Establishment of Guangzhou Property Management
Association” by Guangzhou Property Management Association. She
was also awarded the title of the “Leader for the 40th Anniversary
of the Development of the Property Management Industry of
Guangdong” by Guangdong Property Management Industry Institute
in October 2021.
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Ms. Xie graduated from Hunan University (G#1F AX£2) in the PRC
majored in economic management in June 2000, and obtained her
qualification as an assistant communication engineer GGB {5 Bh3E T
#2f@) from Guangdong Department of Human Resources and Social
Security (ER A AN ERMASREERE) in March 2004 and obtained
the certificate of completion of EMBA management programme from
Jinan University (2 & AE)in 2021.

Ms. Zhou Rui (F#i), aged 39, was appointed as our executive
Director on 26 August 2019 and is primarily responsible for the
financial management, capital operations and internal control of our
Group. Ms. Zhou has been serving as the general manager of our
financial management center since August 2019. From March 2019
to August 2019, she served as the financial manager at Guangzhou
Times Neighborhood.

Ms. Zhou joined our Group as the financial manager of the financial
management center in March 2019. Prior to joining our Group, from
August 2006 to November 2017, Ms. Zhou worked at KPMG Huazhen
LLP Guangzhou Branch (2 5B EREHMEH I KR EBE )
E M5 Fr) where her last position was an auditor manager and was
primarily responsible for the audit of corporate financial statements.
From December 2017 to March 2018, Ms. Zhou served as a financial
manager at Guangzhou R&F where she was primarily responsible
for its financial and accounting matters. From March 2018 to March
2019, Ms. Zhou worked as a financial manager of financial capital
and cost center at Guangzhou Times Holdings Group Limited.

Ms. Zhou received her bachelor of arts degree in English from South
China University of Technology (2 ® I8 T K2 ) in the PRC in July
2006. She was admitted as a Certified PRC Public Accountant (#
B 5 ffft € 51 A0 ) certified by the Chinese Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (A B :E 2 =tET %< ) in June 2015.
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Non-executive Directors

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, aged 53, was appointed as our non-executive
Director and chairman on 4 September 2023 and is primarily
responsible for providing guidance for the overall development of our
Group.

Mr. Shum is the founder of Times China (together with its subsidiaries,
the “Times China Group”), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Times China was the Group’s controlling
shareholder since its establishment up to the spin-off and the
separate listing of the shares of the Company from Times China
Group in 2019. Mr. Shum has over 20 years of experience in the
real estate industry of the People’s Republic of China and started his
business career in real estate development in 1999, with experience
in trade, finance and real estate development. In 1999, he founded
Guangzhou Sweetland Real Estate Development Company Limited,
a company engaged in residential property development project in
Guangzhou. Mr. Shum has been the chairman of the board, chief
executive officer and director of Times Group since November 2007
and was re-designated as the executive director of Times China in
February 2008. Mr. Shum is also a director of other members of
the Times China Group as well as the chairman of the nomination
committee and a member of the remuneration committee of Times
China. In 2001, he founded Guangzhou Times Holdings Group Co.,
Ltd. (the “Times Group”), a subsidiary of Times China, and served as
the president, primarily responsible for the strategic development and
overall operations of the Times Group’s business. He graduated from
Fudan University (1€ H KX 2) with an Executive Master of Business
Administration degree in June 2006.

BRI B ERR AR /2023 EFHK 29



ESEREREEE

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BRAESRER (RECERETFRL) -
CEM B3Ry R (E—BH#&)) % F [ 20054
EFEEHERF AN B  EPEL
ERLBEERESRT2005FEHRHER
HEGADEEAD] BRULREFBRER
CEREERSEHERET2004FEHE
FEEMEIMNPER] 2 —HHit - 2%
A A2006%F K 20074 5 Rl R Bt 2RI 2
PR EIRBEHERL FEZEE
HECEBREENTELERBERT[F
B EHEEFEER] B KIZ T 2007
PREEHMEEFSLERESHFR] - LR
2008F R H MESHEEERTREFH
ENFeskmBEHAZe R T IRREEME
30F +REGELERIAY] - R2010F EE
MTARBREFIE+—EEMNGELS
G|~ 20105 EE B M 2 R PR
WaRhd - 2EIEHEHERE KER
EERERTIPEBHETERAY
ZEHAY]  P2013FEEEREERERA
AeHZEeRTIEEERERAT ARG
HEF] R04FEPEBEFESR T
[FEHEEADALE]  2015FERTIF
EE+ATENBEAY] RH20165F
ERTF I BEREFNEEFTEBFCHS
FEREXEREISHER -

Mr. Shum was recognized as an “Innovative Individual in China’s
Real Estate Industry in 2005" (“2005%F E 7 B = b ZE A ¥ A "), by
a number of media outlets including Beijing Youth Daily Group ({1t
REFFE W), Guangzhou Daily ((EM B#R)Y) and China Business
News ({Z —Bf4)), an “Outstanding Leader of Mainstream Chinese
Real Estate Companies in 2005"("2005F EHh B T RnithEAHEE
A#") by China Properties Economic Mainstream Summit (7 B9 ih &
& F mIE®)and one of the “100 Most Influential Entrepreneurs
in China’s Real Estate Industry in 2004" (“2004FE &£t & E b E
1007 2% 5K ") by Media and Promotion Alliance for Real Estate in
China(FEEXE T REESEBE). Mr. Shum was recognized
as an “Excellent Entrepreneur in China’s Real Estate Industry” ("
BEMEEFPEFK") and was awarded the “Golden Horse Award
of Excellent Entrepreneur in China’s Real Estate Industry in 2007"
("2007H B EHMEEFTLEREE ") by the Urban Development
and Environment Research Center of the Chinese Academy of Social
Science (HP B+ & R} 2 B i 1 8 )R BLIR B 5EH 0), China National
Real Estate Enterprise Association(FRELHEMELEH A E)and
China Real Estate Entrepreneur Association ((FERE R = )in 2006
and 2007, respectively. He was also awarded the “Top 10 Figures
with Outstanding Contributions in 30 Years of China’s Real Estate
Industry” ("B E#ZE30E + AL HEELA ") in 2008 by Nanfang
Media Group (F8 57 SR EFEEEE) and 30 Years of China’s Real Estate
Industry Summit Organizing Committee (#F B E i E30F 5 & m 1B 4H
Z &), "11th Guangzhou Outstanding Youth” ("&£ +—EEMEH S
££") in 2010 by the People’s Government of Guangzhou (EM T AR
BUR), “Most Influential Figures in China’s Real Estate Industry” (“#
BEMETERATLE N AMY") in 2010 by the Ministry of Housing
and Urban Policy Research Center ({£ &= F 45 32 8 S B AT ZS b 0 ),
National Federation of Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (& B g
Bt E M ER =2 ) and Guangdong Real Estate Chamber of Commerce (&
REMERE), "The 1st Top 10 Outstanding Cantonese Youth” (" &
[Et REMFA AL SE") in 2013 by The 1st Global Conference
of the Cantonese Organizing Committee (& [t B E T A AL HE
@), “"The Award of Outstanding Person of the Year” ("HFE#H A
PARHE") in 2014 by The Annual Meeting of China Real Estate (7 [
WEFE), “Annual Top 10 Most Influential Leading Figures in China
Real Estate” ("EEME T+ A ZE HSEE AY”) in 2015 and “4th
Guangdong Outstanding Chinese Socialism Enterprise Builders” (“&

REFHEEFTEFELEEIRFEERE") in 2016.
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Mr. Shum had been appointed as a standing member of the
Guangzhou Committee of the 11th, 12th and 13th Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference (B ARBAHE @55+ —
E-FT_EERET=ZEEBEMNTEZEEEKZE) from 2007 to
2018. He has been the executive chairman of Guangzhou Chamber
of Commerce of Private Enterprises (B /M R4 ¥ 7<) since
2007. Mr. Shum has been the vice chairman of the 14th, 15th and
16th executive committee of Guangzhou Federation of Industry and
Commerce (EBM ™ L4 €)and Guangzhou General Chamber
of Commerce (BEM M 42 )since September 2011. Mr. Shum has
been appointed as a deputy of 12th and 13th People’s Congress of
Guangdong Province (EREARREARAGE T ZERET=ZEREK)
from 2013 to 2023. Mr. Shum has been the president of Guangdong
Young Entrepreneur Association (BERE T FDEXH @) since 2016.

Mr. Bai Xihong (B 8 #t), aged 56, was appointed as our
non-executive Director and chairman on 26 August 2019 and
re-designated to vice chairman on 4 September 2023. He is primarily
responsible for providing guidance for the overall development of our
Group. He served as the general manager of our Group from August
2018 to July 2019.

Mr. Bai joined Times China Group in May 2001 and has been
serving as the general manager of Guangzhou regional office since
January 2002, where he has been primarily responsible for project
development, marketing and project management in Guangzhou. He
has also been serving as a vice president of Times China Group since
January 2002 and an executive director of Times China since February
2008. He is currently the chairman of the strategic and resources
management committee of Times China where he has been primarily
responsible for its integration of strategic business resources.
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Mr. Bai graduated from Guangdong Radio and Television University
(EREEEHEAE)Iin the PRC in industrial enterprise operation
management in July 1990 and received his executive master of
business administration degree from Sun Yat-sen University (|1 A
E)in the PRC in December 2009. In 2005, Mr. Bai was recognized as
an "Outstanding Contributor to Guangzhou Real Estate in the Past 20
Years” (B M E — +E 4 H & B2 A) by the Guangzhou Real Estate
in the Past 20 Years’ event organizing committee (&I E = +4F
ABSEE)4HZE &), Guangzhou Real Estate Organization (EM =
E ¥ 1€ )and Guangzhou Real Estate Guide Union (=i &E & 7
#). He was awarded the “2006 Outstanding CEO (Diamond Award)
in Mainstream Real Estate in China” (20067 B = imihE & #E 4 H
B BLCEO) in 2006 by China Mainstream Real Estate Economy Summit
(PR ELE E R IE®). From December 2011 to December 2016,
Mr. Bai served as a member of the 12th Guangzhou Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (F2 B A R
AtEeEE+ —EEMNTZES). Mr. Bai has been serving as the
chairman of Guangzhou Nansha New District Real Estate Association
(EMEYPFHEEMWERE)since May 2014 and standing vice
president of Guangzhou Real Estate Industry Association (E N E
ET¥WE) since 2018.

Mr. Li Qiang (Z=3&), aged 49, was appointed as our non-executive
Director on 26 August 2019 and is primarily responsible for providing
guidance for the overall development of our Group.

Mr. Li joined Times China Group in July 2005 and served as an
assistant to the president from July 2005 to July 2009. He has been
serving as an executive director of Times China since February 2008,
a vice president of Times China Group from July 2009 to April 2020
as well as the senior vice president and the general manager of the
risk control management center of Times China Group since April
2020 where he is primarily responsible for audit, supervision, legal
and quality service management affairs. Prior to joining Times China
Group, Mr. Li worked at Guangdong ETR Law Firm(ER EE & ERE
Bl =& 7% 7 ) (formerly known as Guangdong Guangxin Law Firm (B
BIEEMEBH)).

Mr. Li received his master’'s degree in law from Hunan Normal
University (J# 53 Bl & A 22 ) in the PRC in June 2000 and his executive
master of business administration degree from Sun Yat-sen University
(AKX E)in the PRC in December 2007. Mr. Li was admitted as
a practicing lawyer in the PRC in June 1998. From September 2011
to September 2016, Mr. Li served as a member of the 15th People’s
Congress of Guangzhou Yuexiu District (BM WM FEE +HE A
RARKRAXE). He has been serving as an arbitrator at Guangzhou
Arbitration Commission (BN {F £ Z B &) since October 2018.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian (FE5H3), aged 63, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 3 December 2019 and is
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.

From April 1982 to May 1982, Mr. Lui served as an audit assistant at
John B.P. Byrne & Co (it fg# & 5t £ F7), where he was responsible
for audit work. From June 1982 to January 1983, Mr. Lui served
as an audit trainee at PricewaterhouseCoopers Limited (2 £ & 5k
B e st A= 5 FT) (formerly known as Coopers & Lybrand (Hong
Kong) Gk B & TR =% Fr (F78) ), where he was responsible for
audit work. From March 1983 to May 1986, Mr. Lui served as an
accountant at The Grolier Society of Australia Pty. Ltd., a publisher
of general encyclopedias, where he was responsible for audit work.
From July 1986 to March 1989, Mr. Lui served as an accounting
and administration manager at Cheong Ming Press Factory Limited
(E A ED R % A PR A 7)) where he was responsible for accounting
work. From March 1989 to November 1991, Mr. Lui served as a
manager at the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.
From December 1992 to December 1996, Mr. Lui served as a finance
director at Cheong Ming Press Factory Limited where he was primarily
responsible for the management of accounting and financial control
functions, corporate finance matters and company restructuring. From
June 1997 to July 2014, Mr. Lui served as a director of Reaload Group
Holdings Limited (&%t &£ BIZ R AR A 7)) (formerly known as Cheong
Ming Investments Limited (2B & AR A 7]) and Cheong Ming
Holdings Limited (ERE#EAR B R A A))), a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1196), where he was primarily responsible
for company policies and strategies and financial matters and was
appointed as the chairman in 2008. From September 2004 to August
2016, Mr. Lui served as an independent non-executive director at
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (BB R RIEEERE
R A &]) (formerly known as Four Seas Investment Holdings Limited (g
MNE@REEERAER A T])), a food conglomerate listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0060). Since May 2000, he has been serving as
the chairman of Capital Financial Press Limited (& 7§ 4% ED il B R A
7]), a financial printing services provider, where he has been primarily
responsible for company policies and strategies and financial matters.
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Mr. Lui received his bachelor’'s degree in commerce and his master’s
degree in commerce from The University of New South Wales in
Australia in April 1982 and May 1985, respectively. He has been
serving as the honorary president of Chamber of Commerce of
Guangzhou Foreign Investment Enterprises (E /NN IR E ¥
& )since January 2017 and an executive vice president of the 8th
committee of Hong Kong Guangdong Foreign Merchants Association
(BEBERIIEAE). Mr. Lui was admitted as a fellow member of
Certified Practicing Accountants Australia in June 1985 and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants in
April 2005. He is currently an authorized supervisor of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Dr. Wong Kong Tin (¥3IL k), Justice of the Peace, aged 56, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 3 December
2019 and is responsible for providing independent advice on the
operations and management of our Group.

Dr. Wong has over 29 years of practical experience in handling cross—
border legal affairs in Greater China. From June 2010 to July 2014,
Dr. Wong served as an independent non-executive director at Great
Wall Technology Company Limited (K3 &I F D BEBR A7), a power
products manufacturer and distributor previously listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0074) and automatically delisted in July 2014,
where he was responsible for supervising and providing independent
advice to the board. Since December 2017, Dr. Wong has been
serving as an independent non-executive director at NOVA Group
Holdings Limited (72 &£ 1= A R A 7)) (formerly known as Mega
Expo Holdings Limited), a company principally engaged in the cultural
entertainment business and exhibition business and listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1360), where he has been responsible
for supervising and providing independent advice to the board.
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Dr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree and master’'s degree in law
from Peking University (46 R K£2)in the PRC in July 1993 and July
1995, respectively. He received his doctor’s degree in constitutional
law and administrative law from Renmin University of China (FFE AR
K £ )in the PRC in July 2001 and his postgraduate diploma in English
and Hong Kong Law from The Manchester Metropolitan University
in the United Kingdom in July 2001 through attending long distance
learning courses. Dr. Wong was admitted as an associate of Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators (ZEB &R E 2 @ )in May 2002, an associate
of Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators (B8R E M E ) in August
2002, a Registered Financial Planner (5 ffft 81 #5 % 2180 ) certified by the
Society of Registered Financial Planners (53t B #5558 ZIEH 3 € ) in July
2008, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors (&5
ZEEE2@)in September 2008 and a founding member of the Hong
Kong Independent Non-executive Director Association (& /& % 3 JE#}
1TE S @)in October 2015. He has been serving as a panel member
of Hong Kong Solicitors Disciplinary Tribunal (& EZA40 EZEEHE)
from May 2010 to May 2022, the chairman of Hong Kong Liquor
Licensing Board (&8 B2 &) from January 2018 to December 2023,
the chairman of the Hong Kong Property Management Ordinance
Appeal Board (BB WEEIEEH LFFZ EE) from August 2020 to
November 2022, a member of the Advisory Committee on Post-service
Employment of Civil Servants of the Government of Hong Kong
(EARRRNEBRABEMRERFHRME B F)since September
2021, a member of the Citizens Advisory Committee on Community
Relations of the Independent Commission Against Corruption since
January 2022, and the chairman of the Property Management Services
Authority (251 ¥ EE F) since December 2022,

Dr. Chu Xiaoping (f& /M ¥), aged 68, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 3 December 2019 and is
responsible for providing independent advice on the operations and
management of our Group.
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From June 1986 to December 2003, Dr. Chu successively served as an
associate professor, professor, associate dean and dean of Shantou
University Business School (JIlIZE X 275 £t ) where he was primarily
responsible for management related teaching and administrative
work. Since December 2003, Dr. Chu has been serving as a professor
presenting organization and management related courses of Lingnan
College, Sun Yat-sen University (1 K258 2% ). Dr. Chu served
as an independent non-executive director of Guangzhou Baiyunshan
Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. (EMAZE L EZEERKRH AR
A@]), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0874)
from January 2014 to June 2020, an independent non-executive
director of Guangzhou Haoyang Electronics Holdings Co., Ltd. (&
INTHYE B FRRD AR 2 F), a company listed on the ChiNext
board of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300833), from
February 2017 to July 2022, an independent non-executive director
of Oppein Home Group Inc. (RRREEEKMHERAE), a
customized home products manufacturer listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603833) from May 2018 to September 2022
and an independent non-executive director of Guangdong Shengyi
Technology Co. Ltd. (ER A Z &I H B R 2 7)), an electronic
equipment manufacturer listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock
code: 600183) from April 2017 to April 2023.

Dr. Chu received his master’'s degree in philosophy from Huazhong
University of Science and Technology (Z & £ # K 2) (formerly
known as Huazhong Institute of Technology (¥ T ZF3)) in the
PRC in June 1986 and his doctor’s degree in management from Xi’an
Jiaotong University (FAZ 22 @ K &) in the PRC in December 2003.
Dr. Chu obtained his senior professional and technical qualification
certificate as an economics professor issued by Human Resources and
Social Security Department of Guangdong Province (BEH & A 1ER
Mt =2 REEE) (formerly known as Human Resources Department of
Guangdong Province (EE & AZEEE)) in January 2000.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Ms. Wang Meng, Ms. Xie Rao and
Ms. Zhou Rui, please refer to “Executive Directors” in this section.

Mr. Kwok Pak Shing (44 5%) ., aged 39, was appointed as the
chief financial officer of the Company on 10 September 2020 and is
responsible for financial reporting and investor relations matters of
the Company.
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Mr. Kwok obtained a bachelor’'s degree of arts in business studies
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2006. He is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Kwok
has over 15 years of experience in accounting, auditing, corporate
finance, financial management and corporate governance matters.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Kwok was the chief financial
officer and joint company secretary of Zensun Enterprises Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 185). Prior to this role, Mr. Kwok served as a manager in a
reputable international accounting firm, and as the company secretary
and financial controller in two companies listed in Hong Kong. He
is currently an independent non-executive director of A Metaverse
Company (formerly known as Starrise Media Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1616).
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE INFORMATION AND GLOBAL
OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12 July
2019 as an exempted company with limited liability. The Company’s
shares (the “Shares”) were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 19 December 2019, issuing 161,820,000 Shares in total
at the price of HKD5.15 per Share.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company is investment holding. The
analysis of the Group’s principal business for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in note 4 of the consolidated financial
statements in this report.

A fair review and performance analysis of the Group’s business
and the industry situation during the year ended 31 December
2023, a discussion on the prospects of the Group’s future business
development, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
the Group may be facing are provided in the Chairman’s Statement
and this report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Overview

The Group is a leading and fast-growing urban comprehensive service
operator in China, providing high-quality community services, urban
services and innovative services for diversified industrial types such
as residences, industrial parks, public buildings and other urban
spaces. In 2023, the Group was recognized as the 11th in the Top
100 Property Management Companies in China by CIA in terms of its
comprehensive strength.

Our main business includes property management services, community
value-added services, value-added services to non-property owners
and other professional services, comprehensively covering the entire
property management value chain.
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Property Management Services

As of 31 December 2023, our contracted property management
services covered 82 cities, with a total of 864 property management
projects under management (excluding 23 projects of urban public
services), and a gross floor area (“GFA") under property management
of approximately 110.9 million sq.m. In addition, we had a total of 62
contracted property management projects which had not been handed
over to us for management, with undelivered GFA of approximately
6.6 million sg.m.

In 2023, we strategically adjusted our portfolio of properties under
management to pursue better profitability and return performance.
During the Year, our main focus was on internal expansion to diversify
our business scope.

The table below sets forth the movements of our contracted GFA
under property management and GFA under management as of the
dates indicated:

BZN2A31BLEE
For the year ended 31 December
2023F 202245
2023 2022
EHNEREE HEEREER ANEEEE AEREEE
FEEK FEEK FEAXK FEAK
Contracted GFA under Contracted GFA under
GFA  management GFA management
$sq.m."000 $q.m.’000 5g.m."000 5g.m."000
B At the beginning of the period 134,142 118,708 132,015 105,513
S A New engagements"’ 12,814 20,232 20,551 28,920
S Terminations” (29,379) (28,007) (18,424) (15,725)
K At the end of the period 117,577 110,933 134,142 118,708
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Notes:

In relation to residential communities and non-residential communities
we manage, new engagements primarily include preliminary property
management service contracts for new properties developed by
property developers and property management service contracts
for non-residential communities replacing their previous property
management service providers.

The new engagements item in 2022 also included the business acquired
from the acquisition of 100% interest in Heshan Jianmei Property
Management Co., Ltd. (BB IL B XWX EIEFR A Al) ("Heshan
Jianmei”), with a total area of approximately 973,000 sq.m. The
business of Heshan Jianmei was acquired by the Company through
bidding, with its project management right finally obtained by the
Company by means of equity transfer after negotiation. Given this was
not an active acquisition, it was included in the new engagements item.

These terminations include our voluntary non-renewal of certain
property management service contracts. We reallocated our resources
to more profitable engagements in an effort to optimize our property
management services portfolio.
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T&REFNEZEFRAARMIZRERE S5 The table below sets forth our contracted GFA under property

MECEANEZEAMBENEEZEME - management and GFA under management by regions as of the dates
indicated:
BENANALEE
For the year ended 31 December
2023 20226
2023 2022

ANREER HEREER ANREER EEREER
FERK  FERX TERK TERK

Contracted GFA under Contracted GFA under
GFA  management GFA management
$9.m.'000 $q.m.’000 50.m."000 50.m."000

RKEEB Greater Bay Area
= Guangzhou 16,508 16,458 21,070 19,057
G Foshan 12,659 12,524 13,216 12,159
b 9is} Zhuhai 4,795 4,179 5,006 4,390
A Zhongshan 2,127 2,060 2,141 2,075
) Dongguan 3,898 3,736 3,641 2,950
EF Zhaoging 2,206 1,979 2,925 2,284
=M Huizhou 2,994 2,643 3,450 2,355
L P9 Jiangmen 4,110 3,887 4,065 3,216
b2l Shenzhen 55 55 139 139
INEF Subtotal 49,352 47,521 55,653 48,625

Hiiih & Other Region

st " Northeast China"" 86 86 336 336
B A North China®? 2,765 2,765 2,111 2,111
E S East China® 18,027 17,558 20,828 20,255
= EY South China® 9,113 7,292 11,844 9,383
= E® Central China® 10,194 9,183 11,315 9,394
P @ Northwest China® 1,812 1,812 4,101 3,120
mEmE” Southwest China"” 26,228 24,716 27,954 25,484
INEF Subtotal 68,225 63,412 78,489 70,083
A5 Total 117,577 110,933 134,142 118,708
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B i Notes:

UTEARARMEZEREEDESIEEEN Only the provinces, cities and autonomous regions where we have property

A mhkBERRE: management projects are listed below:

(1) HitMEEIE: FEEL HME (1) Northeast China includes: Liaoning Province, Jilin Province;

() =EeE dbmm - KEW - TdEE (2)  North China includes: Beijing, Tianjin, Hebei Province;

(B) ERMEBIE: EE8™- JI&H4E T (3)  East China includes: Shanghai, Jiangsu Province, Zhejiang Province,
B TEEIHE  LUES  BEE Anhui Province, Jiangxi Province, Shandong Province, Fujian Province;

(4) EEMESE: BRE BRRXEZEMRT) (4)  South China includes: Guangdong Province (excluding cities in the
EBREAkERE Greater Bay Area), Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;

(5) EFEEE B - RS - HEE (5)  Central China includes: Henan Province, Hubei Province, Hunan Province;

(6) FHILHMERIE PRAEL HELE ZEE (6)  Northwest China includes: Shaanxi Province, Gansu Province, Ningxia Hui

BiEERR & Autonomous Region; and
(7) VTEwESE: EET - WIE - BEM (7)  Southwest China includes: Chongqing, Sichuan Province, Guizhou
E-EEE Province, Yunnan Province.

REEDRREKIBRAERB205F - W H The Group has been deeply rooted in the Greater Bay Area for more
i ARERNYEERGEE &= than 20 years and has continuously expanded the scope of property
B Tz R A5 FEE 0 2023512 A management in the Greater Bay Area, further consolidating its
3NA - AKEMEEEEEBREFT  WE competitive advantage in the area. As at 31 December 2023, among
BT REAMBEL47SBEEF HKNIE the Group's projects under property management, the projects
BURKNER HYMEETERBEEEE with the GFA under property management of approximately 47.5
EEA42.8% - FEBNA K ERIE B BT million sg.m. were located in the Greater Bay Area, accounting for
EREBARTSEAE  BMhERTE approximately 42.8% of the GFA under property management. With
HMmmemsm o our successful management experience in the Greater Bay Area and
word of mouth in the market, we achieved layout in other cities.
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Portfolio of Properties under Management

We manage a diversified portfolio of properties, and in addition to
focusing on the three major businesses of residential, industrial parks
and public buildings, we also manage commercial properties, office
buildings, urban space and other businesses, and are committed to

enriching the types of services we provide.

EEMHXER
Residential Property
Projects
BERE
Fengginanting
EXEWHER
Industrial Park Property
Projects
IS EE
Zhongxin Smart Industrial Park
NEWHEIERE
Public Building Property
Projects

BEREKRE — 81
Hainan Lingshui Environmental
Sanitation Integration

R L B
Lanshanyue

LN B A R
Alibaba Health (Hangzhou)

=P
Baishuihu
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The table below sets forth a breakdown of our GFA under property
management as of the dates and revenue generated from property
management services for the periods indicated by the type of

property:
HENANBLEE
For the year ended 31 December
03E W05
2023 2022
EEREAR fhtt KA it EEREAE fAt LN ikt
(F¥AK) % (AR®TR) % (TFhK) % (ARETT) %
GFA under GFA under
management  Percentage Revenue  Percentage  management  Percentage Revenue  Percentage
(s9.m.'000) % (RMB'000) % (sq.m.'000) % (RMB'000) %
fiznz Residential properties 69,314 62.5 983,316 52.1 68,890 58.0 939,297 50.5
FEEnE Non-residential properties 41,619 315 902,260 419 49,818 420 921,040 495
ait Total 110,933 100.0 1,885,576 100.0 118,708 100.0 1,860,337 100.0

SHENERMBEZNBEREFEREL
EEMEBE HBOBEINEERE W
BEHEREZHEANEREBRRD - B E2023
F12A310 T EXREEEELN.3T
BYHK EERERLELH625% °
FRAEEVWENTERAFTSHARE
9833BE BT HMEEERBWAHL
52.1% * $22022%F [A) Bf3E R #94.7% ° F 1
RE BEEBRLZIU I EEMBENER
RAZE  B2RMATE-—FSEREED
FHEEREPE  ARKRISRENSE
el N

FriR BB A E

BPIMARABLE=FMISHR - BER
R RE  BEENREEF LR T
ARMBE RE=FTTH5HRMER
MEEHEEMEERERBEEERELD
69.4% -

Benefitting from our continuous efforts to expand the customer base
and to optimize the portfolio of properties under management, the
effective strategies for independent expansion were implemented to
gain a balanced and diversified business layout. As of 31 December
2023, the management area for the residential business was
approximately 69.3 million sg.m., accounting for approximately
62.5% of the scale under management. The revenue derived
from the management of residential properties for the year was
approximately RMB983.3 million, accounting for approximately 52.1%
of the revenue from property management services, representing an
increase of approximately 4.7% as compared with the same period
of 2022. We believe that the experience and recognition gained from
managing such diversified businesses will enable us to further expand
our portfolio of properties under management, grow our customer
base and generate a stable and recurring income in the future.

Nature of developers served

We stepped up our expansion into independent third-party markets.
Leveraging on our high quality services, our professional service team
and our renowned reputation, the GFA achieved from the expansion
of third-party markets account for approximately 69.4% of the
management area for property management services.
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The following table sets forth our GFA under property management
as of the dates and revenue generated from property management

YEERRIEEEHRA - services by property developers for the periods indicated:
HENRNALEE
For the year ended 31 December
23% 20028
2023 2022
TEREER fhit KA it EEREEE it LN it
(FEAR) % (AR%TR) %  (F¥AR) % (ARBTT) %
GFA under GFA under
management  Percentage Revenue  Percentage  management  Percentage Revenue  Percentage
(sq.m.'000) % (RMB'000) %  (sq.m.000) % (RMB000) %
BRHEEE"  Times China Group” 33910 306 767,001 407 30,186 254 639,749 343
E=HMEHEEY Third-party property developers” 77,03 694 1,118,575 5.3 88,522 46 1,20588 65.7
Bt Total 110,933 100.0 1,885,576 100.0 118,708 100.0 1,860,337 100.0
Hiat - Notes:

() EEOARKTEESEEBRENYEN
R B A o B8 A BB 6 Lt oy B P D R
FEZREanMEREBARMEN
UE

Q) EeEBIREBERPBEEENIIMNINYE
VAT B X o ] 6 () B L W 26 R B R A
RAZENYE BRTBEELTESE
ZEMENZERES - IMINMETE
RAF=ZNREERFZENBNMARE
EREMREYE -

INRERNEEREEREMBEMEE
D HR2022F M #174.6% T F& E2023F 1)
#969.4% + EIBINAHY W) FE BT E A B IRA
F2022F K 4 AR #1,220.68 & TR
F2023FMHARE11186B8ETL BH
WO ETERABRMBBEEAELEWER
G B-AMENTEEREEMRKD -

(1) Includes properties solely developed by Times China Group and
properties that Times China Group jointly developed with other property
developers to which Times China Group held a controlling interest.

(2)  Include properties solely developed by third-party property developers
independent from Times China Group, as well as properties jointly
developed by Times China Group and other property developers
for which Times China Group did not hold a controlling interest.
Properties developed by third-party property developers also include
government-owned buildings and other public properties, which are
constructed by third-party construction companies.

The percentage of GFA under property management for properties
developed by third-party property developers declined from
approximately 74.6% in 2022 to approximately 69.4% in 2023. The
revenue generated from managing properties developed by third-party
property developers decreased from approximately RMB1,220.6
million in 2022 to approximately RMB1,118.6 million in 2023. Such
decline is mainly due to the decrease of the management area of
third-party properties as our strategic adjustment of the property
management portfolio.

RSB AR AR] /2023 FETR
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Community Value-added Services

As an extension of property management services, in order to
satisfy the property owners’ and residents’ pursuit of convenience,
to enhance customers’ experience and to increase their loyalty, we
provide a wide range of services in two categories, namely, public
space leasing and parking space management and resident services.
Our resident services mainly include bag checking, home renovation,
asset management, community group buying and housekeeping
services.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of revenue derived from
community value-added services for the periods indicated:

BZEN2AMALEE
For the year ended 31 December
2023%F 20225
2023 2022
B 11454 ON (93¢
(AR®TR) % (AR®FT) %
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) %
AREHAEREBUERE Public space leasing and parking space
management 129,334 41.8 111,182 29.4
EERS Resident services 180,333 58.2 267,423 70.6
ft Total 309,667 100.0 378,605 100.0

20234 #t [ 182 (F AR 755 Ug A 8220224 6] B
MHAREI78.6EE LA A8 2% E4)
AREI07TEE L TEERFAELTE
IRISEKEER  EEEFHEERAE
BANBER N A -EABEEAE
EREBWAEROTHEAZRELERER
AL  EE2OCNEFIHEER LE25
HRIERKSEF -

#k B FAPP
Neighborhood Services APP

In 2023, the revenue from community value-added services decreased
by approximately 18.2% to approximately RMB309.7 million as
compared with approximately RMB378.6 million for the corresponding
period in 2022, which was mainly due to the transition in the
renovation business from a self-operated model to a joint-operated
model after the restructuring of our resident service business.
After the transition to the joint-operated model, the corresponding
adjustment of the basis for revenue recognition of the renovation
business led to a decrease in recognized revenue, while our
comprehensive system sales practically increased, resulting in higher
gross profit.
EREER

Renovation business
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Value-added Services to Non-property Owners

We offer a broad range of property related business solutions to
non-property owners, primarily property developers, which cover
their entire property development process. Such solutions consist
of (i) sales assistance services to assist property developers in
showcasing and marketing their properties, services of which include
pre-sale consultation, display unit management, organizing sales
campaigns and visitor reception for property development projects; (ii)
construction site services, such as consultancy and security services;
(iii) housing agency services for residences, shops and parking spaces;
(iv) pre-delivery cleaning services; and (v) urban redevelopment project
services. In 2023, the revenue derived from value-added services
to non-property owners decreased by approximately 55.6% to
approximately RMB69.6 million from approximately RMB156.8 million
in the same period of 2022. In light of the periodic downturn of the
real estate industry in China, the Group adjusted the business scale
of value-added services to non-property owners based on prudent
consideration and to balance the pace of repayment collection,
causing the decrease in the overall revenue of value-added services to
non-property owners for the Year.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of revenue derived from
value-added services to non-property owners for the years indicated:

BEZ12831BLLEE
For the year ended 31 December
2023 20226
2023 2022
WA btk WA fht
(AR®F ) % (AR®TT) %
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
(RMB’000) % (RMB'000) %
W AR & Sales assistance services 64,075 92.1 117,221 74.8
EIEG RS Construction site services 3,025 4.3 14,863 9.5
ARBRRS Pre-delivery cleaning services - - 507 0.3
WmEHIEE RE Urban redevelopment project services 528 0.8 9,204 5.9
EEFN RS Housing agency services 1,930 2.8 14,963 9.5
G Total 69,558 100.0 156,758 100.0
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Other Professional Services

We provide other professional services to our customers, including (i)
elevator services (including sale, installation, repair and maintenance
of elevators); (i) Zhilian (') technology services; and (iii) urban
public services.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of revenue derived from
other professional services for the years indicated:

BZ12831BLLEE
For the year ended 31 December
20235 2022
2023 2022
B 154 WA fhLt
(AR®F ) % (AR®TT) %
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
(RMB’000) % (RMB'000) %
BRI IR Zhilian technology services 28,663 13.9 53,435 25.4
B R%E Elevator services 49,568 24.0 75,529 35.9
WA iR Urban public services 128,273 62.1 81,378 38.7
Gh Total 206,504 100.0 210,342 100.0

2023F - BB ERER T ALREE
B AZEZHEHBERHEMERE TR
B LB EAEEUREAREEMR
T ° 20234 WA LRI URAM20224F
BEEOARKESI4AEETENEHNARE
128.3@ B 7T ° W2023% 128318 » 1M
—HEEWTAERBEE23ME  BEFT42
AHEBOARE2955588 T F1bé
HEBOARE21208E 7T °

BEERY

Elevator Services

In 2023, we continued to develop urban public services projects,
providing services such as municipal sanitation, security patrol,
integrated management of construction site and comprehensive
cleaning for these projects. In 2023, the revenue from urban
public services increased to approximately RMB128.3 million from
approximately RMB81.4 million in the same period of 2022. As
at 31 December 2023, we had a total of 23 urban public service
projects, with an aggregate signed contract amount of approximately
RMB299.5 million and an annualized contract amount of
approximately RMB212.0 million.

BB IR

Zhilian Technology Services
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
comprehensive income on pages 136 to 137 of this annual report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 267 to 268 of this annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group’s revenue is mainly derived from property management
services, community value-added services, value-added services
to non-property owners and other professional services. The
Group’s revenue decreased by approximately RMB134.7 million
or approximately 5.2% to approximately RMB2,471.3 million in
2023 from approximately RMB2,606.0 million in 2022, which was
primarily attributable to the decrease in our revenue from community
value-added services and value-added services to non-property
owners.

The table below sets forth the breakdown of revenue of the Group by
operating segments for the periods indicated:

BENAMBLEE
For the year ended 31 December
2023 20226
2023 2022
KA kit A fELt
(AR¥F ) % (AR®TT) %
Revenue Percentage Revenue Percentage
(RMB'000) % (RMB'000) %
MEEERE Property management services 1,885,576 76.3 1,860,337 71.4
HRIEERS Community value-added services 309,667 12.5 378,605 14.5
FETHERE Value-added services to non-property owners 69,558 2.8 156,758 6.0
HEERH%K Other professional services 206,504 8.4 210,342 8.1
At Total 2,471,305 100.0 2,606,042 100.00
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The property management services segment remained to be our
largest source of revenue. In 2023, the Group’s revenue from property
management services was approximately RMB1,885.6 million,
accounting for approximately 76.3% of the Group’s total revenue.
This increase in revenue was driven by our continuous cooperation
with Times China Group and our strategic adjustment of our portfolio
of properties under management. The decrease in revenue from
community value-added services was mainly due to the decline
in revenue from resident services. The decrease in revenue from
value-added services to non-property owners was mainly due to the
decline in revenue from the overall services. The decrease in revenue
from other professional services was mainly due to the decrease in
revenue from Zhilian technology services and elevator services.

Cost of Sales

Our expenses mainly consist of (i) labor costs; (ii) cleaning and
gardening expenses; and (iii) maintenance costs, etc. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the total expenses of the Group
was approximately RMB1,955.6 million, which decreased by
approximately RMB94.5 million or approximately 4.6% as compared
to approximately RMB2,050.1 million for the year ended 31
December 2022. Such decrease was mainly due to the downsizing
of the community value-added services and value-added services to
non-property owners.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Based on the above reasons, the gross profit of the Group decreased
by approximately RMB40.2 million or approximately 7.2% to
RMB515.7 million in 2023 from RMB555.9 million in 2022, which
was primarily attributable to the decrease of gross profit margin in
property management services. The gross profit margin of the Group
slightly decreased by 0.4 percentage point to 20.9% in 2023 from
21.3% in 2022, primarily due to the changes in the service revenue
portfolio.
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The gross profit margin of our property management services
decreased by 2.5 percentage points, mainly due to increasing
investment in the environment, fire safety, and equipment of
long-term service projects to support long-term expansion strategies
and deliver high-quality services.

The gross profit margin of our community value-added services
increased by 9.6 percentage points, mainly due to the increase in the
proportion of high profit margin businesses after the adjustment of
service portfolio.

The gross profit margin of our value-added services to non-property
owners decreased by 0.9 percentage point, primarily due to the
cyclical impact of China’s real estate market.

The gross profit margin of our other professional services remained
unchanged, primarily due to the stability of business structure of
services.

Other Income and Gains

The other income of the Group increased by approximately RMB67.5
million or approximately 239.5% to approximately RMB95.7 million
in 2023 from approximately RMB28.2 million in 2022, which was
primarily attributable to the increase in fair value gain on financial
liabilities in respect of put options issued to non-controlling interests.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses mainly consist of (i) staff remuneration; (ii)
office expenses; and (iii) depreciation and amortization, etc. For the
year ended 31 December 2023, the total administrative expenses of
the Group were approximately RMB276.9 million, which decreased by
approximately RMB64.8 million or approximately 19.0% as compared
to approximately RMB341.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. Such decrease was mainly due to a reduction in staff costs
resulting from the Group’s continuing effort in adopting refined
management and applying smart devices with advanced technology.
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Net Impairment Losses on Financial and Contract Assets

The net impairment losses on financial and contract assets of
the Group decreased by approximately RMB275.7 million or
approximately 74.1% from approximately RMB372.2 million in
2022 to approximately RMB96.5 million in 2023. Such decrease was
mainly due to change in credit risk of several customers and trade
receivables, resulting in the decrease in impairment provision of trade
receivables.

The breakdown of such net impairment losses is set out in note 7
to the consolidated financial statements for this year in this report
and the details on the method, key assumptions and basis used in
determining such amount of net impairment loss is set out in notes 3,
22 and 23 to the consolidated financial statements for this year in this
report.

Specifically, an independent valuer (the “Independent Valuer”) was
also engaged by the Company to assess the expected credit losses (the
“ECL") of approximately RMB333,729,000 of the account receivables
due from the related parties of the Group as at 31 December 2023
(the “Assessment”). The management made full impairment
provision for certain individual account receivables due from related
parties given their low recoverability. For the remaining balances,
the Independent Valuer adopted the default risk method, to which
the ECL were estimated based upon analysis of the debtors’ credit
to repay their debts. The formulae is shown below with assumptions
considered to have significant sensitivity effects evaluated to provide
an accurate and reasonable basis for arriving at the assessed value:

ECL = Exposure at Default (“"EAD") * Probability of Default (“PD") *
Loss Given Default (“LGD") * Forward Looking Adjustment (“FLA”) *
Discount Factor (“DF”)

Key inputs and assumptions of the Assessment included, among
others:

o PD: Credit rating analysis to the related parties was performed
with reference to the financial performance and conditions of
the related parties and ratings (Ca/C) published by Moody’s
Investors Service. Corresponding default rates (33.62%-62.19%)
were then assumed according to the credit rating assigned
for different durations between 31 December 2023 and the
repayment dates (i.e. assumed to be within 4 years from 31
December 2023), with reference to the default rate statistics of
up to 2023 published by Moody's Investors Service;

o LGD: Assumed to be 61.50%-61.80% and the subjects were
unsecured;
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o FLA: Forward-looking adjustment (i.e. 107% as sourced from
a regression analysis) were applied to the historical default
loss percentage to reflect changes in economy, regulation,
technological environment, etc.; and

° DF: The discount factor was derived with reference to the China
Government Bond Yield Curve to reflect the time value of
money.

Other Expenses

The other expenses of the Group increased by approximately
RMB291.2 million or approximately 351.9% to approximately
RMB374.0 million in 2023 from approximately RMB82.7 million in
2022. The increase in the expenses was mainly due to the increase
of the impairment loss of goodwill in accordance with industry
performance and individual performance of subsidiary of the
Company.

Finance Costs

The finance costs of the Group decreased by approximately RMBO.6
million or approximately 53.8% to approximately RMBO0.5 million in
2023 from approximately RMB1.1 million in 2022. The decrease was
mainly due to the decrease of interest expense arising from lease
liabilities.

Income Tax Expense

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the income tax expense on
the Group’s statement of profit or loss was approximately RMB28.4
million (2022: income tax credit of RMB48.8 million) which was
primarily due to the increase in taxable income.

Core Net Profit Attributable to Owners of the Parent for
the Year

After excluding non-recurring expenses (including loss allowance
for impairment of financial and contract assets, goodwill and equity
related gains and losses since 2023) from the net profit attributable
to owners of the parent for the Year, the core net profit attributable
to owners of the parent for the Year amounted to approximately
RMB158.6 million in 2023 (2022: RMB143.3 million), representing an
increase of approximately 10.7%.

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group's property, plant and equipment mainly included
leasehold improvement, motor vehicles and office equipment. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group’s property, plant and equipment
was approximately RMB79.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB13.0 million from approximately RMB92.6 million
as at the end of 2022, mainly due to an increase in the depreciation
of property, plant and equipment.
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Trade Receivables

Trade receivables mainly arise from property management services,
value-added services to non-property owners and other professional
services provided to Times China Group and third parties. The Group's
trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB823.5 million, representing an increase of approximately RMB23.0
million or approximately 2.9% as compared to approximately
RMB800.5 million as at 31 December 2022, primarily due to the slight
increase in the scale of revenue from property management services.

Prepayments, Deposits and Other Receivables

Prepayment, deposits and other receivables decreased by
approximately 16.6% from approximately RMB309.5 million as of
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB258.2 million as of 31
December 2023, primarily due to the recognition of provision for
impairment losses on other receivables.

Trade Payables

The Group’s trade payables as at 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB550.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB10.0 million or approximately 1.8% as compared
to approximately RMB560.4 million as at 31 December 2022, mainly
due to our strategic enhancement in the settlement efficiency of
selected high-quality suppliers for the maintenance of long-term
cooperative supplier relationships.

Other Payables and Accruals

Other payables and accruals decreased by approximately 4.9%
from approximately RMB376.7 million as of 31 December 2022 to
approximately RMB358.4 million as of 31 December 2023, with no
significant changes.

Financial Position and Capital Structure

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group maintained a sound
financial position.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current ratio (current assets/
current liabilities) was 1.83 times (31 December 2022: 1.80 times)
and net gearing ratio indicated a net cash status (31 December 2022:
net cash). Net gearing ratio is calculated by other interest-bearing
borrowings minus cash and cash equivalent, and then divided by net
assets. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have
any outstanding other interest-bearing borrowings.
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Financial Guarantee

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any financial
guarantee.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2023, none of the assets of the Group were
pledged.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

Interest Rate Risk

As the Group had no significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities,
the Group is not exposed to material risk directly relating to changes
in market interest rate.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group mainly operates in the PRC and most of its operations are
denominated in RMB. The Group will closely monitor the fluctuations
of the RMB exchange rate and give prudent consideration as to
entering into currency swap arrangement as and when appropriate for
hedging corresponding risks. As at 31 December 2023, the Group did
not engage in hedging activities for managing foreign exchange rate
risk.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, AFFILIATES AND JOINT
VENTURE ENTERPRISES, AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, affiliates and joint venture enterprises during
the Year, nor was there any plan authorized by the Board for other
material investments or additions of capital assets at the date of this
report.
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OPERATIONAL TARGETS
Acquisition of Shanghai Kejian

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
28 June 2020 and 10 July 2020, respectively, in relation to the
acquisition of 51% of the equity interest in Shanghai Kejian Property
Services Co., Ltd. ( F)BRI&T YW E RE AR 2 7)) (“Shanghai Kejian”)
by the Group. Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement, Shanghai
Kejian should achieve a target net profit after tax for the financial
years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022, and the Company
should be entitled to relevant distributions for each of the periods.
With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 22
September 2023, the profit guarantee for Shanghai Kejian for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was not met. The Company will make
further announcement(s) with respect to the receipt of the relevant
distribution entitlement and shortfall.

Acquisition of Chengdu Holytech

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 December 2020 and 16 April 2021, respectively, in relation to the
acquisition of an aggregate of 80% of the equity interest in Chengdu
Holytech. Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement, Chengdu
Holytech should achieve a target net profit after tax for the financial
years ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023, and the Company
should be entitled to relevant distributions for each of the periods.
With reference to the announcement of the Company dated 15
December 2023, the profit guarantee for Chengdu Holytech for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was not met. The Company will make
further announcement(s) with respect to the receipt of the relevant
distribution entitlement and shortfall. The Company expected that
Chengdu Holytech has failed to meet the guarantee amount of the
net profit after tax as of 31 December 2023. As the profit specific
audit report of Chengdu Holytech has not been finalised by the
Company as at the time of publication of this report, it cannot be
ascertained in relation to the amount of the shortfall. The Company
requires additional time to gather more information to finalise the
profit specific audit report of Chengdu Holytech and will make further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate to inform the Shareholders
and potential investors in relation to the actual performance of the
Chengdu Holytech pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the
Company’s entitlement to relevant distributions as of 31 December
2023.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 6,584 full-time employees
(31 December 2022: 9,128 full-time employees).

The remunerations of the employees are commensurate with their
performance, skills, knowledge, experience and the market trend.
Employee benefits provided by the Group include provident fund
schemes, medical insurance scheme, unemployment insurance
scheme, housing provident fund and mandatory provident fund. The
Group reviews the remuneration policies and packages on a regular
basis and will make necessary adjustments that accommodate the
pay levels in the industry. In addition to basic salaries, the employees
may be offered with discretionary bonuses and cash awards based on
individual performances. The Group also provides training programs
for the employees with a view to constantly upgrading their skills and
knowledge. For more information on the Group’s training during the
year, please refer to the 2023 ESG Report of the Company.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). Pursuant to the relevant labour laws, rules
and regulations in the PRC, the Group also participates in a state—
managed retirement benefit scheme (the “Retirement Benefit
Scheme”) operated by the relevant local government authorities in
the PRC.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group had no
forfeited contributions (by employers on behalf of employees who
leave the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contributions) which may be used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions. There were also no forfeited
contributions during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021, 2022
and 2023 under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the contribution payable
in future years.

The Group's employee benefit expense (excluding Directors’
remuneration) is approximately RMB747.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: RMB1,029.8 million).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

Under the emolument policy of the Group, the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) will consider factors
such as salaries paid by comparable companies, tenure, commitment,
responsibilities and performance (as the case may be) of our Directors
and the senior management, in assessing the amount of remuneration
payable to our Directors and the senior management.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to any Director as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Company are set out in notes 9 and 10 to the
consolidated financial statements for this year in this report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

As at the date of this report, the Company has not adopted any share
option scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 23 September 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), the Company
adopted a share award scheme (the “Scheme”) to recognize the
contributions of the Selected Participants (defined below) and
encourage them to remain in office in the Group, thus promoting
continuing operation and development of the Group. The Scheme
shall be valid until the business day immediately prior to the 10th
anniversary of the Adoption Date. The details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 23 September 2020 and below:
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(@) Selected Participants

The Board or any person authorized by the Board for the
administration of the Scheme (an “Authorized Person”) (as the
case may be) may, from time to time, select any individual, being
any (i) employee (whether full-time or part-time employee) of
any member of the Group provided that the individual shall not
cease to be an employee in the case of (a) any leave of absence
approved by the relevant member of the Group; or (b) transfer
amongst any member of the Group or any successor, and
provided further that an employee shall, for the avoidance of
doubt, cease to be an employee with effect from (and including)
the date of termination of his employment or (ii) director of
any member of the Group who the Board or an Authorized
Person (as the case may be) considers, in its sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Group (an “Eligible
Person”) as a selected participant (the “Selected Participant”)
and, subject to the Scheme rules, grant an award under the
Scheme (an “Award”) to such Selected Participant during the
period commencing from the Adoption Date, and ending on the
business day immediately prior to the 10th anniversary of the
Adoption Date (the “Award Period”).

Notwithstanding the above, any individual (i) who is resident
in a place where the grant, acceptance or vesting of an Award
pursuant to the Scheme is not permitted under the laws and
regulations of such place or (i) where, in the view of the Board
or an Authorized Person, compliance with applicable laws and
regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such individual, such individual shall not be entitled to
participate in the Scheme and he/she shall therefore be excluded
from the term “Eligible Person”.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Maximum number of Shares to be granted

The total number of award shares granted under the Scheme
(the “Award Shares”) shall not exceed 3% of the total number
of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date, being 29,570,182
Shares, representing approximately 3.0% of the total number of
issued Shares as at the date of this report.

The total number of Award Shares granted to any one Selected
Participant under the Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of issued Shares as at the Adoption Date, being
9,856,727 Shares.

The vesting period of Awards granted under the
Scheme

The vesting of any Awards under the Scheme shall be subject to
a vesting period to be determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion, which shall be specified in the grant notice. The
Award Shares originally be vested to the current Selected
Participants set out in the summary below on 31 March 2024,
provided that all vesting conditions shall be satisfied. All of
the remaining Selected Participants, however, ceased to be an
Eligible Person or withdrew from the Scheme before 31 March
2024. As no Award Shares were vested, the 3,350,000 Shares
will continue to be held by the trustee and can be used to satisfy
the Awards to be granted in the future.

The purchase price of the Award Shares

The purchase price in respect of any particular Award Share
under the Scheme shall be such price as the Board may in
its absolute discretion determine at the time of grant of the
relevant Award and shall be specified in the grant notice.
Factors including but not limited to the offer price of the Shares
pursuant to the Company’s global offering, the prevailing
closing price of the Shares, the purpose of the Scheme and
the characteristics and the profile of the relevant Selected
Participant(s) have been/will be taken into account. The period
within which payments must or may be paid is within 5 working
days from the date of granting of the Award Shares.

HKD5.15 per Award Share was paid for 20% of the Award
Shares granted to each Selected Participant on acceptance of
the Award by the current Selected Participants set out in the
summary below.

According to the Scheme, the Award Shares will be satisfied
by way of acquisition of existing Shares through on-market
transactions by the trustee at the prevailing market price and
will be held on trust until they are vested.
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(e) The remaining life of the Scheme

0

The Scheme shall remain in force during the Award Period and
has a remaining term of approximately 6 years and 5 months as
at the date of this report.

Details of Award Shares granted

On 13 November 2020, according to the Scheme, the Company
granted 24 Selected Participants (including 4 executive Directors)
a total of 3,350,000 Award Shares, representing approximately
0.34% of the total issued Shares of the Company as at 13
November 2020. The details are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 13 November 2020.

As at 31 December 2023, a total of 3,350,000 Shares were held
under the Scheme and shall be held upon trust for the benefits
of the relevant grantees until they are vested (or cancelled)
in accordance with the Scheme. As at 1 January 2023 and 31
December 2023, a total of 26,220,182 Award Shares were
available for future grant under the Scheme.

During the Reporting Period, there was no purchase of Shares of
the Company by the trustee under the Scheme, and no Award
Shares were granted/vested/cancelled/lapsed/forfeited under
the Scheme by the Company save as disclosed in the summary
below.
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summary of the Award Shares granted and their movements during

Nk the Year is set forth below:
RERHEA
Number of Award Shares
RBE
R20235 12A318
BEE 1818 REE REE  REEER REEDA HROE/
BESAENA RiHAH HEH Ar HAGE/SR  BARE  HAER ANk 58
Outstanding/ Lapsed/ Outstanding/
unvested Granted Vested  Cancelled forfeited  unvested
Purchase asat  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  during the as at

Name of Selected price 1January  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting 31 December

Participants Date of grant Vesting period HKD 2023 Period Period Period Period 2023

THrt" 20205117138 051171302 BREDRN 200,000 - - - - 200,000

‘ 04E3A318 5158

Ms. Wang Meng” 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
- 31 March 2024 Award Share”

gL 20205114138 02051151382 BREDRH 200,000 - - - - 200000

, 0453F318 5.15% 7"
Mr. Yao Xusheng”"® 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
- 31 March 2024 Award Share”
HERL" 20205117138 051171302 BREDRN 200,000 - - - - 200,000
2024%3A318 51587

Ms. Xie Rao"” 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
‘ 31 March 2024 Award Share”

Bant" 20205117138 051171302 BREDRN 200,000 - - - - 200,000

\ 453318 5.1587°
Ms. Zhou Rui”" 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
31 March 2024 Award Share”
JEHREESR 0FNABE  WNENABEE  SREDRH 400,000 - - - - 400,000
FIREEHSEEHAL" 20453R317 5.15% 7"
Non-Director and non-chief 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
executive officer highest 31 March 2024 Award Share”
paid individuals during
the Reporting Period”
EfhpRsEz” 20205114138 2020511A13R% EREBRD 1,500,000 - - - 5500007 950,000
2024%3A318 51587
Other employee 13 November 2020 13 November 2020 - HKDS.15 per
participants” 31 March 2024 Award Share”

A Total 2,700,000 550,000 2,150,000

Hat - Notes:

(1) IR LTHEIE4AS  HAKAATIHNE (1) Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, he/she is a connected person of
AL the Company.

(2) 3% (20224 :3R) EEERIFTTHER (2)  Share Awards were granted to 3 (2022: 3) non-Director and non-chief
NSESEMESC R EYAEFEN RS executive highest paid employees in respect of his services to the Group.
BB 5 - A $£600,0000% 52 ) A% 15 In aggregate, 600,000 Share Awards were granted to the five highest
EERFAMSESHMALT  BIEAQF paid individuals (including Ms. Wang Meng, the chief executive officer
MTTHREE T L - of the Company).

(3) HRIEHIA  HMEELXRXMEREIE)E (3)  The other employee participants excluded (i) Directors and (ii) the five

=R REHEMAL -

highest paid individuals during the Reporting Period.
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(4)  During the Year, a total of 1 other employee participant ceased to be
an Eligible Person and 3 other employee participants withdrew from the
Scheme and no Award Shares were vested to them. According to the
Scheme, any Award Shares that have not yet vested, that is, a total of
550,000 Award Shares, have been immediately forfeited. These forfeited
Award Shares were regarded as returned Shares, which will continue
to be held by the trustee and can be used to satisfy the Awards to be
granted in the future.

(5) HKD5.15 per Award Share was paid by each selected participant as the
purchase price for 20% of the Award Shares granted to him/her at the
time of grant. Save as disclosed, no purchase price was required to be
paid in respect of the Award Shares granted to him/her.

(6)  Mr. Yao Xusheng has resigned as executive Director on 4 September
2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, there was
no Award granted and to be granted under the Scheme to (i) any
Directors, chief executive or substantial Shareholders of the Company,
or their respective associates, (ii) other employee participants, related
entity participants and service providers, or (iii) the five highest paid
individuals of the Company. There was also no (i) participant with
Awards granted and to be granted in excess of the 1% individual
limit, or (ii) related entity participant or service provider with Awards
granted and to be granted in any 12-month period exceeding 0.1%
of the relevant class of Shares in issue.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of our Directors,
depending on our results of operations, cash flows, financial position,
statutory and regulatory restrictions on the dividends paid by us,
future prospects, as well as any other factors which our Directors may
consider relevant. We have no policy for future dividend payments.
Our Board has absolute discretion as to whether to declare any
dividend for any year, and in what amount. For more details on
dividend distribution, please refer to the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”).
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION POLICIES
AND PERFORMANCE

Information on the environmental policies and performance of the
Company is set out in the 2023 ESG Report of the Company.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied with the
applicable environmental laws and regulations of the places where the
Group has business operations during the year ended 31 December
2023. The Group will review its environmental practices from time to
time and will consider implementing further suitable measures and
practices in the Group's business operations to enhance sustainability.

The Group adheres to environmental sustainability. The Group strives
to ensure minimal environmental impacts by carefully managing
its energy consumption, water usage, property design and waste
production.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has complied with
all the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the Group, particularly in relation to its business including health and
safety, workplace conditions, employment and the environment.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable
laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have significant impact
on the Group. The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) is delegated by the Board to monitor the Group’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements and such policies are regularly reviewed. Any changes in
the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention
of relevant employees and relevant operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, the Group has complied in material
respects with the laws and regulations which have a significant impact
on the business and operations of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did not
make charitable and other donations (31 December 2022: Nil).
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH THE GROUP’S
EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Details of our relationship with employees are set out in the section
headed “Employees and Remuneration Policy” of this annual report.

Our customers primarily consist of property developers, property
owners and residents and governmental authorities.

For all of our business lines, our suppliers are primarily sub-contractors
providing cleaning, gardening and certain repair and maintenance
services.

Please refer to the 2023 ESG Report of the Company for more details.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board recommended a final dividend of RMB2.4 cents per
ordinary share (2022: RMB2.2 cents) totalling approximately
RMB23,656,000 (2022: RMB21,685,000) for the year ended 31
December 2023. The final dividend is subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company (the "AGM"), and is expected to be paid on or around 10
July 2024. The proposed final dividend shall be declared in RMB and
paid in HKD. The final dividend payable in HKD will be converted
from RMB to HKD at the average exchange rate of HKD against RMB
announced by the People’s Bank of China on 30 May 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 May
2024 to 30 May 2024, both days inclusive, in order to determine
the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend the
forthcoming AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Hong Kong
share registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on 22
May 2024.

The record date for qualifying to receive the proposed final dividend
is 11 June 2024. In order to determine the right of the Shareholders
entitled to receive the proposed final dividend, which is subject to the
approval by the Shareholders in the forthcoming AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 6 June 2024 to 11 June
2024, both days inclusive. All transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Hong
Kong share registrar of the Company, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong before 4:30
p.m. on 5 June 2024.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on the listing date (i.e. 19 December 2019) (the

FrEMREm (LW BEREZHE (K “Listing Date”) by way of global offering (the “Listing”), raising the
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HKD786,744,178.

9 December 2019 of the Company:

R2023F 12831 B EER AR (BERBLE)

Actual Use of Proceeds (Including the Reserved Amount) as at 31 December 2023

total net proceeds (after deducting professional fees, underwriting
commissions and other related listing expenses) of approximately

BHRBIRLE As at 31 December 2023, the proceeds from the Listing are and will
be used according to the plans disclosed in the section headed “Future
TERSG - EZIE Plans and Use of Proceeds — Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus dated

ABRER ARARANFERE
WRERRRERE NRERARER
Intended Use Expected Timeline

of Remaining for Use of Remaining

Unutilized Proceeds  Unutilized Proceeds

AAERRFEN
65%%511,383,7167 1T
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RERMBHEINRE
~SEREREE
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BRUREEN65%511,383,716E L E 2 AN SR B BRIRE RIER
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Intended Use Expected Timeline
Proposed Use of Remaining for Use of Remaining
of Proceeds Actual Use of Proceeds (Including the Reserved Amount) as at 31 December 2023  Unutilized Proceeds ~ Unutilized Proceeds

a) Approximately 65% of ~ Approximately 65% of the total net proceeds or HKD511,383,716 was completely used There are no remaining  N/A
the total net proceeds  for seeking selective strategic investment and acquisition opportunities and further unutilized proceeds.
or HKD511,383,716 developing strategic alliances, as follows:
will be used for seeking
selective strategic

Approximately 5.0% of the net proceeds or RMB32,722,984.8 (equivalent

investment and to approximately HKD39,247,948.0) was used for acquiring the entire equity
acquisition opportunities interest in Guangzhou Haoging Property Management Co., Ltd.;

and further developing

strategic alliances; i. Approximately 2.3% of the net proceeds or RMB14,868,132.6 (equivalent

to approximately HKD17,832,838.2) was used for acquiring the entire equity
interest in Guangzhou Yaocheng Property Management Co., Ltd,;

ii. Approximately 35.7% of the net proceeds or RMB234,050,000.0 (equivalent to
approximately HKD280,719,570.0) was used for acquiring a 51% equity interest
in Shanghai Kejian Property Services Co., Ltd.;

v, Approximately 20.8% of the net proceeds or RMB136,504,180.0 (equivalent to
approximately HKD163,723,113.3) was used for acquiring a 49% equity interest
in Chengdu Holytech; and

v. Approximately 1.2% of the net proceeds or RMB8,220,982.6 (equivalent to
approximately HKD9,860,246.5) was used for other strategic acquisitions.

There was no material deviation for the actual usages from the original intended uses.

b AMHEREFEN  AHIEIEFEN29%K101,841 187TATEARAALERITRITESERE R ABKEANME R2025512A31R 52

15%3%118,011,627% 1 REXFRELE  BAMT : FURFEN2.1%, Al
BEAFBLERTR 16,170,440 T 8 1412
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Actual Use of Proceeds (Including the Reserved Amount) as at 31 December 2023

FBRER ARRERNRERE
WHRERERERAE HEHNEARBE
Intended Use Expected Timeline

of Remaining for Use of Remaining
Unutilized Proceeds  Unutilized Proceeds

Approximately 15% of
the total net proceeds or
HKD118,011,627 will be
used for improving the
customer service quality
by using advanced
technology and building
a smart community;

CHELESES T
10%378,674, 417 T
BARNE- SRR
ARHEFE R

Approximately 12.9% of the total net proceeds or HKD101,841,187 was used for
improving the customer service quality by using advanced technology and building a
smart community, as follows:

i Approximately 7.1% of the net proceeds or HKD55,707,497 was used for the
smart community project;

i. Approximately 5.0% of the net proceeds or HKD40,186,205 was used for the
nationwide integrated management and control platform; and

ii. Approximately 0.8% of the net proceeds or HKD5,947,485 was used for the
property engineering digital operation and maintenance project.

There was no material deviation for the actual usages from the original intended uses.

A FETRIEFEN8.6%R67458364BTEANE— SRR ARB T2 HAN

—

i BT FUEFEM41.1%58,960,630B TE AR — WA RBI A -[HER| HF
ENAIRE+WEINERRE

i FRFUERENN45%H34,631 NTETEAREHN —BIL R4

il FERFUEREAN0.1%7K963,695B TE MR EERBE R

. FRHUERERNN0.5%%4,221,6308 TE BREERLER

V.o FIBHERENN04%H2854 2B TE AR BHLEEATEREE ]
Vi PERUEFEN2.0%515,826,6308 T EBREFTRER ¢
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Approximately 2.1%  On or before 31
of the remaining December 2025*
unutilized net proceeds

or HKD16,170,440 will

continue to be used for

the original purpose.
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Intended Use Expected Timeline
Proposed Use of Remaining for Use of Remaining
of Proceeds Actual Use of Proceeds (Including the Reserved Amount) as at 31 December 2023  Unutilized Proceeds ~ Unutilized Proceeds

0 Approximately 10% of ~ Approximately 8.6% of the total net proceeds or HKD67,458,364 was used for further ~ Approximately 1.4%  On or before 31

the total net proceeds  developing a one-stop service platform, as follows: of the remaining December 2025*
or HKD78,674,417 will unutilized net proceeds
be used for further i. Approximately 1.1% of the net proceeds or HKD8,960,630 was used for the or HKD11,216,053 will
developing a one-stop development of the one-stop service platform “Neighborhood Services (827) " continue to be used for

service platform; and and the application development of “artificial intelligence + property”; the original purpose.

i. Approximately 4.5% of the net proceeds or HKD34,631,317 was used for the
business and finance integration system;

ii. Approximately 0.1% of the net proceeds or HKD963,695 was used for the
property owner service system;

v, Approximately 0.5% of the net proceeds or HKD4,221,630 was used for the
billing center project;

v. Approximately 0.4% of the net proceeds or HKD2,854,462 was used for the
full-cycle operation monitoring platform project; and

vi. Approximately 2.0% of the net proceeds or HKD15,826,630 was used for the
e-commerce platform project.

There was no material deviation for the actual usages from the original intended uses.

d) AHMEFELEY  AHFEHEIENI0%RT86T4MTATE 2 YBELELSR—KRARER o BEHBAERNAE TER

10%8.78,674,417% T
BRECEZER &
Rafik-
d) Approximately 10% of ~ Approximately 10% of the total net proceeds or HKD78,674,417 was completely used for There are no remaining  N/A
the total net proceeds or - working capital and general corporate purposes. unutilized proceeds.

HKD78,674,417 will be
used for working capital
and general corporate
pUrpOSes.
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* In order to ensure that the funds are utilized more effectively to enhance
the service quality, the Company has decided to further defer the
relevant plan. As at the date of this report, the Company expects the
unutilized net proceeds to be fully utilized on or before 31 December
2025.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE PLACING
AND SUBSCRIPTION OF SHARES

On 7 July 2020, the Company entered into an agreement (the
" Agreement ") with Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited (the
“Manager”) (the manager) and Asiaciti Enterprises Ltd. ("Asiaciti
Enterprises ") (the seller), pursuant to which the Manager
conditionally agreed to place 77,000,000 existing ordinary shares of
the Company at the placing price of HKD10.22 per share to not less
than six (6) placees on a best effort basis, while Asiaciti Enterprises
conditionally agreed to subscribe for new shares, the number of which
is equal to the number of the placing shares placed by the manager,
at the issue price of HKD10.22 per new share (the “Issue Price”).
The Issue Price represented a discount of approximately 6.92% to the
closing price of HKD10.98 per share as quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the last trading day prior to the signing of the Agreement. The
Directors considered that the placing and subscription provided a good
opportunity for the Company to raise additional funds to consolidate
its financial position and broaden the shareholder base and capital
base of the Group, thus promoting future development, and helping
increase the liquidity of shares. The Company completed the placing
of shares, and allotment and issuance of new shares under the
general mandate, on 9 July 2020 and 20 July 2020, respectively. The
total net proceeds raised by the Company after deducting all relevant
fees, costs and expenses to be borne or incurred by the Company are
approximately HKD779,596,946. The net price for the subscription,
after deduction of all relevant fees, costs and expenses to be borne or
incurred by the Company was approximately HKD10.12 per share.
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Proposed Use
of Proceeds

R2023E 12831 FBHEERAR (BERBEE)

Actual Use of Proceeds (Including the Reserved Amount) as at 31 December 2023

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the placing and
subscription of shares are and will be continuously used according to
the plans disclosed in the announcements dated 7 July 2020 and 20
July 2020 of the Company, which are set forth as follows:

FBRER HRARANFERE
WRERERERE NRBRARER
Intended Use Expected Timeline
of Remaining for Use of Remaining

Unutilized Proceeds  Unutilized Proceeds

R AEREFED
90%5701,637,251%
BRRSTEEHRR
ARMERRE R

Approximately 90% of
the total net proceeds
or HKD701,637,251
will be used for
seeking potential
strategic investment
and acquisition
opportunities; and

BHAGREREN
10%3:77,959,6957% 70
BREFEE-REE
Approximately 10% of
the total net proceeds or
HKD77,959,695 will be
used for general working
capital of the Group.

AU FE55.0%5:428,770,106 5 LE BN SR EA BB LA R MEKS B
il uNg

i P8I IE B E ) 424.6% 3 A K %160,083,0207T (1€ 1 41192,003,5755 71)
BERRKEER A B49%RRIE

il T2 FUE R R 60 4729.8% 30 A R 1£194,492,1007T (18 5 12 £1232,497,9925 7T )
ERRNRER A ENBHEE: R

i) BB FUEEEMD0.6%5 AR 3,600,0007 (15 1 414,268,5397% 7T) B B R
YR B LR E100%H R 12 -

ERARERREARUERENRE -
Approximately 55.0% of the total net proceeds or HKD428,770,106 was used for seeking
potential strategic investment and acquisition opportunities, as follows:

i) Approximately 24.6% of the net proceeds or RMB160,083,020 (equivalent to
approximately HKD192,003,575) was used for acquiring a 49% equity interest in
Chengdu Holytech;

i) Approximately 29.8% of the net proceeds or RMB194,492,100 (equivalent to
approximately HKD232,497,992) was used for acquiring a 31% equity interest in
Chengdu Holytech; and

ii) Approximately 0.6% of the net proceeds or RMB3,600,000 (equivalent to
approximately HKD4,268,539) was used for acquiring 100% equity interest in
Heshan Jianmei.

There was no material deviation for the actual usages from the original intended uses.

AHFEHIEEEN0%577,959,6055 TE2 BREEFEE-RLELSS o

Approximately 10% of the total net proceeds or HKD77,959,695 was completely used for
general working capital of the Group.

e RFEROME 20255124318,
FEFEM35.0%8 A
272,867,145 B L

ERERTRE -

Approximately 35.0%  On or before 31
of the remaining December 2025*
unutilized net proceeds

or HKD272,867,145

will continue to be

used for the original

puUrpose.

RENGRERNHAE TER

wE -

There are no remaining  N/A
unutilized proceeds.

HRASEENEEEEREERE * As the Group has become more prudent in selecting and capitalizing on

EERRERFTRZEMICE RIE K
g ARRREE - FSEEMBES -
RAKEBE AR BT REHDET
S EIEFRE 2025512 A318 3 2 Al

WEREM °

December 2025.

TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023

strategic investment and acquisition opportunities that meet the Group's
long-term development needs, the Company has decided to further
defer the relevant plan. As at the date of this report, the Company
expects the unutilized net proceeds to be fully utilized on or before 31
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As at the date of this report, (i) the Company has actively explored
any targets that are related to its core businesses and has not
identified any new investment or acquisition targets; (ii) the Company
has developed a general list of prospects, but no agreement has
been entered by the Group in respect of any such investments
or acquisitions; and (iii) the rest of the net proceeds from the
subscription will be continuously used according to the original
intended uses, subject to market conditions.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the transaction amount of
the Group’s top five customers accounted for 10.0% of the total
revenue of the Group (2022: 11.6%), while the transaction amount of
the Group’s single largest customer accounted for 4.8% of the total
revenue of the Group (2022: 9.3%).

Major Suppliers

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the transaction amount of
the Group's top five suppliers accounted for 20.2% of the total
purchase of the Group (2022: 23.3%), while the transaction amount
of the Group’s single largest supplier accounted for 9.7% of the total
purchase of the Group (2022: 5.9%).

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their
close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of the issued
Shares of the Company) had any interest in the Group's five largest
customers or suppliers (other than Times China Group and its
associates).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not held
any properties for investment purposes.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has not
entered into or maintained any equity-linked agreements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 38
to the consolidated financial statements in this report and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 140 to 141
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB1,261.8 million (as at 31 December 2022: RMB1,283.5 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 and as at the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Wang Meng

Ms. Xie Rao

Ms. Zhou Rui

Mr. Yao Xusheng (resigned on 4 September 2023)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (Chairman)
(appointed on 4 September 2023)

Mr. Bai Xihong (Vice Chairman) (re-designated from Chairman to
Vice Chairman on 4 September 2023)

Mr. Li Qiang

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian

Dr. Wong Kong Tin

Dr. Chu Xiaoping

In accordance with article 108 and article 112 of the Articles of
Association, Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, Ms. Xie Rao, Ms. Zhou Rui and Dr.
Wong Kong Tin will retire by rotation and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election as the Directors at the forthcoming AGM.

Circular containing details of the Directors to be re-elected at
the forthcoming AGM of the Company will be despatched to the
Shareholders in due course.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out on pages 26 to 37 in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors his confirmation of independence which has
confirmed his independence during the year ended 31 December 2023
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considered
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ TENURE AND SERVICE
CONTRACTS

Each of our executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 19
December 2022, which may be terminated by not less than three
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company regarding his appointment as a non-executive Director
for a term of three years commencing from 4 September 2023, which
may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of our non-executive Directors and our independent
non-executive Directors, apart from Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, has entered
into a letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three
years commencing from 19 December 2022, which may be terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party
on the other.

None of the Directors has a service contract with members of the
Group that is not terminable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor any entity connected with a Director has a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

The Directors confirm that they did not have any interest in any other
business during the year ended 31 December 2023, which competed
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s
businesses, which would require disclosure under Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance between the Group and the controlling
Shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries has been made
during the year ended 31 December 2023, except as disclosed in the
section headed "Report of Directors — Connected Transactions and
Related Party Transactions” of this report.
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ULTIMATE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company, Mr. Shum Chiu Hung and his spouse, Ms. Li Yiping
(the "Ultimate Controlling Shareholders”) have entered into the
deed of non-competition dated 5 December 2019 (the “Deed of
Non-Competition”). Each of our Ultimate Controlling Shareholders
has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken to us in the Deed
of Non-Competition that he/she will not, and will procure his/her
close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules, excluding Times
China Group (an independent operating group due to the listing
status of Times China)) not to directly or indirectly be involved in
or undertake any business (other than our business) that directly or
indirectly competes, or may compete, with our business, being the
provision of property management services, value-added services,
community value-added services and other professional services
(collectively referred to as the “Restricted Businesses”), or hold
shares or interest in any companies or business that compete directly
or indirectly with the business engaged by our Group from time to
time, or conduct any Restricted Businesses, except where our Ultimate
Controlling Shareholders and their close associates hold less than 5%
of the total issued share capital of any company (whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange) (excluding
Times China Group) which is engaged in any business that is or may
be in competition with any business engaged by any member of our
Group and they do not possess the right to appoint 10% or more
of the directors of such company. For details of the Deed of Non-
Competition, please refer to the Company’s prospectus dated 9
December 2019.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the compliance of the Ultimate Controlling Shareholders
with the Deed of Non-Competition and consider that the Deed of
Non-Competition has been complied with during the year ended
31 December 2023. Each of Ultimate Controlling Shareholders
has provided the Company with a confirmation regarding his/her
compliance with the Deed of Non-Competition.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

Save as disclosed below and in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this report, there is no change in information
of the Directors as of the date of this annual report required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

The respective annual Director's fee of Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian,
Dr. Wong Kong Tin and Dr. Chu Xiaoping has been adjusted from
RMB300,000 to RMB255,000 with effect from 1 April 2024.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"))
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
referred to therein, or which would be required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"”), were as
follows:
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Percentage of

Number of Shareholding in

Name of Director/Chief Executive  Nature of Interest Shares the Company"
FHat BB A 200,000 0.02%
Ms. Wang Meng Beneficial owner
gre 5k £ ERERA 200,000 0.02%
Mr. Yao Xusheng Beneficial owner
WLt BEamlEAA 200,000 0.02%
Ms. Xie Rao Beneficial owner
Bzt BEamlEAA 200,000 0.02%
Ms. Zhou Rui Beneficial owner
B PR % E e 257 473,431,769 48.03%
Mr. Shum Chiu Hung Interest in a controlled corporation®”
At LE BB A 509,000 0.05%
Mr. Bai Xihong Beneficial owner

[

Interest of spouse® 20,565,484 2.09%
EBRLEE BEamlEAA 200,000 0.02%
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian Beneficial owner
BIXREL BEamlEAA 200,000 0.02%
Dr. Wong Kong Tin Beneficial owner
Het - Notes:
(1) F2023F12A31H » AR BB ETERMD (1) Asat 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares of the Company

488 5985,672,74TRR AR 1D ©

was 985,672,747 Shares.

(2)  A2023F128318 - 28| SR EWER A (2) As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Shum Chiu Hung was deemed to be

473,431,769 B 15 /1 # B #
473,431,769 2 10 B £ R B B R A &)
(TERD#FHE HAEBEAKEBRAA
(BE)2EHA MERREERA
AI([EBRE ] LRAEEBRAF (R
Fl1) 5 B B E B60% &240% ° 2 £l

HREZERFERRE -

Chiu Hung.

25 0 3% interested in 473,431,769 Shares. Such 473,431,769 Shares were held
by Best Source Ventures Limited (“Best Source”), which is wholly
owned by Super Reach Ventures Limited (“Super Reach”), which is in
turn 60% and 40% owned by Renowned Brand Investments Limited
("Renowned Brand”) and East Profit Management Limited (“East
Profit”) respectively. Renowned Brand is wholly owned by Mr. Shum
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As at 31 December 2023, Ms. Wan Zhi Ning, the spouse of Mr. Bai Xihong
was interested in 20,565,484 Shares. Mr. Bai Xihong is deemed to be
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interested in those Shares.

Mr. Yao Xusheng has resigned as an executive Director on 4 September

2023.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

EREEHA
®E HEBEE S8 54/ RENE [g7R ¢ BARY
Approximate
Name of Capacity/ Number of Percentage of
Name Associated Corporation Nature of Interest Shares Interest
4 BRAEZRERAA PSR E g 1,244,877,716 59.23%
Mr. Shum Chiu Hung Times China Holdings Limited  Interest in a controlled corporation®
SEoP FAPEERERA A EnEBA 43,074,000 2.05%
Mr. Bai Xihong Times China Holdings Limited  Beneficial owner
Ao B g5 2,017,000 0.10%
Interest of spouse”
Miat - Notes:

MW2023%F12 8310 - BRBPED TR
1425 52,101,816,039H& fX 15 °

R2023F 128318 28R EWR B
A1,244,877,7160% B A /1 B % 19 7
B HERERTPBEESBHITRALD
59.23% ° :%1,244,877,7164% i £ o Bl %
HEHEECEGRAR([BE])DIFH -
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B 5 Bl A ER60% &40% © 24
HAEREREERIRE -

R2023F 128318 AT EENE S
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As at 31 December 2023, the total number of issued shares of Times
China was 2,101,816,039 shares.

As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Shum Chiu Hung was deemed to be
interested in 1,244,877,716 shares of Times China, representing
approximately 59.23% of the issued share capital of the Company. Such
1,244,877,716 shares of Times China were held by Asiaciti Enterprises
Ltd. ("Asiaciti”), which is wholly owned by Super Reach, which is in turn
60% and 40% owned by Renowned Brand and East Profit respectively.
Renowned Brand is wholly owned by Mr. Shum Chiu Hung.

As at 31 December 2023, Ms. Wan Zhi Ning, the spouse of Mr. Bai
Xihong was interested in 2,017,000 shares of Times China. Mr. Bai
Xihong is deemed to be interested in those shares.
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INTEREST IN DEBENTURES IN ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS
EEHA fEHEME BEEZNEAES BEESNENRE
Principal Amount Unit Size of
Name of Director Nature of Interest of Debentures Debentures
e E Bl 488 7 5,500,000 7T 1,000

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung

Interest of spouse

Usb5,500,000

oz
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The USD3,500,000 debentures are held by Ms. Li Yiping, spouse of Mr.
Shum Chiu Hung. Mr. Shum Chiu Hung is deemed to be interested in those
debentures. The debentures bearing interest at a rate of 5.55% per annum
payable semi-annually, will mature on 4 June 2024.

The USD1,000,000 debentures were held by Ms. Li Yiping. Mr. Shum Chiu
Hung was deemed to be interested in those debentures. The debentures
bearing interest at a rate of 6.75% per annum payable semi-annually, and
matured on 16 July 2023.

The USD1,000,000 debentures were held by Ms. Li Yiping. Mr. Shum Chiu
Hung was deemed to be interested in those debentures. The debentures
borne interest at a rate of 6.60% per annum payable semi-annually, and
matured on 2 March 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, during the year ended 31
December 2023, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries was a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate, and none of the Directors or their
spouses or children under the age of 18 was granted any right to
subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any
other body corporate nor had exercised any such rights.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES
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As at 31 December 2023, to the best of the Directors’ knowledge,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336

ERRAAE of the SFO:
EARDBRE
BRME LB EEtE igrig 4= BHE "
Approximate
Percentage of
Number of Shareholding in
Name of Shareholder Nature of Interest Shares the Company"”
F¥at? RIEEE RS 473,431,769 48.03%
Ms. Li Yiping®? Interested in controlled corporation
=R BEHmBEAA 473,431,769 48.03%
Best Source Beneficial owner
izhed REXE S 473,431,769 48.03%
Super Reach Interested in controlled corporation
EHKEY Rk E s 473,431,769 48.03%
Renowned Brand®” Interested in controlled corporation
A ;i E s 473,431,769 48.03%
East Profit?” Interested in controlled corporation
Xingtai Capital Management Limited 1% & 3% 59,555,000 6.04%

Investment manager

Wt

Notes:

1. R2023F12A31H KA RQ B 2 BTN 1.
488 /985,672, 7ATRXARAD °

At 31 December 2023, the total number of issued Shares of the
Company was 985,672,747 shares.

2. ERMBEX2EEF MBEARELINR 2.
B (RELELEE2EHA) REF (A
— LT 2 EHER) D REB60%M40%
Rt - T—F L+ A28 L ENR
BoRIEFEHFMBEKRG  BE- - E2
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Best Source is wholly owned by Super Reach, and Super Reach is owned
as to 60% by Renowned Brand, which is wholly owned by Mr. Shum
Chiu Hung; and as to 40% by East Profit, which is wholly owned by
Ms. Li Yiping. Ms. Li Yiping is the spouse of Mr. Shum Chiu Hung. By
virtue of the SFO, Super Reach, Renowned Brand, East Profit, Mr. Shum
Chiu Hung and Ms. Li Yiping are deemed to be interested in Shares held
by Best Source.
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Save as disclosed herein, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors are
not aware of any other persons (other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO or as recorded in the register of the Company to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles of Association, Directors, managing directors,
alternate Directors, secretary and other officers of the Company and
the trustees (if any) acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale and redemption of any listed securities
of the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

LOANS AND GUARANTEES

The Group did not make loans and guarantees to senior management,
Directors, controlling Shareholders or their respective connected
persons of the Company, directly or indirectly, during the year ended
31 December 2023.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

CCT AGREEMENT

On 16 November 2021, the Company entered into the continuing
connected transaction agreement (the “CCT Agreement”) with Times
China in relation to the provision of services by the Group to Times
China Group and its associated companies, for a term from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024. The Group agreed to provide property
management and related services for Times China Group and its
associated companies.

The CCT Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder
(including the proposed annual cap) were approved by independent
Shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution at the extraordinary
general meeting held by the Company on 9 December 2021, of which
the CCT Agreement became effective from the date of approval, and
was valid from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024.

In accordance with the CCT Agreement, the annual caps on the
costs payable by Times China Group and its associated companies
for the three years ending 31 December 2024 will not exceed
RMB1,220,000,000, RMB1,680,000,000 and RMB2,150,000,000
respectively.

As at the date of the CCT Agreement, Times China was owned as
to 62.47% by Asiaciti Enterprises, which is wholly-owned by Super
Reach, a controlling Shareholder of the Company. Times China is
an associate of a connected person of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. As such, Times China is a connected person
of the Company for the purpose of the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the transactions under
the CCT Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions for
the Company. As all of the applicable percentage ratios (excluding
the profits ratio) in respect of the annual cap for transactions
contemplated under the CCT Agreement exceed 5%, the transactions
under the CCT Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions for the Company, which are subject to the reporting,
annual review, announcement, circular and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

84 TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



HERERKE2EON)VASERBILE =T
REBURBGAKERRETHE (KEE
YEOLE MG - IR 8 E K B HE
ERA(BRENRRATRA - BEK
AREMBRCA)) + R()E BT AT
MEURHZEHEENBRERS 2ESIE
BONER) BRRTERRERE - NEM
BT BERIAESRBEXEEEE S
FItEMIRERR (E/s) A~ FER
AEBRABIE=THEBRNER -

FRAFBROBRERARRAHMD AR
202111 A16H K2021F 1M A22B 0 A
ERABEHA

AR FRE E2023F12A318 ILEE
FrETMHERERSME ARAFE
BT FHARANEUAZENRERTE °

REE2023F12A31BIEFE R BR
PEREREBER S HERNANEEE
N8 AAREIS5.088 L &%
REGBIEBBERFELRARE
1,680,000,0007T ©

HE2023F12A31B ILFEE - B IEH
TESCERLAFEERESS T E
REZEXHE

() BEREBZ-—REBEESPEL

(i) R —REFREKREERFETT
K&

(i) REBBEXHOBREET  HRAL
FEE  UNABRROEEN -

The fees will be determined after arm’s length negotiations with
reference to (i) the prevailing market price (taking into account the
location and the conditions of the property, the scope of the services
and the anticipated operation costs including but not limited to labor
costs, administration costs and costs of materials) charged by the
Group for providing similar services to independent third parties; and
(i) the guidance price of the services for a similar type of development
projects issued by the local government (if applicable). The fees shall
not be higher than the standard fees approved by the state pricing
regulatory authorities (if applicable) and not lower than the fees
charged by the Group to independent third parties in any event.

The details were disclosed in the announcement and circular of
the Company dated 16 November 2021 and 22 November 2021,
respectively.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with respect to the continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the transaction amount
payable by Times China to the Group under the CCT Agreement was
RMB155.0 million, and the transaction amount did not exceed the
proposed annual cap of RMB1,680,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above continuing
connected transactions and confirmed that these transactions have
been entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of the business of the Group;
(i)  on normal or better commercial terms; and
(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements on terms of which

are fair and reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders
as a whole.
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Ernst & Young, the Company’s independent auditor, was engaged
to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note
740 Auditor's Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued an unqualified
letter containing the findings and conclusions in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed below by the Group in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules and confirming that
nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe the
continuing connected transactions disclosed in this report:

(i)  have not been approved by the Board;

(i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

(iii) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance
with the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(iv) have exceeded the relevant annual caps.

THE AGREEMENTS

The Group and the Times China Group entered into (i) the agreement
dated 1 January 2022 in relation to the sales agency services
(including the exclusive agency services, joint sales services and
underwriting agency services) (the “Services”) with respect of more
than 50 property projects (including but not limited to residential
units, shops, carparks and clubhouses) developed by the Times China
Group (the “Target Properties”), with a term commencing on 1
January 2022 and ending on 30 June 2022 (both dates inclusive)
(the “First Agreement”); (ii) the agreement dated 1 July 2022 in
relation to the Services, with a term commencing on 1 July 2022 and
ending on 31 December 2022 (both dates inclusive) (the “Second
Agreement”); and (iii) the agreement dated 1 January 2023 in
relation to the Services, with a term commencing on 1 January 2023
and ending on 30 June 2023 (both dates inclusive) (the “Third
Agreement”) (collectively, the “Agreements”).
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Under each of the Agreements, the Group agreed to provide the
Services to the Times China Group on an exclusive basis, and paid
the interest-free refundable deposit of RMB350 million to the Times
China Group under each of the Agreements (the “First Deposit”,
“Second Deposit”, and “Third Deposit” paid in accordance with the
First Agreement, the Second Agreement and the Third Agreement
respectively, and collectively, the “Deposits”). The First Deposit and
the Second Deposit were refunded at the end of the First Agreement
and the end of the Second Agreement respectively. In consideration
of the change in the real estate policy and property market in the PRC
in early 2023, Times China has adjusted its property sale strategy. The
Group and the Times China Group mutually agreed to terminate the
Third Agreement on 20 February 2023. The Third Deposit was fully
refunded to the Group.

Through its cooperation with the Times China Group under the
Agreements, the Group was able to strengthen its footprint in regions
where the Target Properties were located and provided post-sales
services such as diversified property management and sales assistance
services to the property owners and occupants.

Further, it has been a common market practice in the PRC for a
property management services company to pay an interest-free
refundable deposit to a property developer to secure the exclusive
right to act as an agent for the sale of specified properties. The Board
considered that the risk of failure to refund each of the Deposits
by the Times China Group at the end of the relevant agreement to
be extremely low in light of the long-standing business relationship
between the Times China Group and the Group. The Group has also
benefitted from generating further business opportunities after the
successful sale of the Target Properties.

Listing Rules implications

As certain of the applicable percentage ratios in respect of the
payment of each of the Deposits exceeded 5% but all of them were
lower than 25%, the payment of each of the Deposits constituted
a discloseable transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules.
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As at the date of the announcement dated 21 March 2023, the
Company was owned as to approximately 48.03% by Best Source,
which was wholly owned by Super Reach. Super Reach was a
controlling shareholder of the Company. Times China was owned
as to approximately 59.23% by Asiaciti Enterprises, which was
wholly owned by Super Reach. Times China was an associate of a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Thus, Times China was a connected person of the Company.
The payment of each of the Deposits under the relevant agreement
constituted a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Given that certain of the applicable
percentage ratios in respect of the payment of each of the Deposits
under the relevant agreement exceeded 5%, the payment of each
of the Deposits constituted a connected transaction of the Company
which was subject to the reporting, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The amount of each of the Deposits was determined with reference
to the market value of the Target Properties as a result of the arm’s
length negotiation between the Group and the Times China Group
having considered the factors such as the number of units of the
Target Properties, the market price of the Target Properties, the
prevailing rate of deposits paid by other property management
services providers to the property developers in the PRC for providing
similar services and the estimated period required for the Target
Properties to be sold.

The details of the Agreements (including reasons for failure to
identify the transactions and remedial measures) were disclosed in the
announcement of the Company dated 21 March 2023.

THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

To enable the Group to tap into the types of value-added
telecommunications businesses which Hainan Qi Lin is permitted to
carry out under the business license (the “Qualified Business”) in
the PRC which is currently subject to foreign investment restrictions,
on 20 December 2021, Guangzhou Times Linlibang Network
Technology Co., Ltd. (BN R RN EBEER KR ER D A)
("Quangzhou Times Linlibang”), Hainan Qi Lin and Mr. Cen Qixiong
and Ms. Mei Huimin, the registered shareholders of Hainan Qi Lin (the
“Registered Shareholders”), entered into the Exclusive Technology
Consulting and Service Provision Agreement, the Exclusive Option
Agreement, the Power of Attorney, and the Equity Pledge Agreement
(collectively, the “VIE Agreements”). Despite the restrictions under
the relevant provisions and guidelines, the arrangements under the
VIE Agreements (the “Contractual Arrangements”) would enable
the Company to gain effective control over the finance, operations
and enjoy the entire economic interests and benefits of Hainan Qi Lin.
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Unless otherwise defined, all capitalised terms and abbreviations
under this section shall have the same meanings as those defined in
the announcement of the Company dated 20 December 2021.

THE VIE AGREEMENTS

(1) Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service
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Provision Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service
Provision Agreement, Guangzhou Times Linlibang, within the
service period stipulated in the agreement, agreed to provide
exclusive business, technical, and consulting support services to
Hainan Qi Lin.

Pursuant to such agreement, Guangzhou Times Linlibang agreed
to provide the Technological Services to Hainan Qi Lin and
Hainan Qi Lin agreed to appoint Guangzhou Times Linlibang
as its exclusive service provider for the Technological Services.
During the term of the Exclusive Technology Consulting and
Service Provision Agreement, Hainan Qi Lin undertook not to
accept the same or any similar services provided by any third
party, unless prior consent is obtained from Guangzhou Times
Linlibang.

The Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service Provision
Agreement also provides that Guangzhou Times Linlibang has
the exclusive proprietary rights to and interests in any and all
intellectual property rights developed or created by Guangzhou
Times Linlibang or Hainan Qi Lin.

Further, Guangzhou Times Linlibang has the right to appoint
any of its affiliates to provide the Technological Services without
obtaining consent or confirmation from Hainan Qi Lin.

Service fees

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service
Provision Agreement, Hainan Qi Lin agreed to pay services fees
to Guangzhou Times Linlibang for the Technological Services
provided. Guangzhou Times Linlibang has the absolute right to
determine the amount and payment method of the service fees.

The service fees payable for the Technological Services is
calculated based on Hainan Qi Lin’s income and corresponding
operating costs, sales, management and other costs.
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In addition, the service fees payable has been determined by
factors including the technical difficulty and complexity of the
Technological Services provided; the working hours spent by
employees of Guangzhou Times Linlibang; and the content and
commercial value of the services, softwares and/or consultation
services provided.

Guangzhou Times Linlibang has the absolute right to adjust
the services fees charged during the term of the Exclusive
Technology Consulting and Service Provision Agreement, without
obtaining Hainan Qi Lin’s consent.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service
Provision Agreement, Guangzhou Times Linlibang may
provide financial support to Hainan Qi Lin to ensure cash flow
requirements of Hainan Qi Lin’s business operations are satisfied
or to offset the accumulated losses in any business operations.
Such financial support shall not be limited to bank entrustments
by Guangzhou Times Linlibang or through other designated
parties permitted under relevant laws and regulations.

Such agreement shall remain effective for a term of 10
years. The agreement will be automatically renewed unless
Guangzhou Times Linlibang objects to such renewal. Pursuant
to the agreement, Guangzhou Times Linlibang has the right to
terminate the agreement at any time by sending written notice
to Hainan Qi Lin 30 days in advance.

The rights and obligations of Hainan Qi Lin shall not be
transferrable to any third parties pursuant to the Exclusive
Technology Consulting and Service Provision Agreement, unless
prior written consent of Guangzhou Times Linlibang is obtained.
If Guangzhou Times Linlibang chooses to transfer its rights and
obligations to third parties, consent from Hainan Qi Lin is not
required; and Hainan Qi Lin, under the request of Guangzhou
Times Linlibang, shall be obliged to sign any supplementary
agreements or agreements which is substantially in the same
form as the Exclusive Technology Consulting and Service
Provision Agreement.
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(2) Exclusive Option Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Registered
Shareholders and Hainan Qi Lin agreed to irrevocably and
unconditionally grant an exclusive option to Guangzhou
Times Linlibang which entitles Guangzhou Times Linlibang to
unconditionally elect, at its discretion, and to purchase at any
time, all or any part of the (i) equity interest and (ii) assets of
Hainan Qi Lin by itself or through its designated person(s), for
one or more times, when permitted by the then applicable PRC
laws, within a specific period as stipulated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement.

The Exclusive Option Agreement is effective for a period of 10
years, and is automatically renewed in 10 year intervals, unless
Guangzhou Times Linlibang objects to such renewal.

Exclusive option right

Subject to the compliance with PRC laws, Guangzhou Times
Linlibang may issue a written notice specifying the share of
equity interests, or list of assets in Hainan Qi Lin it intends
to purchase from the Registered Shareholders. Within 7
working days from receiving the written notice, the Registered
Shareholders shall execute the equity or asset transfer
agreements in the form specified under the Exclusive Option
Agreement or any other forms as agreed between parties.

Purchase price

Unless the PRC laws applicable to Guangzhou Times Linlibang’s
exercise of the exclusive option requires an evaluation, audit or
other restrictive provisions on the transfer price of the purchased
equity interest or assets, the parties agreed that the equity
purchase price shall be the lowest price as permitted under the
applicable PRC laws.

Under the Exclusive Option Agreement, the Registered
Shareholders and Hainan Qi Lin have jointly and severally
undertaken, among others that:

(i)  without prior written consent of Guangzhou Times
Linlibang, Hainan Qi Lin shall not supplement, change or
amend its constitutional documents in any forms, increase
or decrease its registered share capital, or otherwise
change its capital structure;
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Hainan Qi Lin’s form of business is to be maintained and its
business affairs is to be conducted prudently and efficiently
in accordance with good financial and commercial
standards and practices;

without prior written consent of Guangzhou Times
Linlibang, Hainan Qi Lin shall not engage in any acts or
omission that may adversely affect the assets, business
and liabilities of Hainan Qi Lin, and shall not sell, transfer,
mortgage or dispose of any assets, business or income of
Hainan Qi Lin at any time from the date of the execution
of the Exclusive Option Agreement or to permit any
creation of encumbrance over any security interests;

no debt is incurred, inherited, warranted or allowed
without the prior written consent of Guangzhou Times
Linlibang except when (i) debt is incurred in the normal or
ordinary course of business other than by borrowing; and
(ii) such liabilities have been disclosed and approved by
Guangzhou Times Linlibang; and

businesses are conducted in the ordinary course of business
at all times to preserve the value of assets of Hainan Qi Lin
and refrain from any acts and/or omissions detrimental to
its business condition and the value of its assets.

The Registered Shareholders have also undertaken, among
others, that:

(i)

without prior written consent of Guangzhou Times
Linlibang, the Registered Shareholders shall not sell,
transfer, mortgage or otherwise dispose of any legal or
beneficial rights in the equity interest of Hainan Qi Lin, or
permit creation of encumbrance over any security interest,
except for pledges created over such equity interests by
the Registered Shareholders under the Exclusive Option
Agreement;
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(3)

(i) they shall prompt Hainan Qi Lin’'s board of directors not
to approve any sale, transfer, pledge or otherwise dispose
of any legal or beneficial rights in any equity interest, or
to allow the creation of any encumbrance over security
interests without the prior written consent of Guangzhou
Times Linlibang, except to those made to Guangzhou
Times Linlibang or its designated persons; and to cause
Hainan Qi Lin's shareholders to vote in favour of the
transfer of the purchased equity pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement;

(iii) without the prior written consent of Guangzhou Times
Linlibang, the Registered Shareholders shall not vote
for, endorse or sign any resolutions in Hainan Qi Lin’s
shareholders’ meeting to approve any merger or union
with any person; acquisition by any person, acquisition of
any person or investment in any person;

(iv)  Guangzhou Times Linlibang be promptly notified of any
litigation, arbitration or administrative proceedings that
have occurred or may occur in connection with its equity
interest in Hainan Qi Lin; and

(v)  all necessary or appropriate documents be executed, all
actions be taken, all claims be filed and defended in order
to maintain its ownership of equity interest in Hainan Qi
Lin.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall remain effective for
a period of 10 years and shall be renewed automatically,
unless Guangzhou Times Linlibang notifies Hainan Qi Lin and
the Registered Shareholders of its intention not to renew it.
Hainan Qi Lin and the Registered Shareholders have no right to
terminate the Exclusive Option Agreement.

Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, each of the Registered
Shareholders agreed to irrevocably appoint Guangzhou Times
Linlibang or its designated person(s) as its attorney-in-fact to act
for all matters pertaining to Hainan Qi Lin and to exercise all of
their rights as shareholders of Hainan Qi Lin under applicable
laws and regulations and the articles of association of Hainan Qi
Lin, under the premise of compliance with PRC laws.
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The Registered Shareholders has granted Guangzhou Times
Linlibang or its designated person the power to exercise all
rights of Hainan Qi Lin’s shareholders.

The Registered Shareholders have further agreed and
authorised Guangzhou Times Linlibang and its designated
persons, including but not limited to, exercising shareholders’
rights in full discretion without obtaining any oral or written
instructions from the Registered Shareholders, and to appoint
one or more replacement candidates to exercise any or all
of the rights entrusted under the Power of Attorney. The
Registered Shareholders have also undertaken that any increase
in shareholding of Hainan Qi Lin by way of equity transfer or
increase in share capital, or any acquisition of Hainan Qi Lin’s
equity interest by any persons, will be subjected to the Power of
Attorney.

Guangzhou Times Linlibang and its designated persons may at
any time require the Registered Shareholders to re-sign another
power of attorney in substantially the same form, and shall be
entitled to exercise all of their rights as shareholders of Hainan
Qi Lin.

The Power of Attorney shall remain effective from the date of
signing, and will continue to be effective so long as Hainan
Qi Lin is in existence. The Registered Shareholders shall not
terminate or modify the Power of Attorney without prior
written consent from Guangzhou Times Linlibang. The Power
of Attorney is binding upon the successors and assignees of the
authorised person.

94 TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



(4) RELAHRBS

REREER DR SELHRE
REREMNDERBEREHRER
SR RUBH TR ERRE - AEE
MESBEECHRZE BT A&
M ERIHE TOEEIFRRE

BREEEMNTRAMERETLER
BEOEUBRREEERAERAR
BEE R ZETORANEERY - &
JH T B A 240 22 30 BT AR 9 S 4 55
BERHE2HNIEMNENRES
H 15 T AR A B AR BN T B A
EARRGETZBNMBAENRE
% o

BREEHRpZEEZEAHEAEY
HEBR B 8 MR R 1=
LEBZBEERHERANZARTE
TR ZBE2F 1L -

B ECPTHEEE E SN RELZE2023F12A
MNBEFE AEEEGHAA Y ER]
SR REAEREMBTITANL -
REZE2023F12A31BIEEE  440%
PER S HERMNOIB R EE AL -

REE2023F12A831BIEFEE g E
BERME DL EER RS I &EE R -
mENLTHERR - B E2023F12 731
B RMOBBEENLTHEEBESRERMME
BRI R E AT P BT T A
sl [H#E -

RNEE2023F12A31R0ILEE  BEM
HEWAEBS -

(4) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders agreed to pledge all of his/her respective equity
interests in Hainan Qi Lin to Guangzhou Times Linlibang to
secure the due performance of obligations of Hainan Qi Lin and
the Registered Shareholders under the VIE Agreements.

Unless with prior consent from Guangzhou Times Linlibang, the
Registered Shareholder has no right to gift or transfer its rights
and obligations under the Equity Pledge Agreement. Guangzhou
Times Linlibang may assign all or any of its rights and obligations
pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, its designated
assignee shall assume all rights and obligations enjoyed by
Guangzhou Times Linlibang under the agreement.

The Equity Pledge Agreement is valid from the date of signing
until 2 years after all obligations under the Exclusive Technology
Consulting and Service Provision Agreement and the Exclusive
Option Agreement have been fulfilled.

Save as disclosed above, there were no any other new Contractual
Arrangements entered into and/or renewed between the Group and
Hainan Qi Lin during the year ended 31 December 2023. During the
year ended 31 December 2023, there were no material changes in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or their adoption.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Contractual
Arrangements had been released as the restrictions leading to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements had not been removed.
As of 31 December 2023, we did not encountered interference or
encumbrance from any PRC government authorities in operating
our businesses through Hainan Qi Lin under the Contractual
Arrangements.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue of Hainan Qi
Lin was nil.
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REASONS FOR ENTERING
CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

INTO THE

The Qualified Business is currently subject to foreign investment
restrictions under the relevant provisions and guidelines, which do
not allow a foreign investor to own, whether directly or indirectly,
any company that engages in the Qualified Business in the PRC.
In compliance with the relevant provisions and guidelines, a
foreign-funded telecom enterprise which engages in the Qualified
Business would need to satisfy that: (i) the ultimate proportion of
contribution of its foreign investors shall not be more than 50%;
and (ii) its major foreign investor shall have good performances and
operation experiences in managing value-added telecommunications
businesses.

In light of the relevant provisions and guidelines currently in force
and taking into account the shareholding structure of the Company,
the Group could not engage in the Qualified Business through a
sino-foreign equity joint venture or direct acquisition of the equity
interest of Hainan Qi Lin. In order for the Group to tap into the
Qualified Business which has great growth potential and would
thereby deepen the Group’s reach to those business segments,
diversify the revenue stream and further enhance customers’
satisfaction of the Group’s property management services and value—
added services, whilst complying with the relevant provisions and
guidelines and obtaining the entire economic benefits attributable to
Hainan Qi Lin, the Group proposes to, through the VIE Agreements,
enter into the Contractual Arrangements to qualify for engagement
in the Qualified Business in the PRC. The Group is not required to pay
any consideration for the indirect acquisition of Hainan Qi Lin through
the adoption of the VIE Agreements.
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RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE CONTRACTUAL
ARRANGEMENTS

Certain risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements include:

a) The Group may bear economic risk which may arise from
difficulties in the operation of Hainan Qi Lin;

b) Interference or encumbrance in the PRC;

¢)  Guangzhou Times Linlibang’s exercise of the option to acquire
the entire equity interests in Hainan Qi Lin may be subject to
various limitations and substantial costs;

d)  There is no assurance that the Contractual Arrangements would
comply with future changes in the regulatory requirements
in the PRC and the PRC government may determine that the
Contractual Arrangements do not comply with applicable
regulations;

e) The VIE Agreements may not be as effective in providing control
over and entitlement to the economic benefits in Hainan Qi Lin
as compared to direct ownership;

f)  The Registered Shareholders may have potential conflict of
interest with the Group;

g) The VIE Agreements may be subject to the scrutiny of the tax
authorities and additional tax maybe imposed;

h)  The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements.

For details of these risks, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 20 December 2021.

The Group has taken the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group’s business after the implementation of the
Contractual Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual
Arrangements, including:

(i)  The seals, chops, incorporation documents of Hainan Qi Lin are
kept by the Group, and any employee of Hainan Qi Lin who
wishes to use such items will have to obtain internal approval
from the Group (as the case may be);
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(i) Hainan Qi Lin will report regularly, which will be no less
frequently than on a quarterly basis, to the senior management
of the Company in relation to compliance and performance
conditions under the Contractual Arrangements and
other related matters; and any major issues arising from
implementation of the Contractual Arrangements will be
regularly reviewed, at least on a quarterly basis, by the Board;

(iii) The Board will consult the PRC legal advisor from time to
time to check if there are any legal developments in the PRC
affecting the Contractual Arrangements, and should immediately
report to the Board so as to allow the Board to determine if any
modification or amendment are required to be made; and

(iv) The Company’s independent non-executive Directors will review
the compliance of the Contractual Arrangements on an annual
basis and their confirmation will be disclosed in the Company’s
annual report.

LISTING RULES IMPLICATION AND THE
WAIVER GRANTED BY THE STOCK
EXCHANGE

Upon signing of the VIE Agreements, the Company will acquire
100% equity interest of Hainan Qi Lin at a nil consideration. Given
all the applicable percentage ratios in respect of entering into the
Contractual Arrangements are less than 0.1%, entering into the
Contractual Arrangements does not constitute a notifiable transaction
of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and is fully
exempt from Shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements under Rule 14A.76(1) of the Listing Rules.

Hainan Qi Lin is held as to 50% by Mr. Cen Qixiong and 50% by
Ms. Mei Huimin. As at the signing date of the VIE Agreements,
Mr. Cen Qixiong is a brother of Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, who is a
controlling Shareholder of the Company, and is therefore an associate
of a connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Therefore, the Contractual Arrangements between the
Registered Shareholders of Hainan Qi Lin and the Group constitutes
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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The Company has made an application to the Stock Exchange for, and
the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver (the “Waiver”) subject to
the following conditions, for so long as the Shares of the Company
are listed on the Stock Exchange:

a. No change will be made without the approval of independent
non-executive Directors.

b.  No change will be made without the approval of the Company’s
independent Shareholders.

c.  Economic benefits flexibility.
d.  Ongoing reporting and approvals.
e.  Renewal and reproduction.

For further details of the Waiver granted by the Stock Exchange,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20
December 2021.

ANNUAL REVIEW BY THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDITOR

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that:

(@) The transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December
2023 have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
provisions of the Contractual Arrangements, and have been
operated so that the gains generated by Hainan Qi Lin have
been substantially retained by the Group;

(b) No dividends or other distributions have been made by Hainan
Qi Lin to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group;

() There are no any new contracts entered into, renewed and/or
reproduced between the Group and Hainan Qi Lin during the
year ended 31 December 2023; and

(d) The Contractual Arrangements have been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group on normal
commercial terms, and have been fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole.
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Auditor has confirmed in a letter to the Board that nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that dividends or other
distributions have been made by Hainan Qi Lin to the holders of its
equity interests which are not otherwise subsequently assigned or
transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties”
as defined under the applicable accounting standards, which
include transactions that constitute connected/continuing connected
transactions for which the requirements under the Listing Rules have
been complied with.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into by the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2023 is contained in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are required
to be disclosed by the Company in the Reporting Period in accordance
with the provisions concerning the disclosure of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Company’s annual results
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2023 prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate
governance.

The Company has been conducting its business according to the
principles of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with all
the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Please refer to pages 103 to 126 of the corporate governance report
in this annual report for details.
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
date of this report.

TAX CONCESSION

The Directors are not aware of any tax concessions available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.
If the Shareholders are unsure about the taxation implications of
purchasing, holdings, disposing of, dealing in, or the exercise of
any rights in relation to, the Shares, they are advised to consult tax
specialists.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied
with the laws and regulations in all material respects.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young has been appointed as the auditor to audit the
financial statements prepared in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards for the year ended 31 December 2023.
Ernst & Young has audited the accompanying financial statements
prepared based on International Financial Reporting Standards.

Ernst & Young has been engaged since the date of preparation for
the listing of the Company and there has been no change in the
Company’s auditor since the Listing Date. Ernst & Young will retire
as the auditor of the Company at the close of the forthcoming AGM
and will be eligible for re-election. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming AGM for approval of Shareholders to re-elect Ernst
& Young as the auditor of the Company for the year ending 31
December 2024.
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SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON
ACQUISITION OF A TOTAL OF 80% EQUITY
INTEREST IN CHENGDU HOLYTECH

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
11 December 2020 and 16 April 2021 in relation to the acquisitions
of 49% and 31% of the equity interest in Chengdu Holytech,
respectively, and the interim results announcement of the Company
for the six months ended 30 June 2022 dated 29 August 2022
(the "Announcements”). Unless otherwise defined, capitalized
terms used herein shall have the same meanings ascribed to them
in the Announcements. As disclosed in the Announcements, if the
Minority Shareholder has not honored its obligation to pay under
the Agreed Term, but Chengdu Holytech has settled the Payable,
Chengdu Holytech has the right to demand the Minority Shareholder
for reimbursement and a default payment. The default payment was
calculated at 10% per annum of the reimbursement to Chengdu
Holytech.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As of the date of this annual report, there is no occurrence of events
that are material to the Group's business after the Reporting Period.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung
Chairman and Non-executive Director

Hong Kong, 26 March 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report as
set out in the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions under
the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Company
will continue to review and monitor its corporate governance practices
to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of Directors and their corporate governance
duties include:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and to make recommendations and report
to the Board;

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

(f)  to review and monitor the Company’s compliance with the
Company’s whistleblowing policy.
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THE BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee (collectively, the
"Board Committees”). The Board has delegated to the Board
Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management systems,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of Directors and other
significant financial and operational matters. Directors could seek
independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense and are encouraged to access and to consult with
the Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has
to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
entered into by the management.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2023 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company
and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which
are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides members
of the Board with periodical updates on the Company’s performance,
positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities
on the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out
in the Independent Auditor’s Report on page 127 to page 135 of this
annual report.

BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises nine
Directors, consisting of three executive Directors, three non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. The
composition of the current Board of the Company is set out as
follows:

=4 Name B Position

Fosu+ Ms. Wang Meng WITES executive Director

S Ms. Xie Rao WITESE executive Director

B+ Ms. Zhou Rui WITES executive Director

E G I E Mr. Shum Chiu Hung FEITEE (FE) non-executive Director (chairman)
=k Mr. Bai Xihong FHTEE (FFE) non-executive Director (vice chairman)
S Yt Mr. Li Qiang EHITES non-executive Director

EBHEE Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian BYEHITES independent non-executive Director
P9I N n Dr. Wong Kong Tin BYFRITES independent non-executive Director
N FEEL Dr. Chu Xiaoping B ENITES independent non-executive Director

EERRERNAFRIEETNSREERE]

—Ep e

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of
this report, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Rules
3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors, with at least
one independent non-executive Director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board. Each of the independent
non-executive Directors has confirmed his independence during the
year ended 31 December 2023 pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules and the Company considers each of them to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report, none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with
any other Directors or chief executive.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWPOINTS AND OPINIONS

The Company has established different channels to enable all
Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors to
express their opinions in an open and honest manner to the Board
and, if necessary, in a confidential manner. All Directors also have
separate and independent access to the management of the Group
and full and timely access to information of the Company in order to
make informed decisions.

The Board may obtain independent viewpoints and opinions through
the following mechanisms:

1. The Board should have at least three independent non-executive
Directors, and at least one-third of its members (or a higher
minimum under the Listing Rules) should be independent
non— executive Directors, such that there is always a strong
element of independence on the Board that can effectively
exercise independent judgment. The Board currently comprises
nine Directors, three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors;

2. The Nomination Committee strictly complies with the
independence assessment criteria for the nomination and
appointment of independent non-executive Directors as set out
in the Listing Rules;
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3. The Nomination Committee is authorized to assess the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors
annually in accordance with the independence criteria set out in
the Listing Rules, so as to ensure that they are able to exercise
independent judgment;

4. The independent non-executive Directors are required to provide
an annual confirmation of their independence to the Company
and to notify the Company as soon as possible of any change
in their personal information that may materially affect their
independence;

5.  The independent non-executive Directors are not given an
equity-based remuneration (such as share options or share
grants) with performance-related elements, so as to avoid
bias in their decisions and influence on their objectivity and
independence;

6.  All Directors, including the independent nonexecutive Directors,
have the right to seek further information and documents from
the management for matters discussed at Board meetings, and,
if necessary, may seek independent professional advice at the
expense of the Company;

7. All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors
or any of their close associates who have a material interest in
any matter to be considered in a meeting should declare their
interest before the meeting and abstain from voting on the
relevant resolution, and shall not be included in the quorum
of the meeting. Independent non-executive Directors who, and
whose associates, have no interest in the matter should attend
the meeting; and

8. The chairman of the Board holds at least one meeting every
year, with the independent non-executive Directors and without
the presence of other Directors, to discuss significant matters
and any concerns.

During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the above
mechanisms to ensure that it can obtain independent viewpoints
and opinions, and believed that the existing mechanisms remained
effective. The Board shall continue to review the implementation and
effectiveness of such mechanisms on an annual basis.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual.

The chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer ("CEO") of
the Company are currently two separate positions held by Mr. Shum
Chiu Hung and Ms. Wang Meng respectively, with clear distinction in
responsibilities. The chairman of the Board is responsible for providing
strategic advice and guidance on the development of the Group,
while the CEO is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the requirement of the Articles of Association, the Board
shall have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any
person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director but so that the number of Directors so appointed shall not
exceed the maximum number determined from time to time by the
Shareholders in general meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting. Any Director appointed by the Board as
an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next
annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election. Any
Director appointed under article 112 of the Articles of Association
shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or the
number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at an annual general
meeting.

No Director has entered into any service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

Mr. Shum Chiu Hung has been appointed as non-executive Director
on 4 September 2023. He has obtained the legal advice referred to
Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 29 August 2023 and; (ii) confirmed
he understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CODE OF CONDUCT
REGARDING DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. After making
specific enquires to all the Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company also adopted
the Model Code as its code of conduct regarding employees’ securities
transactions for the compliance by its relevant employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the
Company in respect of their dealings in the Company's securities.

TRAINING AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
training and information to ensure that he or she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as his or her responsibilities under relevant statutes, laws, rules and
regulations. The Company will also arrange regular seminars to
provide Directors with updates on latest development and changes in
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
from time to time. The Directors are also provided with regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to
enable the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties. To develop and refresh the knowledge and skills, all Directors
have participated in continuous professional development and
training.

Based on the information provided by the Directors, the training
record of each Director during the Reporting Period is as follows:

MEAHRESRE BHFRAIRRAUK
Hib 486 B AR

Reading materials on the responsibility
of directors, updating on new rules and
regulations and other relevant topics

EEfS B2 AREI

Name of Director Received induction training

F A+ Ms. Wang Meng

#lBE Z4 Ms. Xie Rao

J& 82 £ Ms. Zhou Rui

Z 45 5t £ Mr. Shum Chiu Hung

H %4 5t £ Mr. Bai Xihong

Z 58 554 Mr. Li Qiang

B BEA % 4 Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian
)T X1& L Dr. Wong Kong Tin
fi&/NFE1E L Dr. Chu Xiaoping
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days have been given for
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity
to attend the regular meetings and discuss matters in the agenda
therein.

For other Board meetings, reasonable notices will be given by the
Company. For Board Committee meetings, notices of not less than
fourteen days will be given by the Company to relevant Board
Committee members for Board Committee meetings. Notices of
meetings, which include the agenda and accompanying Board papers
are dispatched to the Directors at least three days before the Board
or Board Committee meetings to ensure that they have sufficient time
to review the accompanying documents and be adequately prepared
for the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to
be discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to
the chairman prior to the meeting. The company secretary shall keep
the minutes of meetings and provide copies of such minutes to all
Directors for reference and record purposes.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings will
record in sufficient detail the matters considered by the Board and
the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are sent/will be sent to the Directors
for their consideration within a reasonable time after convening the
meetings. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection
by all Directors.
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Attendance Record of Directors, Board Committee
Members in 2023

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings and one AGM were
held. The attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the
Directors, Board Committee members and the general meeting of the
Company are set out as follows:

HE/BTEERE
Number of Meetings Attended/Held

2023F BE HERK

= REBFAE Ezg R&ZEE FWzEg #itZ88 BREES
Nomination Remuneration Audit ESG

Director 2023 AGM Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
HTES
Executive Directors
TH##+ Ms. Wang Meng n 4/4 "
AR % 4" Mr. Yao Xusheng'” 11 33
#1EZ L Ms. Xie Rao 1/1 4/4 11
fE$% &£ Ms. Zhou Rui 11 4/4 11
EHITES
Non-executive Directors
2411 % 4% Mr. Shum Chiu Hung"” 11
#5385 4 Mr. Bai Xihong 1 4/4 "N "N 11
Zeg 54 Mr. Li Qiang 11 4/4 22
BUFHTEES
Independent non-executive Directors
Z B %A Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian 11 4/4 171 2/2 11
&, L X8 L Dr. Wong Kong Tin 11 4/4 171 2/2
f /N8 £ Dr. Chu Xiaoping 11 4/4 n 11
Wizt - Notes:

O BB T S A 202359 A4H BHE BT E
% °

@ B ER2023F9 AR EE T A
BITES -

o Mr. Yao Xusheng has resigned as executive Director on 4 September

2023.

@ Mr. Shum Chiu Hung has been appointed as non-executive Director on 4
September 2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (chairman), a non-executive Director,
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian and Dr. Chu Xiaoping, two independent
non-executive Directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee of the Company
are as follows:

1. to review the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually
and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board on
the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors;

4.  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the CEO; and

5.  to perform tasks as assigned by the Board from time to time.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidate or incumbent
on criteria such as integrity, experience, skill and ability to commit
time and effort to carry out the duties and responsibilities. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee will then be put to
the Board for decision.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination
Committee was held. The Nomination Committee reviewed the
structure and composition of the Board, assessed the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, made recommendations to
the Board on re-election of retiring Directors at the annual general
meeting, and reviewed the diversity policy and diversity of the Board
members of the Company.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Our Board has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on our Board. The Company
recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board
and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of our Company’s strategic objectives
and sustainable development. Our Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors, including
but not limited to talents, skills, gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, work experience, independence, knowledge
and length of service. We will continue to implement measures and
steps to promote and enhance gender diversity at all levels of our
Company. We will select potential Board candidates based on his/her
individual performance and potential contribution to our Board while
taking into account our board diversity policy and other factors. Our
Company will also take into consideration our own business model
and specific needs from time to time. All Board appointments will
be based on meritocracy and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on our
Board.

Our Board comprises of nine members, including three executive
Board members and all of them are female executive Directors. The
proportion of female members in the Board is approximately 33%.
The Board believes that the gender diversity of the current members
of the Board is satisfactory and the gender diversity of the Board has
been achieved. Our Directors also have a balanced mix of knowledge,
skills and experience, including property management, overall
business management, administrative management, finance and
investment. They obtained degrees in various majors including but
without limitation to business administration, public administration,
economic management, industrial enterprise operation management,
language and law. We have three independent non-executive
Directors who have different industry backgrounds, including auditing
and accounting, law and economy. Furthermore, our Board has
a wide range of age, ranging from 37 to 68 years old. We have
taken and will continue to take steps to promote gender diversity
at all levels of our Company, including but without limitation at our
Board and senior management levels. The Board has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Company’s policy on board
diversity on an annual basis. Taking into account our business model
and specific needs as well as the presence of three female executive
Directors out of a total of nine Board members, we consider that the
composition of our Board satisfies our board diversity policy.
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With regards to gender diversity and succession of the Board, our
board diversity policy further provides that our Board shall consider to
increase the proportion of female members over time when selecting
and making recommendations on suitable candidates for Board
appointments. We will also ensure that there is gender diversity when
recruiting staff at mid to senior level so that we will have a pipeline
of female senior management and potential successors to our Board
going forward. It is our objective to maintain an appropriate balance
of gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
our Board members. The Nomination Committee will review our board
diversity policy and its implementation from time to time to ensure its
implementation and monitor its continued effectiveness.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
functioning. Independent non-executive Directors are invited to
serve in the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee. As regards to the CG Code provision
requiring the Directors to disclose the number and nature of offices
held in public companies or organisations and other significant
commitments as well as the identity of the public companies or
organisations and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have
disclosed their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.

During the Reporting Period, the gender ratio for males to females
of all employees (including senior management) was approximately
3:2, which is comparable to the distribution of similar trades and
specialties in the industry. The Board considers that the Company has
achieved gender diversity in its workforce and will continue to take
measures to provide equal opportunities for employment, training
and career development to promote the diversity of employees at all
levels.

Nomination and Appointment

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-election of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Measurable Targets

The screening of Directors is based on a series of diversified
categories. The Company undertakes to implement the policy of
equal opportunity for all in all respects, without discrimination due to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, race, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and service term or other factors.

Policy Statement

The Company understands that a diversified Board is beneficial to the
improvement of the Company’s performance. The differences in ideas,
background, ways of thinking and working methods may create values
for our stakeholders, particularly for our customers, Shareholders,
employees and the communities managed by us.

Supervision and Report

The Nomination Committee will report the composition of the Board
in terms of diversification in the corporate governance report of the
annual report and supervise the implementation of the policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
namely Dr. Wong Kong Tin (chairman) and Dr. Chu Xiaoping, both
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, a
non-executive Director.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. to review and approve the management’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the corporate goals and objectives
as determined by the Board from time to time;

3. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. These include benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4, to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of
non-executive Directors;
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to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group;

6. to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7.  to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
such arrangements are consistent with contractual terms and are
otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

8.  to ensure that no Director or any of his associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration;

9. to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules; and

10. to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned
by the Board or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Remuneration
Committee was held. The Remuneration Committee reviewed the
remuneration packages for Directors and senior management of
the Company for 2022 and the remuneration policy and structure
for Directors and senior management for 2023 and assessed the
performance of executive Directors.

As the Company has not granted any Award Shares under the Share
Award Scheme during the Reporting Period, the Remuneration
Committee has not reviewed and/or approved any matter in relation
to the Share Award Scheme during the Reporting Period.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, namely
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian (chairman) and Dr. Wong Kong Tin, both
independent non-executive Directors, and Mr. Shum Chiu Hung, a
non-executive Director, in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules.

The principal duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

1. To review the relationship with the auditor by reference to
the work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the auditor;

2. To review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or the auditor before submission to the
Board; and

3. To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system, risk
management systems and associated procedures, including the
adequacy of the resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, two meetings of the Audit Committee
were held. The Audit Committee reviewed the annual results and
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2022, interim results
and interim report for the six months ended 30 June 2023, financial
reporting system, compliance procedures, risk management and
internal control systems (including the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting, the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
audit and financial reporting functions), and the re-appointment
of the external auditor. The Board has not deviated from any
recommendation given by the Audit Committee on the selection,
appointment, resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also reviewed final results of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2023 as well as the
audit report prepared by the external auditor relating to accounting
issues and major findings in course of audit.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND

GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The ESG Committee currently comprises five members, namely
Mr. Shum Chiu Hung (chairman), a non-executive Director, Ms. Wang
Meng, Ms. Xie Rao and Ms. Zhou Rui, all executive Directors, and
Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brian, an independent non-executive Director.

The principal duties of the ESG Committee are as follows:

1. To direct and review the development of the Group's ESG
management policies and strategies to ensure that they are
up- to-date, relevant and meets applicable legal and regulatory
requirements;

2. To monitor the development and implementation of the Group’s
ESG objectives, including setting the Group’s performance
targets for ESG management; reviewing the progress of
achieving those targets, and advising on the actions required to
achieve those targets;

3. To review the main external ESG trends and report to the
Board the major trends affecting the Group’s ESG policies and
strategies and its objectives setting;

4.  To direct and review the identification and prioritization of the
materiality of ESG issues of the Group;

5. To review annual ESG reports and other ESG-related disclosures,
and make recommendations to the Board for approval;

6. To identify ESG risks and opportunities related to the Group,
assess the impact arising from such risks or opportunities on the
Group, and make recommendations to the Board on responses
to those risks or opportunities; and

7.  Other responsibilities delegated by the Board.

The terms of reference of the ESG Committee are available on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the ESG Committee
was held. The ESG Committee reviewed the development and
implementation of the Group’s ESG management policies, targets and
strategies, as well as the annual ESG reports and other ESG-related
disclosures.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Directors and the senior
management of the Company’s biographies are set out under the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. The details of the remuneration of the Directors are set out
in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.
Remuneration paid to the senior management (excluding Directors)
that consisted of four individuals for the year ended 31 December
2023 is within the range of HKD 1,000,001 to HKD2,000,000.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CONTROL

INTERNAL

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board
for maintaining an adequate risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard the investments of Shareholders and assets of
the Company and reviewing the effectiveness of such systems on an
annual basis.

The Group has established a valid and effectual risk management
system, which is designed to provide reasonable assurance for
achieving the following objectives:

- To control risks in line with overall objectives and within
acceptable level;

- To achieve true and reliable communication of the Company’s
internal and external information;

- To ensure the compliance with laws and regulations;

- To improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the Company’s
operation;

- To ensure the Company’s establishment of risk contingency
plans for every significant risk to enable it not to suffer great
losses due to catastrophic risk or human error.

The Group’s risk management and internal control team plays a
major role in monitoring the internal governance of the Company.
The major responsibilities of the internal control team are regulating
and reviewing the financial conditions and internal control of the
Company, and conducting comprehensive audits of all branches and
subsidiaries of the Company on a regular basis. The Board, the Audit
Committee, the senior management and the internal audit department
are the four levels of structure and main features of risk management
and internal control systems.
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The Board has reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
based on the assessment made by the Board, it is considered that
the Group’'s internal control and risk management systems for
the Reporting Period are effective and adequate for its present
requirements, save as disclosed in the announcement of the Company
dated 21 March 2023. Areas of improvement have been identified
and appropriate measures have been put in place to manage the
risks, including engaging external professional consultants to review
the risk management and internal control of the Group for the
Reporting Period. Where appropriate, their recommendations are
adopted and enhancements to the risk management and internal
controls will be made. As a general control measure, the Group has
maintained a list of connected persons and entities for the monitoring
and identification of connected transaction. The improvement of
the systems of risk management and internal control is an ongoing
process and the Board maintains a continuing commitment to
strengthening the Company’s control environment and processes. The
Board is responsible for the Company’s risk management and internal
control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure to achieve
the business objectives of the Group and to only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

During 2023, the Board also supervised the management’s design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group on
an ongoing basis; such review covered all major control aspects of
the Group, including financial, operational and compliance controls.
The Board also confirmed that there are adequate resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and relevant
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems covered
each operation department, to ensure that the Group could effectively
manage the key factors that might affect the Group in achieving
its strategic objectives, such factors including events, accidents or
behaviors with a material impact on the Group's reputation, assets,
capital, profit or liquidity.

The Group has established the Customer Assistant Center, which
is responsible for the daily supervision and inspection of risk
management of each department, continuous supervision and routine
inspection on fire safety, public security administration, human and
technical defense and emergency management conducted by each
department and in each project in accordance with the Company’s
risk management system, and tracking the implementation of
rectification.
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The Group has a Legal Affairs Center responsible for the legal affairs
of each organization of the Group, confirming and evaluating the
integrity and effectiveness of each organization’s risk management
and internal control systems, and conducting continuous supervision
and routine inspection. Meanwhile, according to national laws and
regulations and industry norms, the systems of the Company and the
current situation of its risk management, the Company organized
and carried out various professional training work to enhance the
legal and compliance awareness of the staff. The risk and compliance
inspection work organized by the Legal Affairs Center covers major
business activities and all branches and subsidiaries.

The Group has an Audit and Supervision Center responsible for
regular and special audits of organizations and handling and resolving
of internal non-compliance incidents and material internal control
defects. The center is independent of each department and audits the
risk management and internal control of each organization according
to the audit plan reviewed by the Audit Committee of the Group. The
Company has full-time audit and supervision personnel. They have
the authority to integrate the Company’s internal audit resources
according to the needs of audit and supervision projects and
establish a joint audit project team, led by the Audit and Supervision
Center and comprising members of the Legal Affairs Center, human
resources and administration center, financial management center
and various business lines, to conduct regular and special audits of
each organization, and investigate and deal with violations by each
organization of regulations and disciplines.

The Group has established a comprehensive risk management system,
which specifies the roles and responsibilities of the management and
the Board in risk management work in compliance with the relevant
risk management and internal control code provisions during the
Reporting Period. On the basis of the system, continuous monitoring
has taken place in relation to the risk management and internal
control systems. Based on the risk management work conducted in
previous years, the management of the Company continues to identify
and evaluate the risks of the Group. The management has analyzed
the changes to core risks by paying attention to market and industry
changes and communicating with the company president and relevant
senior management. The control of core risks is under continuous
monitoring through regular self-inspection and evaluation organized
by each risk management department regarding respective core risks.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Company has the procedures and internal controls for handling
and dissemination of inside information. In practice, employees of
the Group who become aware of any events and/or matters which
he/she considers potentially inside information, will report to the
designated personnel of the Company who, if considered appropriate,
will pass such information to the Board for the purpose of considering
and deciding whether or not such information constitutes inside
information and disclosure of which shall be made as soon as
reasonably practicable.

INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT

The Group’s internal audit department, which serves as the internal
audit function of the Company, plays a major role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company. The internal audit department
determines the main units, business and items and high-risk areas
included in the scope of inspection based on the risk-oriented
principle. The main units included in the scope of inspection consist
of headquarters of the Company and its subsidiaries. The scope of
risk management and internal control inspection covers the major
businesses and matters of the Company’s headquarters and its
subsidiaries, with a focus on high-risk or important business activities
including fund management, environmental management, quality
control, asset management, water and electricity consumption
management, information security management, paid service and
maintenance, parking lot management, lease and sale business
management, sporadic project management, income integrity and
adjustment compliance, daily financial management, outsourcing party
performance management, use of administrative expenses, tendering
and bidding, purchase of materials, diversified operations and daily
administration management. The internal audit team reports to the
Board at least twice on an annual basis.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Audit Committee has received a report of risk management
and internal control prepared by the internal audit team, and has
considered that the risk management and internal control systems
remain adequate and effective throughout the year ended 31
December 2023 with no material issues to be brought to the Board’s
attention.
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Service Offerings

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the auditor’'s approximate
remuneration for providing audit and non-audit services to the
Company is as follows:

SHEAR¥T)
Amount (RMB)

ZERTE 1,780,000
Audit services
EZBRTE
Non-audit services
- PHEEER 1,050,000
— Interim result review
- Efh* 183,027
— Others*
#Et 3,013,027
Total
* H A F 2 EURTE E E R IERESGRE BN & * Other non-audit services mainly consisted of ESG report consultant and
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RRBRAWE - ARFEFHBE A
REEREEARRBANELZ EBBEA ©
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other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has appointed Ms. Ng Sau Mei (“Ms. Ng”, a director
and head of the Listing Services Department of TMF Hong Kong
Limited) as the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Kwok Pak
Shing, the chief financial officer of the Company, serves as her main
internal contact person of the Company.

Ms. Ng has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Company’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance of
transparently and timely disclosure of information of the Company,
which will enable the Shareholders and investors to make the
informed investment decisions.

The annual general meeting provides opportunity for the Shareholders
to communicate directly with the Directors. The Chairman of the
Company and the respective chairman of the Board Committees
will attend the annual general meeting to answer the Shareholders’
questions. The external auditor of the Company will also attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of
the audit, the preparation and contents of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and auditor independence.

In order to promote the transparency, the Group enables the investors
to understand its businesses and operations through its annual general
meeting, extraordinary general meeting, annual report, interim report
and website.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
shareholders’ communication policy which aims at establishing an
on-going communication between the Company and the Shareholders
and maintains a website at www.shidaiwuye.com, where up-to-date
information on the it's business operations and developments,
financial information, corporate governance practices and other
information are available for public access.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy conducted during the year
ended 31 December 2023, including measures and arrangements
for the general meetings, the handling of any queries and the
channel of communication and engagement in place, and confirmed
the effectiveness of such policy. The Company is committed to
maintaining a high level of corporate transparency and designates
specialized personnel to maintain regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them informed of the Company’s
operations and developments.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,
including the election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at Shareholders’ meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant
to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
general meeting.

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE A GENERAL MEETING AND PUT
FORWARD PROPOSALS

The Shareholders who wish to propose resolutions may follow article
64 of the Articles of Association for requisitioning an extraordinary
general meeting and including a resolution at such meeting. Any
one or more Shareholders holding, as at the date of deposit of the
requisition, in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the voting rights
at general meetings in the share capital of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or company
secretary of the Company at the email address: sdllir@timesgroup.cn
to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and add resolutions to the meeting agenda. Such meeting shall
be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be the
principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. More details of
the procedures can be available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about
the Company to the Board could email their enquiries to the
representatives of investor relations of the Company at the email
address: sdllir@timesgroup.cn.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to (i) bring the memorandum and articles of association of
the Company (the “M&A") in line with the new requirements under
the amendments to the Listing Rules; (ii) allow the Company to
hold hybrid and virtual meetings of Shareholders; and (iii) to make
some other consequential and housekeeping amendments, a special
resolution was passed by the Shareholders on 30 May 2023 to adopt
the second amended and restated M&A with effect from the same
date. The second amended and restated M&A are available on the
website of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Ernst & Young LXK FT RN BT
27/F, One Taikoo Place &5 8l &5F Tel T % +852 2846 9888
979 King's Road " EEI795% Fax f2E: +852 2868 4432

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong A& —EE27#  ey.com
To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Times
Neighborhood Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 136 to 266, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the
audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

128  TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



BRABEERERATARR
(RESHETMA LA BR A])

REELEE(E)
BREXSE

Key audit matter

To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BRMNERNMEERARERSER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B R R B M A5 T & A9 6 (B AV 1

Impairment assessment of goodwill and other intangible assets

R2023F12A31H  ¥BEAHEENEERDE
EEANRRFBEANERFESINBARE
123,242,0007T & A R #99,004,0007T - BB E 4
AEFBEAEBRAEAFL -

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying amounts
of goodwill and property management contracts
and customer relationships arising from business
combinations were approximately RMB123,242,000
and RMB99,004,000, respectively. Property
management contracts and customer relationships are
with finite useful lives.

BESFETRENR ROEXEEANREFBE
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Goodwill is tested for impairment annually. For
property management contracts and customer
relationships, the Group assesses at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any indication that
the property management contracts and customer
relationships may be impaired, and tests the property
management contracts and customer relationships for
impairment if such indication exists. The impairment
review of goodwill and property management
contracts and customer relationships performed by the
Group’s management includes a number of significant
judgements and estimates, including those regarding
the identification of operating profit forecasts,
annual revenue growth rates and discount rates of
cash-generating units ("CGUs").

HMWEZEFREEIMERERTHEEBEHESE
MENMEEERORTEFRAESE LR RELRE M
RANEENSEEREBK - e FENEARELRR
mE - HESELETMEEBRNE - PG RERY
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Our audit procedures included an analysis of the rationale
and objective evidence used by management in evaluating
whether there were impairment indicators for individual
property management contracts and customer relationship
arising from business combinations. For any impairment
indicator existed, the related property management
contracts and customer relationships were taken into
further assessment about whether any impairment losses
occur.

BAAERERDEEEAORTEPBEAMEMNEIE
FEFEATEE :

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill
and property management contracts and customer
relationships with impairment indicators included the
following:

. BEANBEEERBHRMNE ERFAREEA
WE e EARANTERFTRE

o Involving internal valuation specialists to assist
us in evaluating the methodologies and discount
rates used by the Company for determining the
recoverable amounts;

g FHEEEENNE[HEMN S & N REBIE:

o Evaluated the competency, capabilities and
objectivity of the management’s external valuer;
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REELEE(E)

BREEZER

To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

BB N MEEREERSEE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMBERES DAREELABRENEERANR
5B (540 B B 1 DA IR B 5 B AR R I A A
Ve 5 B TR 5 ¢

We focused on this area because of the materiality of
the balances of goodwill and property management
contracts and customer relationships, and the complex
and subjective management estimation made by
management on the key assumptions.

EHRRELRMEEEANREFPBANBENGNE
GEt ARt R BEN R A M IE MR ES - 17R18 -

The significant accounting estimates and disclosures
about the impairment assessment of goodwill and
property management contracts and customer
relationships are included in notes 3, 17 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EH A EREEE - fI0E R EEARREA K&
BEENTRR  NERBAEARBRRE H2023F
ERTELBEUMMBERE B

Examining the underlying data used, such as
management’s projection on the future revenues
and operating results by investigating whether
the forecasts were consistent with the financial
performance of each CGU during the year of 2023;

0 I B B PO K B R B RUB 1
B UHESROEEEMMERE

Examining the business development plans and
historical annual growth of each CGU to evaluate
the growth rate of each CGU;

it EEEEEERIEZBRREFNFEMET
HBREDT - &

Assessing the sensitivity analysis performed by the
Group’s management on the impact of changes in
the key assumptions; and

ASENREEEENEEEREER T oSt
HoYEERBEHTRDSENRHESRSES
B8 {37 ) B T (A L 85 -

Testing the mathematical calculation of the forecasts
and carrying values in management’s impairment
model and comparing management’s estimate of
the recoverable amount with the carrying amount of
each CGU.



HERBMEERERATRE To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited

(RESEEFMA BRI F) (Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
EREZEBE(A) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
BAREEXSHE BN ERNAEERREREE

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

FEWE S B L TER S BB 1R

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

K2023F12A31H EEERELBEREMB A
R #395,207,000t #WEBKRESFREARARE
823,543,000t - ESEERBEEEAEREKES
REMAREEER ((AHFEBR) - BEXNE
REEEUEREANZEATF D BARNNREKER
HBMRBEE BREEESVLIER EEENBE
BRENXMEL - ESESRERENIZAIELEE
HARBEEERBELR -

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had trade
receivables of RMB823,543,000, after making loss
allowance of RMB395,207,000. The Group uses a
provision matrix to calculate expected credit losses
("ECLs") for trade receivables. The provision rates
are based on aging or days past due for groupings
of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns. The provision matrix is initially based on the
Group's historical observed default rates. The Group
calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information.

B RKE S HRBEN A KA RRREREREE
FEREKEZRBEHY EEEMEBEAN MR
HEEBENERAELARTIENE BEFEEHEE
1B B A H B R fh5T -

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables
as a key audit matter because the balance of trade
receivables was material to the Group and the
recognition of expected credit losses was inherently
subjective and required the exercise of significant
management’s judgements and estimations.

FHRUESIRENEREEERRBNERE G
A RBEBHENERE P RRM E3R22 -

The significant accounting estimates and disclosures
about the provision for expected credit losses on trade
receivables are included in notes 3 and 22 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B AR E SR BENTEHCEEERRENEZIET
BEATEE:

Our audit procedures to assess the provision for expected
credit losses on trade receivables included the following:

s HERAREBEMAIEREE 28 BHEB
EEEER  BHOXRFAEHESE

o Evaluating and testing the methodologies and data/
parameters used by management, including historical
loss information, probability of default, and expected
losses;

e BBOIMIBERFPAEEEHRLEWREZIRERAE
BEOKEBERATEADITIEENEF

o Executing substantive analytical review procedures
by analysing the fluctuations of major customers’
outstanding balances and trade receivable turnover
days;

e KMBEEEBBANEGRENHARE HEZXER
HMEEXGTEEEEMRENERE 5 HKIER
2023F 12 A3 HMERERIRE M EREE &

o Assessing, on a sampling basis, the correctness of the
ageing report of trade receivables at 31 December
2023 prepared by management by comparing the
sample items with the demand notes, sales invoices
and other relevant underlying documentation; and

o IWREEUL IS WIR K AR R E IR SRS R
B RBANEREEBR

o Testing, on a sampling basis, the subsequent

settlement of trade receivables to cash receipts and
the related supporting documentation.
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BERREERNETEEE BEEENBR
TRENEEREEARES WY -

To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with IFRSs issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.
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To the shareholders of Times Neighborhood Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Hui Kin Fai, Stephen.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

HZE20234F12 A31 HIEEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

H et 2023%F 20224
Notes 2023 2022
ARBT T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
A REVENUE 5 2,471,305 2,606,042
& B AR Cost of sales 7 (1,955,600) (2,050,148)
EH Gross profit 515,705 555,894
H AU A R S Other income and gains 6 95,685 28,181
HE R ThiGH#H ER A Selling and marketing costs (41,108) (30,746)
THAX Administrative expenses (276,942) (341,740)
SRRk EREERE Net impairment losses on financial and
(SR hE -] contract assets 7 (96,547) (372,226)
B Other expenses (373,967) (82,748)
B & AR AN Finance costs 8 (497) (1,076)
pal (RN B E Share of profits and losses of associates 19 1,629 (3,885)
BRELRIEE LOSS BEFORE TAX 7 (176,042) (248,346)
e (X)) e Income tax (expense)/credit 11 (28,428) 48,751
FEEE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (204,470) (199,595)
T3 & IBFEAG ¢ Attributable to:
S AREE A Owners of the parent (201,763) (213,627)
T2 I HE 2 Non-controlling interests (2,707) 14,032
(204,470) (199,595)
BARLBERSIZEA LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
Elh TR E R ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT 14
HAREE(USRARE Basic and diluted (expressed in RMB
S5R) cents per share) (21) (22)
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mEZHWARX
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HZE 2023912 431 HIEFE  Year ended 31 December 2023

20235 20224
2023 2022
ARBT ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FEEE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (204,470) (199,595)
H 2w KA OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REEHBAIE#H HEEE2EH  Other comprehensive loss that may be reclassified
HEf2MEEE : to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
BE N B A R IERERE Exchange differences on translation of financial
fEH =% statements of overseas subsidiaries (17,686) (104,345)
REEBRRE T2 EHFHEEEZ Other comprehensive income that will not be
B E M 2 E A - reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods:
MERNTMBHMERMOER =5 Exchange differences on translation of financial
statements of the Company 17,906 106,043
FEHEMEEBA OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 220 1,698
FEEEBRRE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (204,250) (197,897)
T3 & IBREAS : Attributable to:
ISYNCIEZFS PN Owners of the parent (201,543) (211,929)
FEVERR 42 2 Non-controlling interests (2,707) 14,032
(204,250) (197,897)
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A B AR R &R

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023412 H31H 31 December 2023

=3 20234 20224
Notes 2023 2022
ARE TR AREEF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME BENEZE Property, plant and equipment 15 79,605 92,607
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 5,482 10,499
e Goodwill 17 123,242 485,185
HinER EE Other intangible assets 18 165,023 221,321
REEE RN AR E Investments in associates 19 68,796 68,947
LL%RIEQE Deferred tax assets 20 124,891 113,609
FERRIE ek Prepayments, deposits and
ﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬂﬂlm other receivables 24 2,642 5,883
ERBEELTE Total non-current assets 569,681 998,051
mEEE CURRENT ASSETS
FE Inventories 21 3,121 3,371
F’iﬂﬁzf’f Trade receivables 22 823,543 800,475
SEER }Ei\& Prepayments, deposits and
E@FEHQM other receivables 24 255,517 303,591
PR il fﬂfﬂ_m Restricted bank deposits 25 22,626 13,036
ReRBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 25 918,740 810,359
2,023,547 1,930,832
iﬁ%ﬁ{’ﬁﬂj’%ﬂ’] Assets of disposal groups classified as held
HEHRIE E for sale 12 11,555 -
REEEHEE Total current assets 2,035,102 1,930,832
nEEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
EIE 5 5E Trade payables 26 550,397 560,436
H b e 3 IE&J?E?IE =] Other payables and accruals 27 358,416 376,747
a SRBE Contract liabilities 5 95,453 79,040
%E’;EJT Lease liabilities 16(b) 4,643 6,602
ANE TN Tax payable 39,560 51,059
BT #8 BY Government grants 786 324
TLIEE AR AE FS A B OL EAME A Financial liability for a put option written
TRAE on non-controlling interests 28 52,230 -
1,101,485 1,074,208
O AEERE Y Liabilities directly associated with the assets
éf@ﬁ%z HEz B E classified as held for sale 12 10,155 =
mBBELRE Total current liabilities 1,111,640 1,074,208
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 923,462 856,624
EELAERARBES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,493,143 1,854,675
continued/...
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Notes 2023 2022
AR®F ARBFTT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EEAERRBER TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,493,143 1,854,675
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEBE Lease liabilities 16(b) 3,995 7,607
EERIB S E Deferred tax liabilities 20 25,949 35,439
b IR A A 2 SR B SR HA A Financial liability for a put option written
WemBaE on non-controlling interests 28 - 121,641
SERB B EEE Total non-current liabilities 29,944 164,687
EEFRE Net assets 1,463,199 1,689,988
E EQUITY
BATREEAEMESR Equity attributable to owners
of the parent
(N Share capital 29 8,868 8,868
TR R A B A MRS Shares held for the share award scheme (22,198) (22,198)
& Reserves 30 1,364,325 1,583,274
1,350,995 1,569,944
F 12 AR 2 Non-controlling interests 112,204 120,044
ERAE Total equity 1,463,199 1,689,988
B &5
Wang Meng Zhou Rui
== =
Director Director
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REEZSH X

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HZE 2023912 A31 HIEFE  Year ended 31 December 2023

BARERARL
Attributable to owners of the parent
BRE
L4 RE | EERS
Bx  KENRE RHEE AhEE MEE RORBERE ESGE ERE B5AE Rit FERER BREE
Shares held
for the share Statutory Share Non-
Share award Share Merger surplus award Exchange Other Retained controlling Total
capital scheme premium reserve funds reserve reserve Reserve profits Total interests equity
AREFL  ABETL ARETR AREFLT  ARETZ  ARKETL ARETZ AREFZT  AREFT  ARETL AREFZ AREFZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(fi29)  (Wis0)  (Bi306)  (KEsom)  (BE300)  (BiEse) (Hi30e) (Hi28)
(note 29)  (note 30(d))  (note 30(a)) (note 30(b)) (note 30(c)) (note 30(d)) (note 30(e)) (note 28)
R023E1F18 At 1 January 2023 8,868 (22,198) 1,283,516 (26,400) 103,102 9,688 (80,547) (125,442) 419,357 1,569,944 120,044 1,689,988
FEFE Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (201,763)  (201,763) 2,707)  (204,470)
FEAHZAUA Other comprehensive
income for the year - - - - - - 20 - - 20 - 20
EEREFBEE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - - - - - 20 - (201,763) (201,543) (2,707) (204,250)
JFEREREE  Capital injection from a
non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - 1,200 1,200
HE—FHEBAR Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - (868) (868)
BETETRS  Tranfer to statutory
NES surplus funds - - - - 3N - - - (33271) - - -
IWREEES  Equitysettled share
RAZB:E  award scheme - - - - - 4,279 - - - 4,219 - 4219
BAFEERBR  Dividends paid to
k& non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (5,465) (5,465)
ER2022F Final 2022 dividend
RERE declared - - (21,685) - - - - - - (21,685) - (21,685)
H2023E12831R At 31 December 2023 8868 (2198) 1261831+ (6400 136373+ 1397 (8032)* (125442 184323* 1350995 112204 1463199
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BRREAAEL

Attributable to owners of the parent

ARGED
HEEED EERE  RGEB
o RH  ROEE  AHEE NiEa FE  ERRE  AbEG BEHE ai  FARER  EafE
Shares held
for the share Statutory Share Non-
Share award Share Merger surplus award Exchange Other Retained controlling Total
capital scheme premium reserve funds reserve reserve Reserve profits Total interests equity

ANREFT  ANREFT  ARETT ARETr ARETn  AREFr AREFr ARETr  AREFrn  AREFr  ARETr  ARETL
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
(W) (W) (Wis0e)  (Wasow)  (Wiso0)  (BEs0)  (WiEe) (Wi
(note29)  (note 30(c)  (note 30(@)  (note 30(b)  (note 30(c))  (note 30(d)  (note 30(e)) (note 28)

R2022E1 518 At 1 January 2022 8,868 (22,198) 1,329,843 (26,400) 86,477 6,279 (82,245) (125,442) 649,609 1,824,791 108,578 1,933,369
TEER Loss for the year - - - - - - - - (213,627) (213,627) 14,032 (199,595)
EERMGEE  Other comprehensive

WA income for the year = = = - - - 1,698 - - 1,698 - 1,698
EE2EEE  Total comprehensive loss

ek for the year - - - - - - 1,698 - (213,627) (211,929) 14,032 (197,897)

SERERTE  Capital injection from a

non-controlling interest - - - - - - - - - - 528 528
HE-EHBAF Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 136 136
BETETRS  Transfer to statutory
NES surplus funds - - - - 16,625 - = = (16,625) = = =
IREEEHRD Equity-settled share
REyaral award scheme - - - - - 3,409 - - - 3,409 - 3,409
ERFEER Dividends paid to
RERE non-controlling
shareholders - - - - - - - - - - (3,230) (3,230)
ER01E Final 2021 dividend
RERE declared - - (46,327) - - - - - - (46,327) - (46,327)
20229128318 At 31 December 2022 8,868 (22,198) 1,283 516* (26,400)* 103,102* 9,688* (80,547)%  (125,442)* 419,357% 1,569,944 120,044 1,689,988
* ZEFBERBKAE S MR R AR S These reserve accounts comprise the reserves of RMB1,364,325,000
15 AR #1,364,325,0007T (20224 : A (2022: RMB1,583,274,000) in the consolidated statement of financial
2 #1,583,274,0007T) ° position.

B EBBEIZERARAT /2023 F£F5 141



mEBRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE20234F12 A31 HIEEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

ks 2023%F 20224
Notes 2023 2022
ART T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
RETHFBSRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
BRELRIEE Loss before tax (176,042) (248,346)
HE Adjustments for:
B & A A Finance costs 8 497 1,076
DI E R RER Share of profits and losses of associates (1,629) 3,885
RIT R B A Bank interest income 6 (9,803) (1,848)
Y- BERZETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 15 19,125 18,557
FREEETE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 5,821 5,111
By & E#H Amortisation of other intangible assets 18 56,628 52,121
RN A R EERE Net impairment loss on financial and
B85 %8 contract assets 7 96,547 372,226
LEME  BEK Loss on disposal of items of property,
BREEE M EE plant and equipment 451 358
FAEAE s EAMENRE Gain on derecognition of right-of-use
M ILERERAEEE assets for a sublease classified as a
B 15 W &= finance lease - (184)
HERAKR LR Loss/(gain) upon early termination of a
&8, (W) lease 929 (170)
HERAREBEFEELETA Gain on disposal of financial assets at fair
BN E s Em RS value through profit or loss 6 (2,604) (3,069)
BEETNEFMHEE Government grants released to profit or
loss 6 (3,917) (4,305)
ROHHEN AR EBEKR Fair value gain on put option 6 (69,411) (3,801)
HENB AR ZER Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 742 136
HE—HBE R R ZEE Loss on disposal of an associate - 127
VAR # 45 B &9 B 19 Equity-settled share award scheme
EEN T8I F X expense 30(d) 4,279 3,409
EESNCHED Impairment of goodwill 17 361,651 80,770
HibER A ERE Impairment of other intangible assets 18 2,960 776
286,224 276,829
TR (38 m) Decrease/(increase) in inventories 250 (1,936)
FEUW BE 5 RIEIE N Increase in trade receivables (63,811) (18,817)
SREBEERD Decrease in contract assets 567 2,320
FENFIE - ZE R Increase in prepayments, deposits and
H b & WK TE 8 N other receivables (19,986) (61,028)
S E 5 RIER D Decrease in trade payables (5,961) (9,166)
E e 3k IE R FERTIE B Decrease/(increase) other payables
A (38 ) and accruals (11,290) 7,497
AREBEENMN CED) Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities 17,672 (49,093)
I I 478 B 38 N Increase in government grants 4,379 2,708
PR %I 87 17 17 2k 48 A0 Increase in restricted bank deposits (9,590) (1,712)
continued/...
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HiaE 20234 20224

Notes 2023 2022
ART T ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
KERSIRE Cash generated from operations 198,454 147,602
B ERH Income tax paid (60,194) (74,420)
RETEFEBELSRETE Net cash flows from operating activities 138,260 73,182
REEEHMEBRERE CASH FLOWS FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
U B # F1] B Interest received 9,803 1,848
BEWE  WELXEEB Purchase of items of property, plant and
equipment (11,524) (11,258)
HEWE  BMENMEEIER Proceeds from disposal of items of property,
B P15 K18 plant and equipment 1,222 358
BE HRHEMEREE Purchase/development of other intangible
assets (3,380) (19,287)
BENAAREBEEFEXFA Purchase of financial assets at fair value
B EemEE through profit or loss (617,300) (2,035,112)
HEUARBEGEIFTA Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
BENESmEENERIE fair value through profit or loss 619,904 2,038,181
m—EHE A RNEE Capital injection to an associate - (800)
gidlop =N Acquisitions of subsidiaries - (3,133)
HE—REEAaRE Disposal of an investment in an associate 1,780 363
B KB A A Disposal of subsidiaries 885 -
I EY — [ Bt & A /) AR B, Dividend received from an associate - 8,277
& M A Bl 2R Advances for disposal of subsidiaries 900 -
5 & 0B B /Y Compensation paid for contract violation
ERAEAOAMIMNBEE for business combination - (2,000)
WRFHEKREFEE Receipt of net investment in the lease 2,032 3,148
WRETERE (FTA) Net cash flows from/(used in) investing
HEREFHE activities 4,322 (19,415)
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MERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HZE20234F12 A31 HIEEE  Year ended 31 December 2023

i it 2023%F 20224
Notes 2023 2022
ART T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REETBHFESRERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
IR E ST E Capital injection from non-controlling
interests 1,200 528
B F| A Interest paid (497) (968)
HENZHAREZ D Principal portion of lease payments (7,305) (8,672)
BERE Dividends paid (21,685) (46,327)
BT IR R AR R AR B Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (5,465) (3,230)
Rl & E B AT A Net cash flows used in financing
RERERE activities (33,752) (58,669)
HENBEEEY NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH
#gm/ CRd) BE AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 108,830 (4,902)
FNESNREEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
year 810,359 814,329
SN [EE =R 5 Eh 5 2R BR Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,
net 123 932
FEREEREESZEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF YEAR 919,312 810,359
BERBRESEYEH D4 ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS
H & MIRTT 48R Cash and bank balances 25 941,366 823,395
B 2R IR ITF K Less: Restricted bank deposits 25 (22,626) (13,036)
SFADHEARBELED Cash and cash equivalents included in
HEMARNNEE & disposal groups classified as held for sale
ReEEY 12 572 =
ReRERFANRE R Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
BEEEY statement of cash flows 919,312 810,359
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Bt 35 8 AR B R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

General information

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 12 July 2019. The registered office address
of the Company is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George Town,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. The Company’s
shares became listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 19 December 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Company’s subsidiaries were involved in the provision
of property management and other relevant services in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding company
of the Company is Best Source Ventures Limited, which was
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”), and the
ultimate holding company is Renowned Brand Investments
Limited (“Renowned Brand”), which was incorporated in the
BVI. Renowned Brand is wholly owned by Mr. Shum Chiu Hung
(“Mr. Shum”), the founder of the Company and the Group.
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Bt %5 3 2R MY &

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

1. RAREEESR (&)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

AMEY/ ERTLERA/ AR FEARA
&8 RIREE Y Ef R A BEAL TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company
establishment registered E# F Principal

Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities
BNTRADEERERAA hE/PERY,/ AR% NEER
(TRMTBRNEER]) (H5 D) 199812 418H 1,000,000,0007

Guangzhou Times Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/  RMB1,000,000,000 - 100 Property
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Times Property 18 December 1998 management
Management”) (note (b))

BNTRASECRERERAR hE/PER/ AR% - 100 REER
(TRMTBRABE]) (F e )) 200948 A31A 1,500,000,0007

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Enterprise PRC/Chinese Mainland/  RMB1,500,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Management Co., Ltd ("Guangzhou 31 August 2009
Times Neighborhood") (note (a))
ENEENEERARAR hE/REAL,/  AR9,000,0007 - 100 NEER
(TRME=Z]) (b )) 199542 A28H

Guangzhou Wanning Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB9,000,000 - 100 Property
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Wanning") 28 February 1995 management
(note (b))
ERTRENEERERAA hE/wEML,/  ARKS,000,000% - 100 L]
(MBEmER]) (FEb) 200814168

Qingyuan Rongtai Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB5,000,000 - 100 Property
Co., Ltd. ("Qingyuan Rongtai") (note (b)) 16 January 2008 management
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PEIREBER (F) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)
Fi A R 2 B () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
ARABEEWB AR ZFBHOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(&) (continued)

iRMEY/ BROLERE/ ADARERAE

&8 RIRSE Y Ef R A BEAL TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company
establishment registered E# F Principal
Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities
BRRFAT RS (BN ERAA hE/ AR,/ ARE00,000,0007 - 100 WEER
(Bt (b)) 200456 A3H BRft T 3K «“IHW
Guangzhou Dongkang Property Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB100,000,000 - 100 Property management
Service Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 3 June 2004 and provision of
municipal sanitation
services
ERERERERAR hE/ AR/ ARE10,000,0007 - 70 EREE
(T=E%)) (Hzb) 199612 A19R HER#E
Joan Elevator (Guangdong) Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 70 Installation, sale
("Joan Elevator”) (note (b)) 19 December 1996 and maintenance of
elevators
BMBECEERARA hE/ AR/ AR%5000,0007 - 100 REER
(TAMER ) (b )> 202056A18H
Xuzhou Mengmu Enterprise Management PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMBS5,000,000 - 100 Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Xuzhou Mengmu") (note (b)) 18 June 2020 holding
BNTHERMMEERAA hE/ AR,/ ARE00,000,0007 - 100 BRERE
(TEMTBEZ L)) (b)) 2015512228
Guangzhou Linli Zhilian Technology Co., PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB100,000,000 = 100 Construction
Ltd. ("Guangzhou Neighborhood 22 December 2015 and installation

Intelligent”) (note (b))

BENmERBEABENEERA e/ HERL,/  AK#10,0000007 - 100 REGSRMERS
(TEMTRABER]) (HaHb )) 20149428

Guangzhou Times Linlibang Network PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 = 100 Provision of
Technology Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Times 2 September 2014 information
Linlibang”) (note (b)) technology services
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Bt %5 3 2R MY &

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

1. REAIREEER (&

MEQRZER (&)

ARABETEMBRARZFHBHOT :

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(&) (continued)
AMEY/ ERTLERA/ AR FEARA
&8 RIRSE Y Ef R A BEAL TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company
establishment registered E# F Principal

Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities

BNTRASERRHHEARAA hE/hEM,/  ARB20,000,0007 - 100 RERRRS
(TEMTRRBERR]) (H0) 201948A26H

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB20,000,000 - 100 Provision of
Environmental Protection Technology Co., 26 August 2019 environmental
Ltd. ("Guangzhou Times Neighborhood protection services
Environmental Protection”) (note (b))

ENTEBNEERERAA hE/RERY,  ARES000,0007 - 100 NEER
(TRMER]) (B5E0) 2006412 86A

Guangzhou Haoging Property Services PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB5,000,000 - 100 Property management
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Haoging") 6 December 2006
(note (b))

ENTERERRARAR hE/hEM,/  ARB10,000,0007 - 100 BRREE
(TEMERE]) (Frzkb) 2020545178

Guangzhou Yigizhu Home Furnishing PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction and
Co., Ltd. ("Guangzhou Yigizhu") 17 April 2020 installation
(note (b))

EERENERBERAR hE/hEM,/  ARB20,408200% - 51 NEER
(T En ) (H5Eb) 2009%7R7H

Shanghai Kejian Property Services Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB20,408,200 - 51 Property management
("Shanghai Kejian") (note (b)) 7 July 2009

RBEERTRRERAA hE/EML/  ARE20,000,0007 - 80 REER
(TR#&E]) (FEb) 2018A2A 128

Chengdu Holytech Technology Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB20,000,000 - 80 Investment holding

("Chengdu Holytech”) (note (b))

12 February 2018
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PEIREBER (F) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)
Fi A R 2 B () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
ARREBEWBRARIZHBOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(%) (continued)

iRMEY/ BROLERE/ ADARERAE

&8 RIRSE Y Ef R A BEAL TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company

establishment registered E# F Principal

Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities

RBLERTNERBERRA hE/mEAL,/  ARS000,0007 - 80 nEER
(regm=z]) (Hb) 200757128

Chengdu Holytech Property Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB5,000,000 - 80 Property

("Holytech Property”) (note (b)) 12 July 2007 management

ENTRRBZEEERAA hE/hER,/  ARES51,000,0007 - 100 AmHE
(Bt (b)) 2020587128

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Xingxuan PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB51,000,000 - 100 Sale of goods
Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 12 August 2020

ENTRRBEELERERAR hE/HEAL,/  AR%10,000,0007 - 100 h i R
GE) 2020%8R7H

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Zhiye PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Agency

Management Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 7 August 2020 service

BNmRRBEREARAR hE/RER,  ARE10,000,0007 - 100 EERB
(& D) 20205107 16H

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Advertisement

Advertisement Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 16 October 2020 service
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B 3% R 3R B R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

1. RRAREBEER (& 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)
Fi A R 2 B () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
ARREBEWBRARIZHBOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(%) (continued)

iRMEY/ BROLERE/ ADARERAE

E4 RIRSE Y T RA BREMH TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company

establishment registered B & Principal

Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities

BERBERTARAE (MHb) B/ REAL,/  AR¥100,000,0007 - 100 ERRE

2020437128 HER#E

Guangdong Times Neighborhood PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB100,000,000 - 100 Installation, sale

Electromechanics Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 12 March 2020 and maintenance

of elevators

ENTBRBEESHTRERAA RE/REIRM,  ARE10,000,0007 - 100 BRRRE
(M) 2020487178

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Decoration PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction

Engineering Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 17 August 2020 and installation

BLUTBRBEESTRERAA RE/REIR,  ARE10,000,0007 - 100 BRRZE
(WD) 20204128288

Foshan Times Neighborhood Decoration PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB10,000,000 - 100 Construction

Engineering Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 28 December 2020 and installation

ENTRABZEEEERE hE/wER,/ ARE50,000,0007 - 100 nEER
AR A (b)) 202068A78

Guangzhou Times Neighborhood Smart Life PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB 150,000,000 - 100 Property

Service Co., Ltd. (note (b)) 7 August 2020 management
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PEIREBER (F) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

(continued)
Fi A R 2 B () Information about subsidiaries (continued)
ARREBEWBRARIZHBOT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(%) (continued)

iRMEY/ BROLERE/ ADARERAE

&8 RIRSE Y Ef R A BREMH TEED
Percentage of
Place of Issued equity attributable
incorporation/ ordinary/ to the Company
establishment registered E# F Principal
Name and operations share capital Direct Indirect activities
BUTEXNEERERAA BB/ REMM/2007F  AR2,0000007% - 100 LS
(T8 E]) (A5Eb) 117168
BImERENEEEER A Heshan PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB 2,000,000 - 100 Property
Jianmei Property Management Co., Ltd. 16 November 2007 management

("Heshan Jianmei") (note (b))

ENEREECERBERAR hE/mEAL,/  AR1,000,0007 - 100 BRERR
(THREE] (F3Eb) 2023518178

BEMEREEREREER DA Guangzhou PRC/Chinese Mainland/ RMB1,000,000 - 100 Investment
Shidai Xinhui Enterprise Service Co.,Ltd. 17 January 2023 holding

("Shidai Xinhui") (note (b))
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B 3% R 3R B R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

RAREEEHR (&

MEQRZER (&)

ARABETEMBRARZFHBHOT :
(&)

EEPEEMMKEERAMNEX
HM ARRARFEEEB =%
ERANPXEBREAENZKS
N BARZERALEEMERD
S Y

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
(continued)

The English names of all group companies registered in the PRC
represent the best efforts made by the directors of the Company
to translate the Chinese names of these companies as they do
not have any official English names.

Haz - Notes:

(@) BEIBEEIAMARINEEED (a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the laws
ES of the PRC

(b) WEPBEARFIMARNEDE (b) Registered as domestic enterprises under the laws of the PRC

ERAIIREZR/IERELR
BEEXERBUNAKEEEFE
BEABAZARBMBRA -EF
R HIEMHERARFERS
RIEBRITE -

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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@ AKRENREEIBERSRE-

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
(which include all International Financial Reporting Standards,
International Accounting Standards (“1ASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for certain financial assets which have been
measured at fair value. Disposal groups held for sale are stated
at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair values less
costs to sell as further explained in note 2.4. These financial
statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values
are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

2.1 HEEE (&) 2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

REEXE (&)

MERRMNTERER TN EARE]
HRMREHRAEE —HNSat
BERmHE-WBARNEEELAE
BERGENEEBESAS AR X
BESSANREZARZEHIREL
ZBALE-

1B ME 2w YA B & (B AR AR
DEBRASESRRHEA AN
Z R R an - B GE bt 2R B R R R AR
SR AERR - TR EAREE X
BRAZHAZRGBHEZEBAR
RHEERAE #x  BA X
R RENEAREBF2HAH -

WEFERBERBER LA EH#E=
EE2ZEh —EzAL#ET K&
BeEGSENENRESR K
BRARNMMARERELEES (MY
RREEDE) BEER AR -

fiel A 5= [ 25 25 — FR] PI JB8 2 ) O 422 1
o AERILEREREE (BEE
B)  AE - EASHERESMEL
KB LHEBEAERERE
MRREBERBEAEMMELD
BHBHER - LANEMEEEA
R AREREKRDETER
BHASEEZLERBEESLR
BRRERMNERELEERHBEE
Sk B -

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss
of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and
recognises the fair value of any investment retained and any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendment to IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
and IFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendment to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised IFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(a) Amendments to IAS 1 require entities to disclose their
material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to IFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b)

Amendments to IAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the
Group’s approach and policy align with the amendments,
the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow
the scope of the initial recognition exception in IAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and
a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. Since the Group did not apply
the initial recognition exception and recognise a deferred
tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences for transactions related to leases prior to the
initial application of these amendments, the amendments
had no impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to
Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when
Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which
the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did
not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE IFRSs

The Group has not applied the following revised IFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised IFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to IFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to IAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)"*

Amendments to IAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
and IFRS 7

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised
to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the
impact of these revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far, the
Group considers that these revised IFRSs may result in changes in
accounting policies but are unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group's results of operations and financial position.
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Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or
joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group’s investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses.

Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s investments in the associates or joint ventures, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates or joint ventures is included as part of the Group’s
investments in associates or joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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(continued)
Business combinations and goodwiill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition
date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in
host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum of
this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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(continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its certain financial assets at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or
the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:
Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the
end of each reporting period.
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(continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, financial assets and deferred
tax assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-
generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated
to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest
group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each of the reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an
asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of
any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in
which it arises.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);
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(continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
Group or to the parent of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Building 5%
Leasehold improvements 18% to 50%
Motor vehicles 19% to 32%
Office equipment 10% to 48%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready for
use.
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(continued)
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held
for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally
through a sales transaction rather than through continuing use.
For this to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be
available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only
to terms that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets
or disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All
assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group
are reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after
the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than investment
properties and financial assets) classified as held for sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying amounts and fair
values less costs to sell. Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets classified as held for sale are not depreciated or
amortised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)
Software, contract costs and licences

Software, contract cost and licenses are stated at cost less any
impairment loss and are amortised on the straight-line basis over
the estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

Property management contracts and customer
relationships

Property management contracts and customer relationships
acquired in business combinations are recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. The property management contracts and
customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at
cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of
the respective contracts of 2 to 20 years.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete
and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Development cost is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Development cost not yet available for use is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may
be impaired. Development cost is reclassified to software when
available for use.

BB RERR AR / 2023 % 169



B 3% R 3R B R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

2.4 EREFHE (8) 2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

HE

REBREHNRBBFEEHNES
RUBEHE HENSBRINKE
m#e FE—BERREGERbE
EERANERN  AZe0RKEs

REBEREREA

AEBEEAEEE (EEHEERE
EEEEMEERN KNE AR
RETA - AKERAEEREMN
EHBEENN MEREEERE
FItERRE ER R -

(@) EREEE

EREEERHEERS BB (A
HEAEE A fE R A H) i
R EREEERKAGE
MR EF REH T E KRR ES
B UYHRBEEABENEMER
AEELAR -ERAREEN
RABREECHERNEERES
B EBEENNBEERRAE
AR R e B B sk 2 A/l AT {E 8
MEMNK  BEEFREKREE
HE - ERREENERER
BEMNBEB LG IERES
(ABEERE)NENT :

B ey
B =4

MR AR RSTHEEENTE
BEREZEAEEHARARKR
BEEEENITE  AFTER
REENE A ERFENE -

(continued)
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost,
less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The
cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as

follows:
Buildings 2 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 3 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

170  TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



24 ERESFTHEEK (1)

HE (&)

FEBEREEA (B)

(b)

HEAE

HEBEREEMG B HRE
78 83 7% 1 B9 10 & A RO 3R
BHER HENREEEE M
K (BREEE LEEFENMNR)
R AL AR W AR ER R - BURR
—IRERE L R A EHEN
FIARREER TEF KT
NERE - HENKTABEAR
SEAEREMSTENEE
EEENITEENMEHEER
RRRASEITEREFER I
HEMNBATXNHRIEEE
B ET R o ABURM — RSB
b R oy m] A B 5 SR 51 B AT
FREF R R 3 A R B A
FER AR °

EAAEREMNRHBRER - 4
BErEFGETHETHNREH
XoAAEEe®EAEERR
BHIRRE B KA X - A B
iz HEABESHEMRKR
FB B RFE T 0 K B R
ME MM o b5 - fdH
ek HBMAZE HEMK
B2 (WARREENKEE
BB MES) ABE
HEEENEERZFHELE
2 HERBEMNKREERE
HaEtE e

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable. After the commencement date,
the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the
accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of certain buildings
and motor vehicles (that is those leases that have a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipment that is considered to be of low
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in
revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases. At the commencement date,
the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present value of
the lease payments and related payments (including the initial
direct costs), and presented as a receivable at an amount equal
to the net investment in the lease. The finance income on the
net investment in the lease is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate of return
over the lease terms.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified
as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-
of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease is
a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-balance
sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease
as an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group's business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.
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(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit
or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.
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(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that
result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At the end of each of the reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date
of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group
considers that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in
default when internal or external information indicates that the
Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.
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(continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

Stage 1 Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs with policies as described above.

178  TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



24 ERESFTHEEK (1)

TWMas
R RTE

SRE BRI ERE DA A
ABEFBLHABRNEBAE
BB 30IE -

FrEERAEYTPRARBEER
B8 IR - AR B MG
XA o

AEENEREERERES REM
FEfTFRIR ~ BLOFE AR s 2R B R4
HENTRAEEREERE-

RETE

CRABHREFEIARESE
o

KR 7BEG B ARz 2 8
BE

WA EE B AR RS R
B AR IEREE HAS A ERR
A4 BB 1 5E B IA D o B (6T
A5 AR D BB -

HEMBENELEBNRROHE
MBE HEoBARKEEE %D
BTERASEREBEEBRYBRSE
#E R 95 P SR E 2 1 B R R B4R
ERHPTAZITAESRMTA B
YRAAVTET AN BREHEE
ETAETE BRIFEREEREX
MR TARSERR -FHEEE
BEMNKRHBRNBERAER -
RERSRANBEINAABERES
BRAFEATBEAZEFREE
PAT U ER B AR ART A2 o

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
financial liability for a put option written on non-controlling
interests and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value
gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss does
not include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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(continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss are designated at the initial date of
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains
or losses on liabilities designated at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except
for the gains or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk
which are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to the statement of profit or loss. The
net fair value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit
or loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables)

Trade and other payables are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit
or loss.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Shares held for the share award scheme

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group under the share award scheme are
recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net
realisable value is based on the estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position
comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of generally within three months
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value and held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flow,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group's cash management.
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(continued)
Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. When the Group
expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, the
reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset, but only when
the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a
provision is presented in the statement of profit or loss net of
any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
each reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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(continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of each reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit or
loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods and services is transferred to the customer at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment
by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted
for the effects of a significant financing component, using the
practical expedient in IFRS 15.

(a) Property management services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly or quarterly
basis and recognises it as revenue in the amount to which
the Group has a right to invoice and that corresponds
directly with the value of performance completed.

For property management services income from properties
managed under a lump sum basis, where the Group acts
as a principal and is primarily responsible for providing the
property management services to the property owners,
the Group recognises the fee received or receivable from
property owners as its revenue and all related property
management costs as its cost of services.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

(b)

Community value-added services

Community value-added services mainly include daily value-
added services and brokerage services provided to property
owners and residents and the sale of goods. Revenue from
daily services is recognised when the services are rendered.
Revenue from brokerage services is recognised at a point
in time when a buyer/lessee and a seller/lessor execute a
legally binding agreement and performance obligations are
satisfied. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately when the community value-added services are
rendered to the customer.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners mainly
include construction site services, sales assistance services,
pre-delivery cleaning services, construction and installation
services and brokerage services provided to non-property
owners. The Group agrees the price for each service with
the customers upfront and issues the monthly bill to the
customers which varies based on the actual level of services
completed in that month. Revenue from value-added
services to non-property owners except for brokerage
services is recognised over time when the services are
rendered. Revenue from brokerage services is recognised
at a point in time when a buyer/lessee and a seller/lessor
execute a legally binding agreement and the performance
obligations are satisfied.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(d) Professional services

Professional services mainly include the installation, sale
and maintenance of elevators, intelligent engineering and
municipal sanitation. Revenue from sales commission, and
the sale of elevators and elevator parts is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the end customer and revenue from the provision of other
professional services is recognised when the services are
rendered. The Group agrees the price for each service with
the customers upfront and issues the bills to the customers
which vary based on the actual level of services completed
in that month.

Other income

Interest income is recognised, on an accrual basis, using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument of the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment, details of
which are included in the accounting policies for impairment of
financial assets. They are reclassified to trade receivables when
the right to the consideration becomes unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services
to the customer).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, costs
incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an
asset if all of the following criteria are met:

(a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
contract that the entity can specifically identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customer of the goods or
services to which the asset relates. Other contract costs are
expensed as incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share award scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (”equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. Further
details of fair values are given in note 30 to the financial
statements.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an
associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of an award
unless there are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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(continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date
of modification. Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it
is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain proportion
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to the statement of profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for the
employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Other employee benefits (continued)

Housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

Employees of the Group in Chinese Mainland are entitled to
participate in various government-supervised housing funds,
medical insurances and other social insurance plan. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based on certain
percentages of the salaries of the employees on a monthly basis.
The Group's liability in respect of these funds is limited to the
contribution payable in each year. Contributions to the housing
funds, medical insurances and other social insurances are
expensed as incurred.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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(continued)

Foreign currencies

The functional currency of the Company is the Hong Kong
Dollar while the presentation currency of the Company for
the financial statements is the RMB. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial information of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss from change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currency of the Group’s overseas subsidiaries
is HKD. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange
rates that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from
those involving estimations, which has the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. Further details are included in note 20 to these

ZBF SRR M 520 o financial statements.
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The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill was RMB123,242,000 (2022:
RMB485,185,000) as at 31 December 2023. Further details are
given in note 17.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the net carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when
the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future
cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., customer type and service type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s
actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs on
the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 to these
financial statements.

Useful lives of software, property management
contracts and customer relationships

The estimate of the useful life of software is based on the
purchase contract indicating that the Group can use the software
in 10 years, or in the case where no validity period is stipulated
in the purchase contract, the historical experience of the actual
useful life of software of a similar nature and functions which is
5 years.

The estimate of the useful lives of property management
contracts is based on the validity period of property management
contracts from 2 years to 8 years or, in the case where no
validity period is stipulated in the property management
contracts, the historical experience of the period of 20 years for
which the Group was engaged to provide similar services. The
estimate of the useful lives of customer relationships is based on
the historical customer attrition rates of the respective acquirees.
The estimates based on historical experience are updated as
necessary if more relevant historical experience is obtained.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Fair value assessment of the identified property
management contracts and customer relationships
and the recognition of goodwill arising from business
combinations

Significant judgements and estimates were involved in the
fair value assessment of the identified property management
contracts and customer relationships and the recognition of
goodwill arising from business combinations. These significant
judgements and estimates include the adoption of appropriate
valuation methodologies and the use of key assumptions in
the valuation (mainly annual revenue growth rates, gross profit
margins, discount rates and expected useful lives of the property
management contracts and customer relationships). See notes
18 for more details.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is engaged in the provision of property management
services, value-added services to non-property owners,
community value-added services and professional services.
Information reported to the Group’s chief operating decision
maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group as a
whole as the Group's resources are integrated and no discrete
operating segment information is available. Accordingly, no
operating segment information is presented.

Geographical information

The Group's revenue from external customers is derived
solely from its operation in Chinese Mainland. Except for the
Group’s certain property, plant and equipment amounting
to HKD12,000 (approximately equivalent to RMB10,000)
(31 December 2022: HKD16,000 (approximately equivalent
to RMB14,000)) and certain right-of-use assets amounting to
HKD2,086,000 (approximately equivalent to RMB1,738,000) (31
December 2022: HKD3,051,000 (approximately equivalent to
RMB2,676,000)), the Group’s non-current assets are located in
Chinese Mainland.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(continued)

ERXEEZEFNEHR Information about major customers
BMEEEFERAZP LR ES T There was no revenue from sales to a single customer or a group
H—EEFELMRAMGAEE of customers under common control amounting to 10% or more
B £20234F %2022%12A318 It F of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023
JEABI10%EK A £ o and 2022.

5. WA - EREEAERE 5. REVENUE, CONTRACT LIABILITIES
EFEHWBA Revenue from contracts with customers

() ZIHFWAEHR

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

2023F 20224
2023 2022
ARET R ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
B B R B R AR A Services transferred over time:

Y% EE RIS Property management services 1,885,576 1,860,337
[ 12 (B R 1% Community value-added services 248,789 317,499
IEEFHERE Value-added services to non-property owners 67,628 141,795
BERD Professional services 179,693 140,701
INEF Subtotal 2,381,686 2,460,332

RE-KEEEBER: Goods transferred at a point in time:
1 [ 12 (B AR 7% Community value-added services 60,878 61,106
IEE T HERS Value-added services to non-property owners 1,930 14,963
HER Professional services 26,811 69,641
et Subtotal 89,619 145,710
N =L-E] Total revenue 2,471,305 2,606,042
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5. WA - EGREAEE(E) 5. REVENUE, CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(continued)
ZEEESHWBA (8) Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) DIHFWAER (H) (a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
&AEBE Contract liabilities
REERRATEREIAIEBH The Group recognised the following revenue-related
AREaE: contract liabilities:
12A31H 1A1H
31 December 1 January
20234 20224 20224
2023 2022 2022
ARMT T ARBFIT AREF T
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARAERE Contract liabilities
—%£=5 — Third parties 87,378 72,707 126,448
— R A — Related parties 8,075 6,333 1,577
SERBEER Total contract liabilities 95,453 79,040 128,025
NREFHNAEEAGBEERA B AKIE Contract liabilities of the Group mainly arise from the receipt in
HAEBREHNIEKREEZIE -5 advance from customers when the underlying services are yet
BER03EEAMEMBETERR to be provided. The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 was
RERBIEEEETERBEMAER mainly due to the increase in short-term advances received from
P UTER A %S HR 20 Zh B PR3 NP2 - customers in relation to the provision of property management

services at the end of the year.
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BEFEHWA (&)
(a) ZHFWAEHR (F&)
BRE & (&)

(b)

TRETFARSHINERE
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5. REVENUE, CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (continued)
Contract liabilities (continued)
The following table shows the amount of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that was

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
reporting period:

2023%F 2022F

2023 2022

AR®T T ARBF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

) 3 S IR AR TS Property management services 79,040 106,702

BERHEE

TR AR AR EEOE
AR

YEEEZIRE

AEEZAERARENEE

RN - ZBABEFKEARE
BiesRLERASEFATR
BHMEBERLE  mi7HR
FRERE BR300 A
XA - ARBEEERTT
BENE TREZEFRES
KR RIBRBHOEE - KB
FE TR AR TS & E T HIR -

[ E B IR

BRREERERREHRELCRS
AR T8 mnsH & 51w IR E AR
BRBETI —F0EERA
‘Y ERNESERMEREL
BRABITNREAOEME - BZE
HEEEREARONFES
KA P IR ARG 2 HAS A

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Property management services

The Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals
the right to invoice which corresponds directly with the
value to the customer of the Group’s performance to date
on a monthly or quarterly basis and payment is generally
due within 30 to 90 days from the billing date. The Group
has elected the practical expedient for not disclosing
the remaining performance obligations for these types
of contracts. The majority of the property management
services do not have a fixed term.

Community value-added services

The community value-added services except for brokerage
services provided to property owners and residents and
sale of goods are rendered in a short period of time which
is generally less than a year and there was no unsatisfied
performance obligation at the end of the respective
periods. The payment for such community value-added
services is generally due when the services are rendered to
the customer.
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BERPHEHEEER o 43
BERRZM&30E90H A E 5
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FFETIBERE

FETRERBIEERW
X TR TR SR
W 3H AR 7% - BATRIBRIRTS - 2
& N 22 5 B %5 A e 48 42 AR A5
—REXZHFAANAKEET
BHRERBE > mIFEERHE
e LIRS AR K 0 $H ARG 9 &
KB BN & & 1E - BB R AR
7 2R MR E R TINE R
BARE  BREERREE

R R BITHBAOEE - A
REFPRKERIEEAEE
FBA IR Ly M 2R - EI A
ERITRAE ERBER R o

RiclkBHE  ARERME
RS R 1R 197 B 35 & R T E AR
B-EERNRELLABER
Bh/ ABEARES/HEA
BRU BB EROR N HEL
BITRA BN RERER -

5 3E 5 3 RIS WA TR
B R T B4R (R T B
SR

5. REVENUE, CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) Performance obligations (continued)
Community value-added services (continued)

Brokerage commission for parking space and second-hand
house is recognised at a point in time when a buyer/lessee
and a seller/lessor execute a legally binding agreement and
the performance obligations are satisfied. The payment
is generally due when the services are rendered to the
customer.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point
in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. The payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days from delivery.

Value-added services to non-property owners

Value-added services to non-property owners mainly
include construction site services, sales assistance services,
pre-delivery cleaning services, construction and installation
services and brokerage services provided to non-property
owners. The term of the contracts for construction site
services and sales assistance services to non-property
owners is generally set to expire when the counterparties
notify the Group that the services are no longer required.
Pre-delivery cleaning services, construction and installation
services are rendered in a short period of time and there
were no unsatisfied performance obligations at the end of
the respective periods. As the customers simultaneously
receive and consume the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance, thus the revenue is recognised over time
when the performance obligations are satisfied.

For brokerage services, the Group provides sales and rental
assistance services to property developers. Brokerage
commission for house agency services is recognised at
a point in time when a buyer/lessee and a seller/lessor
execute a legally binding agreement and the performance
obligations are satisfied.

The payment for value-added services to non-property

owners is generally due when the services are rendered to
the customer.
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5. WA - EFEEAE (&)

BEFEHWA (&)
(b) BREME(E)
EXRE

HEMSARER L EMRE T
HERAREERHEEEE
A3 2 P ) By PR A RERR - 9K
BT %302908 M E| H
AN

R H M B X R HIRA R
HRBRER B—RERXH
HFBRANAKETBEZRS
B HMEXRBOHS QAR
BERIE - NRBERAEP
R AR DI HIS AT -

5. REVENUE, CONTRACT LIABILITIES
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(b) Performance obligations (continued)
Professional services

Revenue from sales commission, and the sale of elevators
and elevator parts is recognised at the point in time when
control of the asset is transferred to the end customer.
The payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days from
delivery.

Revenue from the provision of other professional services
is recognised when the services are rendered and the
terms of the contracts for other professional services are
generally set to expire when the counterparties notify
the Group that the services are no longer required. The
payment is generally due when the services are rendered
to the customer.
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

2023F 20224

2023 2022

AR®T ARBFIT

RMB‘000 RMB’'000

HRATH B WA Bank interest income 9,803 1,848
HERAREBEFTEELETA Gain on disposal of financial assets at

BaE s En ks fair value through profit or loss 2,604 3,069

B8 8 B Government grants 3,917 4.305

RENMTEBENRGALE Tax incentives and exemption on

value-added tax 5,809 12,194

ROHHEA R R EEKR Fair value gain on put option 69,411 3,801

H1th Others 4,141 2,964

A&t Total 95,685 28,181

AEEESHBRNBBEIRZRER
B o MEMZEMB AN RE

PRI RAEIR -

contingencies relating to these grants.

BFRABEIERR AR AR] / 2023 FETR

The government grants obtained by the Group were primarily
employment subsidies. There are no unfulfilled conditions or
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7. BRBAIER

7. LOSS BEFORE TAX

AEERBATEBTEMR(GTA) The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
AT B IRRFTZER : (crediting):
H et 20235 20224
Notes 2023 2022
ARBTR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
2 5 £t AR 75 A A * Cost of services provided* 1,907,569 1,954,777
DHEFERK A Cost of inventories sold 48,031 95,371
M BERRBITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 15 19,125 18,557
EREEENTE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 5,821 5,111
HEfb &R & E# Amortisation of other intangible
assets 18 56,628 52,121
B R AN Research and development costs:
EAFEE S Current year expenditure 14,044 27,595
[ X =F ik - Deferred expenditure amortised** 16,128 4,102
&a&t Total 30,172 31,697
% 21 Bl 3 B Auditor’s remuneration 2,931 2,931
REEBAFAX (EER Employee benefit expense
17 B4R 2 10 5 B Bk oD (excluding directors’ and chief
(FF=E9)) : executive’s remuneration (note 9)):
TERE® Wages and salaries 662,293 918,264
RIREET & gkx** Pension scheme contributions*** 82,420 109,744
PARRHE 45 E R IX (0 22 B Equity-settled share award scheme
=T &I 2 expense 2,988 1,793
aEr Total 747,701 1,029,801
PR A Impairment of goodwill**** 17 361,651 80,770
B R & ERME > Impairment of other intangible
assets**** 18 2,960 776
ERIkEREEDBR Net impairment losses recognised on
H R (B E5 185 58 financial and contract assets
—EWE 5 KIAE — Trade receivables 22 34,304 358,345
—&RE&EE — Contract assets 23 (567) 7,858
—TENFIE ek — Prepayments, deposits and other
H b fE W 5K IB receivables 24 62,810 6,023
&t Total 96,547 372,226
WEFAHEBEFTZEN Lease payments not included in the
HEE R measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 16,649 18,311
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7.

BREL AT E 1R ()

AEERTATEER &R, (GTA)
TN &R AES : (8)

* FRABRERBEA (BHERER
M W% BERRBTE -
HpEPEE#AIEIHEERX) &
T AR #629,871,0007T (20224 :
AR #6859,533,0007T) ° 2 & 5 th
BT EXRENRERIBR T

= RITHFAX AR E #IHELT
X TET AR ETL EEH# -

o WERERKERATRAEEES
BERINREIRE HFKF -

kx ZEFRBE AR BRERA[EAM
X -

LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/
(crediting): (continued)

* Cost of services provided for the year included an aggregate
amount of RMB629,871,000 (2022: RMB859,533,000) which
comprised employee benefit expense, depreciation of property,
plant and equipment, amortisation of other intangible assets and
rental expense. This amount was also included in the respective
expense items disclosed above.

**  Deferred expenditure amortised recognised in the administrative
expenses was also included in the amortisation of other intangible
assets.

***  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.

**%% These items are included in “Other expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.
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8. ®MERKA 8. FINANCE COSTS
2023F 20224
2023 2022
ARET ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
HEAGENNERX Interest expense on lease liabilities 497 968
WABHEENT B Interest expense arising from revenue contracts - 108
A&t Total 497 1,076

9. EENITEEI N HM 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION
BE ETHE - BBERAGAE Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
383(1)(a) * (b) * () RME K~ | (# disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
BEENEER) ROIFE25HEEHN (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
FREERITHAFHAT - of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

20234 20224

2023 2022

AR® T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ik Fee 900 900

H 0 Other emoluments:

He o EREREWMER Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 3,831 4,314

BN RS Performance-related bonuses 2,647 2,963

AR REAE S P 2 BET I SL  Equity-settled share award scheme expense 1,291 1,616

RIKE T2 Pension scheme contributions 192 324

NEF Subtotal 7,961 9,217

& REMEGEN 2% Total fees and other emoluments 8,861 10,117
ETESEREBARANKRG REE Certain directors were granted share awards, in respect of their
I S M AL E RSN RS ER services to the Group, under the share award scheme of the
TR R - HE—SHBH N Company, further details of which are set out in note 30 to
BmEMF30- ERFBHANIE the financial statements. The fair value of such shares, which
mRERNZEROH AR BER has been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the
REBHEE mMAFEHTB#REK vesting period, was determined as at the date of grant and the
el €t A LillEE RITHAH amount included in the financial statements for the current
HrEMAREE - year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive's

remuneration disclosures.
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9. EERITHARNH M 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

(48) REMUNERATION (continued)
(a) BIAFHTESE (a) Independent non-executive directors
BYFHTEZTNFEHRES W The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
T during the year were as follows:
20234 2022F
2023 2022
AR® T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
EBRALE Mr. Lui Shing Ming, Brain 300 300
PN Dr. Wong Kong Tin 300 300
/N FEIE L Dr. Chu Xiaoping 300 300
aaEr Total 900 900
ERNYEEMNBIIERITES There were no other emoluments payable to the
By E AT BN (20224F « &) o independent non-executive directors during the year (2022:
Nil).
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9. EERITHABNEHFEM 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S

(#8) REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) EERTHAR (b) Directors and the chief executive
20234 2023
e 2ER BYRE UAREEEN BReH
ENEF ®¢ ROKBRX # 0 Ft
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Performance- settled Pension
and benefits related  share award scheme Total
in kind bonuses expense  contributions  remuneration
ARBTR AR®TR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB000
BTESROBEH Executive director and
chief executive:
THat Ms. Wang Meng 2,253 2,014 352 53 4,672
BIES: Executive directors:
AHERL Ms. Xie Rao 588 22 352 53 1,215
kBT 7 A Mr. Yao Xusheng* 411 17 235 33 850
A#irt Ms. Zhou Rui 579 240 352 53 1,224
et Subtotal 1,578 633 939 139 3,289
FHITES: Non-executive directors:
BHERE Mr. Shum Chiu Hung* - - ; R _
A EE Mr. Bai Xihong - - - - -
FREE Mr. Li Qiang - - - - -
ar Total 3,831 2,647 1,291 192 7,961
* 202349 H4H - BkE F & 3 On 4 September 2023, Mr. Yao Xusheng tendered his
EBERITES - 28T resignation as an executive director and Mr. Shum Chiu
SREERIFNTES - Hung was appointed as a non-executive director.
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9. BEERTHEBMEHEM 9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
(&) REMUNERATION (continued)
(b) EERITHAR (&) (b) Directors and the chief executive (continued)
20224 2022
5o ZHR el IREEE BRLHE
EWE ®e HRMHEBH it D Fa
Salaries, Equity-
allowances  Performance- settled Pension
and benefits related share award scheme Total
in kind bonuses expense  contributions  remuneration
ARETT ARETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HITEERTHEH : Executive director and chief
executive:
It Ms. Wang Meng 2,466 2,087 404 81 5,038
BES: Executive directors:
MERL Ms. Xie Rao 583 279 404 81 1,347
s 4 Mr. Yao Xusheng 632 297 404 81 1414
A#Rt Ms. Zhou Rui 633 300 404 81 1,418
it Subtotal 1,848 876 1212 23 4,179
FHITES: Non-executive directors:
H&MEE Mr. Bai Xihong - = = = =
FHEE Mr. Li Qiang = = = = =
A Total 4,314 2,963 1,616 324 9,217
EREmEESN TR A E There was no arrangement under which a director
o B Z kA5 A & or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
(20224 : 4) o remuneration during the year (2022: Nil).
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10. A EREFHMES 10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
TR hEZZorMEEBRRE —Z The five highest paid employees during the year included the
TEAEE, (20224 : —B1THUAEE,) - chief executive (2022: the chief executive), details of whose
HF B E R L X9 - F remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
A EeINHF (20225 UE) &&= remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2022: four)
HNES GEARAEEeITHARE) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
B BEFIEAT executive of the Company are as follows:

2023F 20224

2023 2022

ARET ARBFIT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

e EANREYEAR Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4,731 3,507

BERAEERS Performance-related bonuses 1,238 2,495

ARG #E 45 E YRR (D 25 B B =X Equity-settled share award expense 705 808

RINEFHEIE R Pension scheme contributions 66 46

&=t Total 6,740 6,856
HE A T SHERIEE S M IETT The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
HBERN S HMES ASOT paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

BEAH
Number of employees
20234 20224
2023 2022
1,000,001/ 7t £1,500,000/% 7t  HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 2 -
1,500,001/ 7C £2,000,000/% 7t HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 2 4
4 4
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11.

RRAAEEREHORER =4
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#E—FHBER Y B RERME30Z
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REBHANERRER) RIRL B
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REAFBEFE B
BEMEXRAEREEMFH B
AEEYEAZESREREABX
R FHMESEMAKIMARE
1% ey BT B SR RE LR AE

FriE®

AEBARLAKENKE QB FAER
REMENBRBRIAEERELEN
FISRABIZ BEREEMR RSN -
REASHEMRBEBARESN
BRAKER RASHEREBRE
BAREEEMRINAEBEANNE
BEABMNEIAMENR XEER
BREAREMGH  HERFE
WENE B E L EREFRAE

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

11.

(continued)

Share awards were granted to three (2022: three) non-director
and non-chief executive highest paid employee in respect of
his services to the Group, further details of which are included
in the disclosures in note 30 to the financial statements.
The fair value of such shares, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees’ remuneration disclosures.

During the year and in prior years, no highest paid employees
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and no
remuneration was paid by the Group to these members of senior
management personnel as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

INCOME TAX

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which members
of the Group are domiciled and operate. Pursuant to the rules
and reqgulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the entities of
the Group which were incorporated in the Cayman Islands and
BVI are not subject to any income tax. The Group was not liable
for income tax in Hong Kong as the Group did not have any
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year.
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1. FrE% ()

ANEFP P EAHEENHEQ
R B & H1225%H) 1 B 1 % By
SR (EEREHR]) HEE - RN
20234 K20224F - ANEE R FE A
HMELNETHERRZZ15%%K
0% K EBEBDEMBHME o

11. INCOME TAX (continued)

Subsidiaries of the Group operating in Chinese Mainland are
subject to the PRC corporate income tax (“CIT"”) rate of 25% for
the reporting period. Certain subsidiaries of the Group operating
in Chinese Mainland enjoyed a preferential CIT rate of 15% or
20% during 2023 and 2022.

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARET T AREEF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

BIEAFT 15 %% Current income tax 49,162 52,558
IEIEFTS L (FE3E20) Deferred income tax (note 20) (20,734) (101,309)
FERNHIBHRE (Kp) 258 Total tax charge/(credit) for the year 28,428 (48,751)
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11. Fr 8% (48) 11. INCOME TAX (continued)

BRARNT NEKZEHE A [t A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax
TR EAEEREAETHRETERNE at the statutory rate for the jurisdiction in which the Company
ARBHaEENFRIERY  Big and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax
ERBMERFTENER SR expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:
T
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
ARBT R % ARETIT %
RMB’'000 % RMB’'000 %
& 750 BT 5 18 Loss before tax (176,042) (248,346)
BATEMEETERTE  Tax at the statutory tax rate (44,011) 25.0 (62,087) 25.0
$f, 77 2B P9 28 45 B9 & (K B % Lower tax rates enacted by local
authorities 2,093 (1.2) (2,761) 1.1
EEBASHBEESR Tax incentives on eligible
expenses (1,897) 1.1 (2,020) 0.8
DAEEEE N REE Share of profits and losses of
associates (395) 0.2 971 (0.4)
AR B S Expenses not deductible for tax 87,639 (49.7) 19,609 (7.9)
BAERB A Income not subject to tax (17,353) 9.8 = =
BEHABC B AR IEEE Tax losses utilised from previous
periods (2,053) 1.2 — —
AR T IEE B Tax losses not recognised 25 - 429 (0.2)
FENEB AR RDE Taxes on undistributed
A 2 Fi 18 profits of the subsidiaries
in the PRC 1,253 (0.7) 1,083 (0.4)
RERERMEZR Temporary differences not
recognised 3,127 (1.8) = =
R TR S B YR EFTE Effect on opening deferred tax
Mz & of decrease in rate - - (3,975) 1.6

BAREBERBRTER Tax charge/(credit) at the

HEMRE (ER) Group's effective rate 28,428 (16.1) (48,751) 19.6
1B 2 N 7 FIE A R #45,0007T The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
(20224 - AR#133,0007T) R4 RMB45,000 (2022: RMB133,000) is included in “Share of profits
AEFRZ [ DIEBE ATIEZE & o and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit

or loss.
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2. 7 EABFEHENHE
8 5l

R2023F12828H * ANE B 5T W
MIREE EHE Aa—RBBLF
—HEEEMNBYRKE TR E
H100% 8  RES A AEARK
1,000,0007T & A £X%400,0007T ° &
M RHETREREREDE
EIERAS o BN R E TR E
B IRREERE 2 N 20244F1 A9H 5ERK ©
72023% 128318 BN H &Ik
EMREHDBEABEHENLE
R MIEE R IEAEE T -

R12A318 - B RS R IR ™ R
BEOEAFKIFLHENTIEEERER
BRI T

12. DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD

FOR SALE

On 28 December 2023, the Group entered into two equity
transfer agreements to transfer 100% equity interest in
Guangzhou Yaocheng and Zhuhai Yuanxing to an independent
third party, at considerations of RMB1,000,000 and
RMB400,000, respectively. Guangzhou Yaocheng and Zhuhai
Yuanxing engage in the provision of property management
services. The transfer of equity interests in Guangzhou Yaocheng
and Zhuhai Yuanxing has been completed on 9 January 2024.
As at 31 December 2023, Guangzhou Yaocheng and Zhuhai
Yuanxing were classified as disposal groups held for sale but not
as a discontinued operation.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Guangzhou
Yaocheng and Zhuhai Yuanxing classified as held for sale as at
31 December are as follows:

20234
2023
BE Assets
WME - BERERE Property, plant and equipment 134
HthmEEE Other intangible assets 90
& W & 5 5IE Trade receivables 2,909
TEfHFRIE ~ RS N H qth B U kIR Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 7,850
R &G EF R Cash and short term deposits 572
PEARIELENEE Assets classified as held for sale 11,555
=K Liabilities
FET & 5 FRIB Trade payables 4,028
EMEMRERESIEB Other payables and accruals 4,363
ERAE Contract liabilities 1,259
JE AR 5 3R Tax payable 467
FIEFEE & Deferred tax liabilities 38
HAYBRBELEZ Liabilities directly associated with the assets classified as
EEEEHRBEZEE held for sale 10,155
ERHEAR EEAM e EEFE Net assets directly associated with the disposal groups 1,400

In accordance with IFRS 5, assets held for sale with a carrying
amount of RMB1,459,000 were written down to their fair
value less costs to sell of RMB1,400,000, resulting in a loss of
RMB59,000, which was included in profit or loss for the year.

1R 15 B R B 7% 3R 45 2E Al B 557 ¢ BRE
8 & AR #1,459,0007T = 1EH &
EECHMBREZEERAABER TSR
N A R #1,400,0007T © BEE B A
R #59,0007T ' 5t AF W8z ©
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13. B2

BEeEHRMNE 2023412831
BIEFERNRPKREFRIT AR A
R¥2.45 (20224 : AR¥E22%5) -
A AR #23,656,0007T (20224 :
AR #21,685,0007T) °

FEEBAMBEBAFARABRR
REEBERAFRE LHET A E

g o

14. ﬁg%ﬁ%é%ﬁk

&
BiEERER

EREAEEBLENREG ALY
BESHEEAEBEFEBEARSE
BEEETLTER (TEEETFR) M
hNHE S 15 $£982,323,0008% (20224 :
982,323,0000%) 5t & -

BRERREEERTIZATEUR

E

13.

14.

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors recommended a final dividend of
RMB2.4 cents per ordinary share (2022: RMB2.2 cents) totalling
RMB23,656,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
RMB21,685,000).

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 982,323,000 (2022: 982,323,000) in issue excluding treasury
shares during the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on:

Al = -
2023F 20224
2023 2022
Eia Loss
AR EBEEREFEA Loss attributable to ordinary equity
EiEEE(ARETT) holders of the parent (RMB’000) (201,763) (213,627)
A& 1D Shares
FRBEITE BRI Weighted average number of
8 (PATFED) ordinary shares in issue during the year
(in thousand) 982,323 982,323
T EE Loss per share
HANEE (ERARESD) Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) (21) (22)

3 2 B B AR 19 BBt B A 0 R
BEERT  SREEHESEAE
BB - BB R 1 SR Bt B A
B9 ¥ 28 0 5 IR A 98 A [ 2
EAE R S R AR R 2
CETE

Because the diluted loss per share amount is decreased when
taking shares held for the share award scheme into account,
the shares held for the share award scheme had an anti-dilutive
effect on the basic loss per share for the year and were ignored
in the calculation of diluted loss per share.
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15. Y15 - BMERRE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BT HENELE nE WARE &it
Leasehold Motor Office
Building  improvements vehicles equipment Total
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2023%12831A 31 December 2023
M2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023
7K Cost 42,660 33,083 15,056 65,832 156,631
2EE Accumulated depreciation (4,190) (25,918) (3,140) (30,776) (64,024)
FEEE Net carrying amount 38,470 7,165 11,916 35,056 92,607
M20236181R - At 1 January 2023, net of
ENKE2:NE accumulated depreciation 38,470 7,165 11,916 35,056 92,607
NE Additions - 3,401 1,487 3,042 7,930
PEAEEHENEE  Assets dassified as held for sale
(HH3E12) (note 12) - (90) (14) (30) (134)
He Disposals - (182) (334) (1,157) (1,673)
FREHRTE Depreciation provided during
the year (2,067) (8,255) (2,593) (6,210) (19,125)
R2023F12 8318 At 31 December 2023, net of
REIES LN accumulated depreciation 36,403 2,039 10,462 30,701 79,605
20235128318 : At 31 December 2023:
A Cost 42,660 35,677 15,026 66,448 159,811
24T E Accumulated depreciation (6,257) (33,638) (4,564) (35,747) (80,206)
FEEE Net carrying amount 36,403 2,039 10,462 30,701 79,605
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15. 1% - BMERRE (&)

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)
BFY HENEEE 78 LN EEIR At
Leasehold Motor Office Construction
Building  improvements vehicles equipment in progress Total
ARETT ARETTL AREFT ARETTL ARETT ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2022F12A31R 31 December 2022
2022461810 At 1 January 2022
%N Cost 42,660 27,592 6,750 60,873 3,861 141,736
2iE Accumulated depreciation (2,024) (18,903) (1,605) (23,988) = (46,520)
BEFE Net carrying amount 40,636 8,689 5,145 36,385 3,861 95,216
2022461818 At 1 January 2022, net of
BB RHE accumulated depreciation 40,636 8,689 5,145 36,885 3,861 95,216
AE Additions - 5,427 8,722 2,274 65 16,488
WE-HHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 176 _ 176
He Disposals = = (60) (656) = (716)
&1 Transfer = 65 = 3,861 (3,926) =
ERGHRNE Deprediation provided during
the year (2,166) (7,016) (1,891) (7,484) - (18,557)
M2022912A31H > At 31 December 2022, net of
EMG2sNE accumulated depreciation 38,470 7,165 11,916 35,056 - 92,607
MW2022912A318 ¢ At 31 December 2022:
R Cost 42,660 33,083 15,056 65,832 - 156,631
ZitE Accumulated depreciation (4,190) (25,918) (3,140) (30,776) = (64,024)
REFE Net carrying amount 38,470 7,165 11,916 35,056 - 92,607
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16. HE
AEBERRBA

AEEERREXBZENET
AERBRARBZEEENEES
W-BFHEZHEHBBER2E10
FOMABZERABERIF WA
Rz ARBERTBBI2EA R
BRI e B ERIE -

@) ERAEEE

FRARKEEREEEZRE

16. LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,
motor vehicles and office equipment used in its operations.
Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between 2 and 10
years, while motor vehicles generally have lease terms in 3 years.
Office equipment generally has lease terms of 12 months or less
and/or is individually of low value.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets

BEREEHNT : and the movements during the year are as follows:
BF RE &5t
Motor
Buildings vehicles Total
ARB®TRT AR®TR AR%®Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
720221 81H At 1 January 2022 12,887 3,024 15,911
NE Additions 1,957 - 1,957
WEER Depreciation charge (4,078) (1,033) (5,111)
(R 82 FH 1% ) 48 A& 5t 4 70 & M 42 Derecognition of right-of-use
ILHEREAEEE asset for a sublease classified
as a finance lease (1,025) - (1,025)
(A FH & 72 71 ] B $5 2R 5 AY # &) Revision of a lease term arising
i & A A HR B 2 from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (1,233) - (1,233)
M20225F12 8318 & At 31 December 2022 and
7202351 H1H at 1 January 2023 8,508 1,991 10,499
NE Additions 5,871 792 6,663
WEEH Depreciation charge (4,902) (919) (5,821)
EHEHAE s HEAMEHRE Derecognition of right-of-use
MR IEREREEE asset for a sublease classified
as a finance lease (4,074) - (4,074)
IR FHL & 72 71 A 458 HA S M9 2 &) Revision of a lease term arising
i E £ K E S 2R from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (1,563) (222) (1,785)
720234128318 At 31 December 2023 3,840 1,642 5,482
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16. HE () 16. LEASES (continued)

AEBEERAAA (E) The Group as a lessee (continued)
by MHEAE (b) Lease liabilities
EFRNBEEEZERENRES The carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements
N during the year are as follows:
20235 20224
2023 2022
ARET ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
MITATBZREE Carrying amount at 1 January 14,209 22,327
& New leases 6,663 1,957
FREERNSIEE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 1,000 1,549
(NE:N Payments (8,305) (10,221)
EHEER AT HE AR Revision of a lease term arising from
BB 2 A /9 FH B E R a change in the non-cancellable period
of a lease (4,929) (1,403)
M12A31H 2R EE Carrying amount at 31 December 8,638 14,209
2R i1 Analysed into:
mENEL o Current portion 4,643 6,602
ERBNE Non-current portion 3,995 7,607
HEAGBEZIBHBESTEER The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note
B 53R R I 5E37 o 37 to the financial statements.
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16. HE (&)
AEBEREEBA ()

(@ REBEmPERNHESHERBENA

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

I ENE leases are as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR®T T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
REEXAERNAE Interest expense on lease liabilities
BEMNFERX recognised in finance costs 497 968
A EL b U A T U 25 e R Interest expense on lease liabilities
HEBBENNERX recognised in other income and gains 503 581
FREEENTEER Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 5,821 5,111
HHHERBEARX Expense relating to short-term leases 16,065 17,641
HEEBEEEHERH Expense relating to leases of low-value assets
B 2 584 670
REZPERNRIELTE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 23,470 24,971

d HEZRSRLABEENY
BERKR M FE32(0)

AEBEREEA

AEBRERMEMELERE—18
EEYE BEHPARFE -HE
KB EERAPSHERES T
BREBRTMRAETEHAESHE -
MW2023%F 128318 AEE 2 EHE
& FRE A A RE3,453,0007T (2022
4 AR¥55,485,0007T) - & FE5E
SEARNFEARYKE EKEE R
RERERIBEREL ML
AR #2,032,0007T °

(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 32(c)
to the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group sub-leases one commercial property in the PRC
under a finance lease arrangement, with leases negotiated for
terms of five years. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent
adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions.
The Group had a net investment in subleases amounting to
RMB3,453,000 as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB5,485,000).
The changes of net investment were a result of a decrease of
RMB2,032,000 due to the receipt of lease payment receivables
and early termination of a finance lease arrangement during the
year.
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16.

HE (&)
REBERHBA ()

R2023%F12831H » KEBR KK
HA R AR 4% B B 7B P 2T 32 /9 71 AT 88
EREREWARITRBE R KA
MAMBRAENREBEREFHE
RISTER AN T -

16. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable of the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants and the reconciliation between
the undiscounted lease payments to the net investment in the
lease are as follows:

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARBT AR T T

RMB’'000 RMB’'000

—FEUR Within one year 1,055 1,640
—FREMFAN After one year but within two years 1,087 1,703
MEBE=FNK After two years but within three years 1,119 1,768
=FHRENFRA After three years but within four years 472 1,315
&t Total 3,733 6,426
Hi&FE WA Future finance income (280) (941)
HEREFHE Net investment in the lease 3,453 5,485
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17. B8 17. GOODWILL
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ TR ARBFIT
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
®1A18 At 1 January
DN Cost 565,955 562,909
ZERE Accumulated impairment (80,770) -
BREFE Net carrying amount 485,185 562,909
RITATR ZA Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated
MKk 2:RE impairment 485,185 562,909
WebE — R BT 8 2 &) Acquisition of a subsidiary - 3,046
HE — R E A a] Disposal of a subsidiary (292) -
FARE Impairment during the year (361,651) (80,770)
MW12A31H As at 31 December 123,242 485,185
MW128318 : At 31 December:
BX 7R Cost 557,453 565,955
Sl Accumulated impairment (434,211) (80,770)
BRHEFEE Net carrying amount 123,242 485,185
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R

AEEEBEHAHMENEER
PREATHERSELSM (R
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FHeELABUMAKRESETIE
REREEERENTFHRY KA
EWRenERAAERAEEE

17.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing on goodwiill

The Group's goodwill acquired through business combinations
was allocated to the following ten cash-generating units
("CGUs") for impairment testing. The recoverable amounts
of these CGUs have been determined based on a value-in-
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period prepared by management.

== o
7202312 831H As at 31 December 2023
BBz FRAER/
FRHEE (RE) =% TRE
Annual
revenue
Carrying growth/
amount of (recession) Discount
HEeELEN  CGU TEEH Principal business goodwill rate rate
RMB'000
BMEE Guangzhou Wanning MEEE Property management 12,821 (1.5%)-(0.6%) 20.56%
EETER Qingyuan Rongtai BEREER Elevator installation and 2,543 0% 19.67%
MEER Property management
BN Guangzhou Dongkang MEER Property management 19,068 7.7%-7.8% 18.54%
IS Heshan Jianmei MEEE Property management 3,046 0% 19.62%
RN B Xuzhou Mengmu MEEE Property management 15,389 0% 20.20%
KA E Chengdu Holytech MEERE Property management 70,375 (0.6%)-0.3% 19.38%
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17.

B (&)
B E R ()

R2022512A31H

17.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill (continued)

As at 31 December 2022

Bz FRARER/
FRHEE (RR) = wRE
Annual
revenue
Carrying growth/
amount of (recession) Discount
REELEN  CGU TEEK Principal business goodwill rate rate
AR¥TTR
RMB'000
EMEE Guangzhou Wanning YEEE Property management 12,821 (17.7%)-0% 21.87%
BLUTER Foshan Hetai MEEE Property management 292 0% 16.04%
BRMER Qingyuan Rongtai ERTER Elevator installation and 2,543 0% 20.27%
MEER Property management
BN R R Guangzhou Dongkang MEEE Property management 19,068 3% 19.63%
BN Guangzhou Haoging MEER Property management 12,662 (11.4%)-0% 20.54%
IS Heshan Jianmei MEEE Property management 3,046 0% 19.98%
RN B Xuzhou Mengmu MEEE Property management 199,987 13.1% 19.42%
KA E Chengdu Holytech MEEE Property management 234,766 5.0%-5.3% 18.49%

& Fali 72202312 8318 &2022
FNRANBREEASEVNERE
EREFEARK EEEAETH
BRENAMBASENRESESLE
BUNRESREMKENSEEER
R

HrHE = — P RATIR R AT AT ITIR R

3 5 B B AR B A RO R R -
FW AR (EE) F— R

ﬁﬁf?:ﬁﬂi&ﬁ’]ﬁﬁ?iﬁuﬂﬂﬁi
A AR (FR) KT ARG
EREEMNRERZ —

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations of
the above mentioned CGUs for 31 December 2023 and 31
December 2022. The following describes each key assumption
on which management had based its cash flow projections
of the respective CGUs to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

Annual revenue growth/(recession) rate — The predicted revenue
growth/(recession) rate of CGUs for the five years subsequent
to the date of assessment is one of the assumptions used in the
value-in-use calculations.
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17. & (&)

AERENS (&)

RER BREDJKESEARKE
254,962,0007C 7 E M & B - HR M BB
BERKHEECHENRESELS
i FE 3R Rk (B &5 18 A R #6361,651,000
JC o A] Y Bl & B T ERME A EE T
HEMET BmRMERF LS
WEMSAREY ZEHSEL
BUMRAERERIEEGFRD -
EEVHRSELSBMMTEHARKE
EmEMRERD o Bt - REBERSE
N RERR R (B B 18 A R #361,651,000
7L (20224 : AR #80,770,0007T) °

AEFETEECYEERENS#E
TEBREDH - TREFIATERE
HhEE2RFTENERLT A ER
EHR2023F12A31B A E KB E
MRCELEBNHAKRESCEES
REFRBAENTEEKFRALR
K BRES :

17.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing on goodwill (continued)

An impairment loss of RMB361,651,000 based on the
recoverable amount of RMB254,962,000 was recognised on
goodwill in relation to the CGUs of Guangzhou Haoqing,
Xuzhou Mengmu and Chengdu Holytech during the year. The
recoverable amount has been determined based on a value in
use calculation. Due to the intense market competition and
cyclical fluctuations in the real estate market, revenue growth
rates for these CGUs decreased as compared to the budget,
which resulted in a corresponding decrease in the expected
future cash flows of the CGU. As a result, the Group recognised
an impairment loss of RMB361,651,000 during the year (2022:
RMB80,770,000).

Management of the Group has undertaken sensitivity analysis on
the impairment test of goodwill. The following table sets forth
the hypothetical changes to discount rate or annual revenue
growth rate that would, in isolation (with all other variables
remained constant), have caused the recoverable amount of
CGUs of which goodwill was not impaired to be equal to their
carrying amount as at 31 December 2023:

FRABER
(RE) =
WA 18 hn
Decrease/
increase in
annual
revenue
growth/
(recession)

#r8 R 48 b0

Increase in

HEEEEN CGU rate  discount rate
ENEE Guangzhou Wanning 18.61% N/A* A~ i Fa *
BRI R Qingyuan Rongtai* N/AT 38 B N/ATS i FB
BMNEE Guangzhou Dongkang 3.02% 1.08%
Be |l BR Heshan Jianmei 15.08% N/A* 7 38 F *
& FTRHEBETENTERENEM * Any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions of the

BETEEH I EERRmER
BREELBEMNAHEOEHE -

value-in-use calculation would not cause the carrying amount to
exceed the recoverable amount of the CGU.
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18. Htt B EE 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
ESE
0t REFER EES AEAK B At
Property
management
contracts and
customer  Development Contract
Software relationships costs costs Licences Total

ARMTR  ARMTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

2023%128318 31 December 2023
R0BE1A18 At 1 January 2023:
KA Cost 96,462 222,509 13,520 1422 6,830 340,743
ZirEH Accumulated amortisation (32972) (83,383) - (1,350) (1,717) (119,422)
REFE Net carrying amount 63,490 139,126 13,520 n 5113 221,321
R203E1A1B 2R - Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated
EElES - amortisation 63,490 139,126 13,520 7 5113 221,321
NE Additions 456 - 2,924 - - 3,380
PEABELENEE (Fi12)  Assets classified as held for sale (note 12) - (90) - - - (%0)
#f Transfer 9,711 - 9.711) - - -
ENGHREH Amortisation provided during the year (18,801) (37,0m2) - (72) (683) (56,628)
ERRE Impairment during the year - (2,960) - - - (2,960)
12023512 4318 At 31 December 2023 54,856 99,004 6,733 - 4,430 165,023
R2023E12 4318 : At 31 December 2023:
wA Cost 106,629 222,419 6,733 1422 6,830 344,033
2HBERAE Accumulated amortisation and impairment (51,773) (123,415) - (1,422) (2,400) (179,010)
REFE Net carrying amount 54,856 99,004 6,733 - 4,430 165,023
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18. Ht B EE (&) 18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

NEERAH
aft  REFBE RERA ARRE R A
Property
management
contracts and
customer  Development Contract
Software  relationships costs Costs Licences Total
ARBTT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  AR%TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

20225128318 31 December 2022
R02E1R18 At 1 January 2022:
A Cost 44,441 21,071 46,54 1422 6,830 320,218
ZiHEH Accumulated amortisation (19,464) (45,102) - (925) (1,034) (66,525)
FEFE Net carrying amount 24,977 176,169 46,254 497 5,796 253,693
R02F1 AR ZRA - Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated
BB EEE amortisation 24,977 176,169 46,254 497 5,796 253,693
AE Additions 2,223 - 17,064 - - 19,287
RE-EHBAF(HE31)  Acuisition of a subsidiary (note 31) = 1,238 . - . 1238
&y Transfer 49,798 - (49,798) - - -
FERFREH Amortisation provided during the year (13,508) (37,505) - (425) (683) (52,121)
ERRE Impairment during the year - (776) - - - (776)
2022612318 At 31 December 2022 63,490 139,126 13,520 72 5113 221,321
#2022F12 4318 : At 31 December 2022:
A Cost 96,462 222,509 13,520 1422 6,830 340,743
2HEERAE Accumulated amortisation and impairment (32,972) (83,383) - (1,350) (1.717) (119,422)
REFE Net carrying amount 63,490 139,126 13,520 72 5113 21,321
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18. HEFL A E ()

H 1F2023F12A31H IEEE - 5t
MEEBAOREFBEEAERBE
&5t A E#2,960,0007T (20224 -
AR #1,178,00070) sHI2 R E AR
#2,960,0007T (2022%F : AR ¥
776,0007T) © % E A EEEMN G
BRI R Bk 8 T R (20224F « &
M) IR CELEBMNE/H - EE
BZEEEEFGERFHEERR
BRENZ  BYEXREZRA
B ALAEBESTHERSEE
YEWE S5 I EEEE
{EH R E B A R #2,960,0007T ©

19. RIEE R RNRE

18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, impairment of
RMB2,960,000 (2022: RMB776,000) were provided in
respect of property management contracts and customer
relationships with carrying value in aggregate of RMB2,960,000
(2022: RMB1,178,000). These assets were related to CGU
of Guangzhou Haoging, Guangzhou Yaocheng and Zhuhai
Yuanxing (2022: Guangzhou Yaocheng). By taking into account
the fact that these assets would not be economically viable
for their remaining life and there was no identified alternative
usage for them, the directors of the Group assessed there is no
recoverable amount of these assets and impairment provision of
RMB2,960,000 were made on their carrying values.

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

20234 20224

2023 2022

AREBT R AREEF T

RMB’'000 RMB’000

B EEFE Share of net assets 68,796 68,947

AEBHEXREEABFBET

Particulars of the Group’s material associate are as follows:

rEEELFRAER
=r SR & i B EEAOL TEX®
Percentage
of ownership
Place of interest
registration attributable Principal
Name and business to the Group activity
BMTRRRENEERBROHERAA B A 30 i g
(TEMEED)
Guangzhou Times Rongxin Micro-credit Co., Ltd. PRC/Chinese 30 Money
(“Guangzhou Rongxin”) Mainland lending

BEMBERARENERESERH
WERERD  LWERAEDEAR -

Guangzhou Rongxin is a strategic partner of the Group engaged
in money lending and is accounted for using the equity method.
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19. REEE RN TINIRE (8) 19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)
TRIAPFEMNBENMBFERNBE The following table illustrates the summarised financial
ZEEBHOREABRZEMNER information in respect of Guangzhou Rongxin adjusted for any
EHAE  WEHASWBRKL differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying
IREEH K - amount in the consolidated financial statements:
20235 20224F
2023 2022
AR®T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
mENEE Current assets 225,656 219,128
ERBEE Non-current assets 318 67
mEAE Current liabilities (3,085) (2,526)
BERE Net assets 222,889 216,669
EAZR &= B Bk A B Reconciliation to the Group's interest in the

e ¥THR associate:

INES [ T4 AT B B B Proportion of the Group’s ownership 30% 30%
AREEELBEAREEFE Group's share of net assets of the associate 66,867 65,001
KEREE Carrying amount of the investment 66,867 65,001
WA Revenue 7,969 2,081
FRFIE (18 RE2HE Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive income/

WA (E1R) #%s (loss) for the year 6,220 (12,950)
TR 5 R 8 Bl I T B K A 5 B B The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
ER AN EAMEE R information of the Group’s associates that are not individually

material:
20235 2022F
2023 2022
ARBTR ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AEERBE AT MNIRERN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's

BRmAE investments in the associates 1,929 3,946
#H £202349F K2022412 A31H Ik F The share of the losses of the Group's associates that are not
E - S (h{E BB R AR & B individually material for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
ERAINEBIETERK - 2022 were not material.
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20. BEiEHIBEEENEE 20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EEBEEE Deferred tax assets
R AN HIEER B ESE M The movements in deferred tax assets during the reporting
T : period are as follows:

ALY SHEE  EHAER
BRZEL  HEFE  ARTNH
HEER WABRAR ] Bx  BFEY  RESR it
Provision
Unrealised for Accrued
profit  impairment  liabilities
arising from ~ losseson  and future
intra-group ~ financial  deductible ~ Government Lease
Tax losses ~ transactions assets  expenses grants liabilities Total
AR¥TT  ARBTR ARMTR ARTR ARMTR ARETR  ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

®02%1818 At 1 January 2022 708 291 6,410 10,887 PE] 5,582 26,531
EmirA/(kE) Deferred tax credited!{charged) to profit o loss

BRHETERE during the year 5113 (1,527) 91,391 (2,294) »3) (2,030) 90,630
R2022F12A31B R2023E1A1E At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 5,821 1,39 97,801 8,593 - 3,552 17,161
ERA/(HkE) Deferred tax credited/(charged) to profit o loss

BEMETEHE during the year (66) (276) 11,624 = = (294) 10,988
R0BE12A3188 (Gross deferred tax assets at 31 December 2023

ERNEEELE 5,755 1,118 109,425 8,593 - 3,258 128,149
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ELEBHEERAE (&)

(continued)

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

EEBIEEE Deferred tax liabilities
NREHANECHEA GBS0 The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the reporting
T : period are as follows:
ERE WENEAR HEREAR
BEREE SIBMAR RO B
REFHE BEAR ZBE ait
Fair value Taxes on
Right-of-use adjustment  undistributed
assets and net  arising from  profits of the
investment in acquisitions of subsidiaries in
the lease subsidiaries the PRC Total
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR AR®T R
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
1202261718 At 1 January 2022 5,582 35,807 7,950 49,339
hE—-EHBAR Acquisition of a subsidiary - 331 _ 331
FER(GIA)/ MK EEZE  Deferred tax (credited)/charged to
RRIER T profit or loss during the year (2,030) (5,757) (2,892) (10,679)
73’6‘2022@12)131 ARk At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
2023F1 A 3,552 30,38 5,058 38,991
Lﬁéiﬁﬁ"*ﬁﬁﬁﬂ’ﬁﬁ‘%z Transfer to liabilities directly associated
BEEREBCAR with the assets classified as held for sale = (38) - (38)

FRF AR ELTHE

Deferred tax credited to profit or loss

during the year (294) (9,583) 131 (9,746)
R®2023%612A318/ Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31
EERARERE December 2023 3,258 20,760 5,189 29,207
B2 AN ETFERERES For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and

liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

ENRBERYHMRILKEE T
RRANEBERM B REB M E A
EETRIBE R DT

2023F 20224
2023 2022
ARET AR®ETF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
R A MG R EZARELT  Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

HEEFE consolidated statement of financial position 124,891 113,609

R BB R ERANIELTF  Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
BEEEFE consolidated statement of financial position 25,949 35,439
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20.

21.

ELEBHEERAE (&)

AEBREBEENRBEEEAR
#19,804,0007T (20224 : AR ¥
19,364,0007T) A A 7 4 R A 3K 84
EXEBENDE R KKEREF
e R2023F 1283180 A& ER
REAMEENE THIEBEA
R #9,482,0007T (20224 : AR¥
7,057,0007T) R —ERAF AT A
P S R SR FE ER B R B o B A B B
ARIEA —EBEHESSEEAER
TR F BB & AT se B MR IR B S 18
MW ARZEHEERRELEREE
go

AEE AR ZE R B A H K S5
I B 2 7] 52008F1 A1H B EER
BT DK E B ATER - A
SEMNBEAHERSY °

M2023F 128318 » gL AREE R
B A #1037 A B B X B FE AR AR TR 30
B9 R BE B & 5 A R %686,645,0007T
(20224 : A R #358,497,0007T) HY
FENTENBEM S @ W ARBREMIE
ERMIB - EER A ZEWMEARQT
fEr] ARG TE o REEAET -

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
RMB19,804,000 (2022: RMB19,364,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group had certain tax
losses arising in Chinese Mainland of RMB9,482,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB7,057,000) that will expire in one to
five years for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred
tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses as
they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate
is 5% for the Group.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of RMB86,645,000
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB358,497,000) that are
subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Chinese Mainland. In the opinion of the directors,
it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such
earnings in the foreseeable future.

5E 21. INVENTORIES
2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AREF T AR¥EF T
RMB'000 RMB’'000
H A At Other materials 3,121 113,609
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22. B E 5 RRE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2023% 20224

2023 2022

AR®T R ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

BEHE 77 (M 5E(a)) Related parties (note (a)) 571,734 669,064

£ =7 (M b)) Third parties (note (b)) 647,016 505,424

g Subtotal 1,218,750 1,174,488

DR Impairment (395,207) (374,013)

FREDHE Net carrying amount 823,543 800,475
Hat - Notes:

(a)

(b)

JE U BB 75 B 5 IR AE % BN AR
SHET-EARNEE -

AR E RS R E KR E 5 50R
& ANEEIZFE A HKRE
MEERE  BBFEHLAS
SRR BN K o g A A RIS A
EUESFHIAME AEEER
FHRZGHREBREE B
EHR—RA=EAA -

AR SR B ) SKOBR AR 42 I EL R e 3 Y 8
WikiE - EREERNEEBHHER -
AEBREEZRENEESTRA
B 15 B8 00 B 75 R R MY E37 o IEURE
HHRBEBTELE

(a)  Trade receivables from related parties are due in twelve months
upon the issuance of demand notes.

(b)  For trade receivables from property management services, the
Group charges property management fees on a quarterly or
monthly basis and the payment is generally due upon the issuance
of demand notes. For trade receivables from other services, the
Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit and
the credit period is generally within three months.

The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management. The Group’s concentration of credit risk of trade
receivables is disclosed in note 37 to the financial statements.
Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
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22. BEIWE B FhI1E (48) 22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
NS HRERENEZHE A 0 An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
BREERENERKRE SHIARRKS reporting period, based on the demand note date and net of
franp : loss allowance, is as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARBT T AR®ETF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
—F R Within 1 year 541,999 699,595
—EWF 1 to 2 years 240,519 67,272
WE=4F 2 to 3 years 26,055 31,241
=—ENF 3 to 4 years 14,824 2,167
M= R F 4 to 5 years 146 200
= Total 823,543 800,475
FEWE S RBEREEERENES The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
mr : receivables are as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARBT T AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
F 4] At the beginning of the year 374,013 19,654
B R EEE (M E7) Impairment losses recognised (note 7) 34,304 358,345
88 & 1 Bl U B ;IR Amount written off as uncollectible (13,110) (3,986)
FR At the end of the year 395,207 374,013
AR RE QD EIEE AR B E TR An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
BEOH Ut EEEEEEE - & using a provision matrix to measure ECLs. The provision
BERODEREEBEUEEREX NS rates are based on aging or days past due for groupings of
BEREDIEAERHEE# B H B £ various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
BT (R EA RREER) o customer type and service type). The calculation reflects the
UHERMIARNELER B probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
FEERSREHEBAR SN E/@AET reasonable and supportable information that is available at
EIE - BRI Bk R AR S TR the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
HHEE RO EER o forecasts of future economic conditions.
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22. EWWE ZF1E (])

TXHIBRERBREREETED
AEEREEZRBEERRNE

22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

=5 (F88) G L) BEA
Third
parties -
not past Related
due Third parties - past due parties
8 -EUR -ERE  WEZE  ZERE mERE  BENE &
Less than 1to 2t0 3to 4to Over
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 5 years Total
20235128318 At 31 December 2023
BEEEEEX  Dipected credit loss rate 0.09% 5.26% 20.15% 58.34% 67.20% 95.49% 100.00% 58.58%
FERE Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
(AREFT) 248,507 268,332 86,520 30328 133 337 2,769 51,73 1,218,750
REEEER Expected credit losses (RMB'000)
(AR®TT) (23)  (4122)  (17430)  (17,692) (4,921) (3,091) (2769)  (334950)  (395,207)
20222128318 At 31 December 2022
FHEEEEL  Drpected creditloss rate 0.10% 5.52% 27.57% 4139% 58.18% 91.13% 100.00% 49.48%
FHEE Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)
(AR%TT) 182,281 237,937 64,428 11,120 5,182 2,265 21 669,064 1,174,488
RBEEEE Expected credit losses (RMB'000)
(AE%TT) (191) (13,127) (17.763) (4,603) (3,015) (2,064) @21) (331,039 (374,013)
23. ERAEE 23. CONTRACT ASSETS
12A31H 1A1H
31 December 1 January
20234 20224 20224
2023 2022 2022
AR®T T ARETTT AR®EF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
BERBEEN Contract assets arising from
ABRIEE professional services 10,303 10,870 13,190
B Impairment (10,303) (10,870) (3,012)
- - 10,178
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23. EREE (&)

EREETRHRAKERNSREH

23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights to

RUEBE R I mARAARKRETER
ERY RN B B o & 18 R R B A
B AREEFEREEKE S
RE - AEEETFORSERRL
FEEBREEN SRR 22 -
& B & ER2023%F 20229 A BT
LTERNFRNEEEREEMK -

BREEREBERENEZNT -

consideration for work completed but not billed at the end of
each reporting period. The contract assets are transferred to
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. The
Group’s trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements. The decrease
in contract assets in 2023 and 2022 was the result of the
settlement of contract assets during the years.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
assets are as follows:

20234 20224

2023 2022

ARBF AR®ETF T

RMB’000 RMB’'000

F 1 At beginning of year 10,870 3,012
B (BE), THERAEER Impairment losses (reversed)/recognised

(B=E7) (note 7) (567) 7,858

FR At end of year 10,303 10,870

REHmE B PRABEEHERETR
TE DT AFFEFRHREEEIE - 5

ERREEFHEERBENBHEX
TIERERESRBNEEEX ]
AREREENEWE ZFIATIR
BEREZFE AREEMNERBX
E*ETFE\H*EMF?E*EfE’U%1§
FoBARNNEKE S HKIENEH
REETE (A= - E GEERI
FREBIRFH 58 &Hﬁﬂ:%
1% ﬁ/ﬁz{%ﬁﬁgﬂ ) n/<n #&Bg%
FARNMBEER EBRERREK
SRMAENAEBBESE A0
AR B R AR R A FRRI A0 B 32 Je
AISEE R o

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses on the contract assets are based on those of
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or
other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

236  TIMES NEIGHBORHOOD HOLDINGS LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2023



23.

24.

EREE (&)

TSI B 15 R SR R 8
AEEAREEEERRNER

23. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

20234 20224

2023 2022

FEHEERBEE Expected credit loss rate 100.00% 100.00%
REAE(ARETIT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) 10,303 10,870
FEHEEER(ARETT) Expected credit loss (RMB’000) 10,303 10,870

ANRIE - RERAEME

24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

W k18 RECEIVABLES
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARBFIT
RMB’'000 RMB’000
SEENE O] Prepayments 18,724 19,552
REREFERBOIZK Payments on behalf of property owners 54,800 49,914
"e Deposits 22,219 22,782
FEREFEE (KiE16) Net investment in the lease (note 16) 3,453 5,485
Rl e S Other receivables 49,194 33,354

FE W IE 45 AR AR 3R R IB Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders 167,535 176,061
& U B B 5 Z0E (K9 aE34) Amounts due from related parties (note 34) 7,467 8,349
323,392 315,497
RAE (BFEE7) Impairment (note 7) (65,233) (6,023)
EET Total 258,159 309,474
BN ER &R 75 Current portion 255,517 303,591
JEBNEA S & Non-current portion 2,642 5,883
EET Total 258,159 309,474
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24, FEEIE - RS R EMPE  24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

kg (8)

AN RIE ~ 2 S MH B WGRIR R
BEERRENZESHIT

RECEIVABLES (continued)

The movement in the loss allowance for impairment of
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is as follow:

20235 20224F

2023 2022

AR T ARBFT

RMB’000 RMB’'000

F4 At beginning of year 6,023 _
BRERREEE (FiE7) Impairment losses recognised (note 7) 62,810 6,023
88 & T m] g [B] FRIE Amount written off as uncollectible (3,600) -
FR At end of year 65,233 6,023

ZRE W IETER IR R KIBE B H
MEWEE R EN M RERE
B ZERENEERKRBVTE
RUARBZER N - BHEEEERD
BRBRERNEERNE L E B SER
AEBXREAGE BEXSELHA
LA BR & AR S B R 2R A ik
SRR (2RE A) o 12023412 A
318 - i B e Uk JE 28 A% A% B 308
MEW S RENEEED R A
36.3% }58.6% ©

STABMRE e REMERR
HR#H TomE ERITHTmE
HRBEPLHNERREESR - K
20234 20224512 A31H - 18 #
HEHEAEM -

Considering the amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
are already past due and the slow payment pattern of the
amounts due from related parties, the credit risk of them have
increased significantly since initial recognition. Expected credit
losses are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with
reference to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss
rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rates
applied to the amounts due from non-controlling shareholders
and amounts due from related parties as at 31 December 2023
are 36.3% and 58.6%, respectively.

The remaining financial assets included in the prepayment,
deposits and other receivables relate to receivables for which
there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss allowance was
assessed to be minimal.
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K. BERBEEEBYRS

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

BRR il $R 17 77 =X RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T ARETT
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
RERBITEES Cash and bank balances 941,366 823,395
B ZBRHIR1TE K Less: Restricted bank deposits (22,626) (13,036)
BekReEEY Cash and cash equivalents 918,740 810,359

R2023F12831H » "NEBE U A
REFENRS RBETELAA
R 934,759,000t (2022412 A31
B : AFR#%819,410,0007T) @ A&
JTLETE R Bl & A R #5,330,0007T
(2022412 H31H = A R#405,000
To)  MRETFHENR A AR
1,277,0007¢ (2022412 A318 : A
R3,580,0007T) - ARKEAT A B
HiapK EmE% - Aim: BRESP
P CONE B IR R R CAEIE - BB [
MAEEEBRE)  NEBEERB
EREETIINELERORITEAR
BMHORAHME -

RITRSREFT ARITHERA TR
FE M RBRENF B o RITHEERTN
EEERI TR EENTEN
RIT -

720234 &2022F12831H * R
BT EREEBR/EATLEL
REMEBAROBTRESTREE
BimtE TaRadRAEMIR ST

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the
Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB934,759,000
(31 December 2022: RMB819,410,000), denominated in HKD
amounted to RMB5,330,000(31 December 2022: RMB405,000)
and denominated in USD amounted to RMB1,277,000(31
December 2022: RMB3,580,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Chinese
Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct
foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

The restricted bank deposits mainly comprised of cash deposits
in the banks as security for issuance of performance bonds
and cash deposits frozen by courts for certain lawsuits as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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26. BYE 5 MIE 26. TRADE PAYABLES
NS MEBRENZZR AR ER An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each
B ERESNIT ¢ reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:
2023F 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ TR ARBFIT
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
—F A Less than 1 year 407,696 393,294
—F LAk Over 1 year 142,701 167,142
A&t Total 550,397 560,436
FENE S HEBREBENOR AE Included in the trade payables are payables of RMB4,176,000
BOENBEBEANENZE AR (2022: RMB4,498,000) due to related parties which are
#4,176,0007T (20224 : AR repayable within 60 days. Further details of trade payables
4,498,0007T) - B A ETREEE T B9 due to related parties are included in note 34 to the financial
JERB S HIBME — BB H N statements.
TR FE34 o
HALEAR (312 MENE S The trade payables included in disposal groups (note 12) are
IR BRER DI - aged less than 1 year.
ENEBSHBEAEEBLE A Trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing and are
BREZR0RMREH - normally settled based on terms of 60 days.
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27. EEARIERERTIEE

27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023F 20224

2023 2022

ARET R ARBFIT

RMB‘000 RMB’'000

BRIERER Payroll and welfare payables 159,233 164,863

o {th i 49 T 50 Other tax payables 29,848 18,338
REEEMNEZRS RERIA Deposits and temporary receipts from

property owners 106,789 104,222

FEETIE B K H 4th fE A~ B Accruals and other payables 59,479 86,024

JE < A B 5 B8 (B9 aE34) Amounts due to related parties (note 34) 3,067 3,300

A&t Total 358,416 376,747

7R20234F 202212 A318 @ HEb
ERNZFELAERT T EREE

28. BLAEERBER BRI

Other payables were unsecured, non-interest-bearing and
repayable on demand as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

28. FINANCIAL LIABILITY FOR PUT OPTION

HENSREE WRITTEN ON NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARE TR ARBEF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
IR E R AR RO A Financial liabilities for put option written on
SRaE non-controlling interests 52,230 121,641
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28. MIE RS F AL

HENSRAE (&)

z

mww&w&&a EMHE K
A ER R EERE AT KR2024
F A AN E B S K E S E R #$H20%
AR Rh B - ZINEERRE T
HENKE S ZE A £2023F12A31H
IEFENPERIFEET - W34 H
BETE  ASEBENKEE E
100% FY B4 o

POFERES R EREMENE R
BENGBEERABRAEZTHINRER
TREELETE EATHBEEHA
BB TR A AT IR K
MBI R RABEEEERED
—EMBRAERT R R N
SRENTEFEEE REREAR
EEEBERAEENRAFNRXE

j’_io

POFERES R EREHENE R
BEZESHHIWT

28. FINANCIAL LIABILITY FOR PUT OPTION

WRITTEN ON NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

Pursuant to the agreement for acquisition of Chengdu Holytech,
the original shareholders of Chengdu Holytech were guaranteed
a put option under which they can sell the remaining 20% equity
of Chengdu Holytech to the Group in 2024. The consideration
of such acquisition is based on Chengdu Holytech’s financial
performance for the year ended 31 December 2023. If the put
option is exercised, the Group would control 100% of equity
interests in Chengdu Holytech.

The valuation of the financial liabilities for the put option
written on non-controlling interests was determined using the
discounted cash flow method under the income approach. The
significant unobservable inputs are expected discount rate as at
the exit date which was determined by the probability-weighted
average of floating premiums under three financial projection
scenarios prepared by management, and the expected discount
rate which was determined using the capital asset pricing model.

The movement of the financial liabilities for the put option
written on non-controlling interests is set out below:

2023F 20224

2023 2022

ARBT ARBT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

M1A1H At 1 January 121,641 125,442
FRNARBEZE (E6) Fair value change during the year (note 6) (69,411) (3,801)
®12A31H At 31 December 52,230 121,641
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29.

30.

RN

29. SHARE CAPITAL

20234 20224
2023 2022
JRTE ¢ Authorised:
2,000,000,000/% 2,000,000,000 (2022: 2,000,000,000)
(20224 : 2,000,000,0000%) ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each 20,000,0005% T 20,000,0007% 7T

FAE(E0.0178 T A @ Ak

HKD20,000,000

HKD20,000,000

BREITRAR
985,672,7470%
(20224 : 985,672,7475%)
S EE0.01B K X @A

Issued and fully paid:
985,672,747 (2022: 985,672,747)
ordinary shares of HKD0.01 each

9,856,727 T
HKD9,856,727

9,856,727% 7T
HKD9,856,727

HE R

Equivalent to

A F8,868,0007T

AR #8,868,0007T

RMB8,868,000 RMB8,868,000

mBRDBEBEEFEN
IR K

AEEREAMRBEFENFES
BEHEPIHEIAN GRS

%
(a) KHIEE

REBRD G EEEE R
REEERE -

(b) EGHREE

& BF R B 18 AN 1 B B A PR
BB AN RRATEE
EAEEETEARARF]
Yo B8 BRI LR P ) TS O Y B
REZKAZ FEEH

30. SHARES HELD FOR THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME AND RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity.

(a) Share premium

The share premium of the Group represents the capital
contribution premium from its then shareholders.

(b) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represented the difference between
the Company’s shares of the nominal value of the paid-up
capital of a subsidiary acquired and the Company’s cost of
acquisition of a subsidiary under common control upon the
Reorganisation undergone by the Group.
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30 R RBEFERFAN
A R A e (AR

(c)

(d)

EEBBRLAERE

RIEFBC(RRNR) REHE
A 1M A SZ Y B B 2 B A9 4B A
ERAA AEEBERRE
B 1& B R10%5 AR
TERHBEHEE FREHRED
HFEME RN#950%89 - 7] A
THIER - ERETBEIAR
RAKEMABEIRARATH
ETRHOERT  EAER
priFEmA AARAER X
LSRRI DN OF N
HEERERRNERTTD
R FEMEANE25% © %
EETABIEERLBMNZ
SN EAML & - A ERER
EHREETHIK °

PR GMRBE B KRR
BEEFENRS

720209 H23H ([#H 4 B
M) ARREMERAKS
$2EpETEl ([ R se @&l ) -
EERAUETEEELENE
AL 45 T 1% S5 B - LA S B
RERFELERERAER -
AR 0 $2 BT &) B B 40 B AR e
T FEHAR A B R MEIFRA -

R AR B BB ET B R &2 £
mARA - EEEAERAHR
PRNBEENENAER
ALTBEHED  REARND
(REAIEEENE) 2R
BB o B0 A% e B (D 22D
AHEIMBZZFEA ([RFEAD
K5 ERARNRAREHE
B E  WRER D REF
IR AERET A RIERE
SHERAE -

30. SHARES HELD FOR THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME AND RESERVES (continued)

()

(d)

Statutory surplus funds

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the articles
of association of the subsidiaries incorporated in the
PRC, the Group is required to appropriate 10% of its net
profits after tax to the statutory surplus reserves until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital.
Subject to certain restrictions set out in the relevant PRC
regulations and in the articles of association of the Group,
the statutory surplus reserves may be used either to offset
losses, or to be converted to increase the share capital
of the subsidiaries, provided that the balance after such
conversion is not less than 25% of the registered capital of
them. The reserve cannot be used for purposes other than
those for which it is created and is not distributable as
cash dividends.

Shares held for share award scheme and share
award reserve

On 23 September 2020 (the “Adoption Date”), the
Company announced to adopt the share award scheme
(the “Share Award Scheme"”) with objectives to recognise
the contribution by certain employees and give incentives
thereto in order to motivate them for the continual
operation and development of the Group. The Share
Award Scheme shall be valid and remain in force for a
term of ten years commencing from the Adoption Date.

Subject to the terms of the Share Award Scheme and
the Listing Rules, the board of directors may at any time
make an offer to any eligible person it may at its absolute
discretion select to accept the grant of an award over
such number of shares as it may determine. Shares will be
acquired by the independent trustee (the “Trustee”) of
the Share Award Scheme on the market out of the funds
contributed by the Company and be held in trust for the
relevant participants in accordance with the provisions of
the Share Award Scheme.
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30. iR EE B st &AM 30. SHARES HELD FOR THE SHARE AWARD

RN EE(E) SCHEME AND RESERVES (continued)
d BERAOEBTERKRMGE (d) Shares held for share award scheme and share
B (&) award reserve (continued)

B E2020F12A8318 It &F
E T AREBREKRMLYO
7.75% T (FHE R AR ¥6.63
T MEHERRTHEEA
3,350,000/ & fn - BRE KA
25,967,000% 7T (HHE R AR
#22,198,0007T) ° & £2023
F M20229F128318 IEF
EZ ABMERTISZEA

Betn

720205118138 - 3,350,000
BRAR 15 B ARR AR 1D HE B ot B 5%
TEETHTES (BIEES) °
B E2023F12A31HLLFE -
iR mE B TR ETE
EBEMBAL  &&k RELIY
AEERERIMERT °

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 3,350,000
shares were purchased by the Trustee from the market at
an average price of approximately HKD7.75 (equivalent
to RMB6.63) per share, with an aggregate amount of
HKD25,967,000 (equivalent to RMB22,198,000). No shares
were purchased by the Trustee from the market in the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

On 13 November 2020, 3,350,000 shares were granted
to selected current employees (including directors) under
the Share Award Scheme. The number of shares granted
is determined based on the selected employees’ position,
experience, performance and contribution to the Group in
the year ended 31 December 2023.
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30 R RBEFERFAN
A R A e (AR

(d)

(e)

WAR 0 SR B B R R A &
B (&)

AEBEREH E2023F12 A
318 IFF E st &5 2B &t
SRR MDERHHASIARK
4,279,0007T (20224 : AR
#3,409,0007T,) ©

R2024F2H298 - AR T
B8 B AR T ik (0 22EhaT &) -
3 +E $52,100,0000% 1 A 17
FRYEEIAZ (5 -

RRB R E BN E R F R
WHEEB /BT - RIREH
R ZEEENEERAE
BEHREHRNRITERBE
BSARE - mEEm AR E
R 5 BBRITE R\ A E X
BESARE -HItmES
MESZENEME2E KA
FERR L IO I 3L (e 4 R AT

30. SHARES HELD FOR THE SHARE AWARD
SCHEME AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Shares held for share award scheme and share

(e)

award reserve (continued)

The Group recognised a share award expense of
RMB4,279,000 (2022: RMB3,409,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2023 in relation to the Share Award
Scheme.

On 29 February 2024, all the selected employees voluntarily
withdrew from the Share Award Scheme, resulting in the
cancellation of 2,100,000 award shares outstanding.

Exchange reserve

The functional currency of the Company and its overseas
subsidiaries is HKD. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period and their profit or loss are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates that approximate to
those prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve.
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1. MAEET AR EREM  31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

FEENRELF

AEBHEERIFERESNKNE

RAFHIBHINAT ¢

INTERESTS

non-controlling interests are set out below:

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material

2023%F 20224
2023 2022
AR®T T ARBF T
RMB’'000 RMB’000
IR ERFTFRER DL ¢ Percentage of equity interest held by
non-controlling interests:
LaREs Shanghai Kejian 49% 49%
BiEME Holytech Property 20% 20%
2023 20224
2023 2022
AR¥T T AR®ETF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
DI EFEERERNFE Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to
M (EBE) - non-controlling interests:
FERET Shanghai Kejian 7,891 17,143
BEYME Holytech Property (13,094)* (2,784)*
B IR ERRE Dividends paid to non-controlling interests:
RIS Shanghai Kejian 3,071 =
FEERE R N S B B Accumulated balances of non-controlling
ES el interests at the reporting date:
EgRLE Shanghai Kejian 46,234 41,414
BEME Holytech Property 23,771 36,865
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31 MAEET AEEBREREM  31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
2EHRB AT (&) MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (continued)

TR AR Lt i B A 7 H B B S The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
BE - BENSRBRTREAA information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are
AIfE 8 before any inter-company eliminations:
LERE EEME
Shanghai Holytech
Kejian Property
AR¥T AR¥T T
20234 2023 RMB’000 RMB’000
A Revenue 403,094 232,819
Sz 4858 Total expenses (386,990) (280,401)
FEEFME(EB) Profit/(loss) for the year 16,104 (47,582)
FEZEBA(BE)BE Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 16,104 (47,582)
mENEE Current assets 195,455 239,114
EREBEE Non-current assets 35,034 84,580
mE A & Current liabilities (101,279) (150,571)
ERBERE Non-current liabilities (8,203) (9,277)
EETEETS Net cash flows from operating activities

REeEmEFHE 4,840 5,903
KEEBE(FTH) Net cash flows from/(used in)

BemeF8 investing activities 120 (337)
REESFFAESREEE Net cash flows used in financing activities (3,071) -
e IR ZEYIEMNFRE Net increase in cash and

cash equivalents 1,889 5,566
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PR 2 BARG RAER AR -

31. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed are

(&) before any inter-company eliminations: (continued)
RS BEME
Shanghai Holytech
Kejian Property
ARET T AREBT T
20224 2022 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
WA Revenue 394,197 251,651
Sz 4858 Total expenses (359,211) (238,230)
FENE Profit for the year 34,986 13,421
FEZ2HKALE Total comprehensive income for the year 34,986 13,421
mENEE Current assets 164,446 275,481
EMEBEE Non-current assets 44,990 94,458
mEBAE Current liabilities (89,676) (146,949)
ERBERE Non-current liabilities (11,786) (11,325)
CRTEEATE(FTA) Net cash flows from/(used in)
REenEFHE operating activities 8,641 (349)
REFEEE(FTA) Net cash flows from/(used in)
WeREFHE investing activities 235 (226)
Re RELEEWE M Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
(R ) F58 cash equivalents 8,876 (575)

& BIEAE@ES EYEIEERR *
RHREEEDRE  AREEME
H 220234 &2022912831H It
FEMFBIORE EDHEA
P AEENFBRIME @ B4
SEBRZHEEEYEEE2023
FR2022F12A31B IEEEH 2

BBAIH -

AN

w0 7]

Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement between the Group
and the non-controlling shareholders of Holytech Property, as the
profit of Holytech Property for the year ended 31 December 2023
and 2022 are less than the minimal profit that Holytech Property
committed to distributed to the Group, the Group is entitled to
enjoy all the profit of Holytech Property for the year ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.
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32. REBRERERMTE 32Z.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(@) EXFRERS (a) Major non-cash transactions
RERN  AEERBT RS
()38 & 22 HE 5 Bl A A R B
FHEABETHIR SR
& ™ AR ¥6,663,0007T (2022
F: AR #1,957,0007T) & A

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB6,663,000
(2022: RMB1,957,000) and RMB6,663,000 (2022:
RMB1,957,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings and motor vehicles.

R #6,663,0007T (20224 : A
R #1,957,0007T) °

(b) %ﬂﬁ‘}ﬁiﬁﬁﬁéﬂzﬂ’ﬂﬁﬁé@

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities
H{th FEFFRIE HEEE
Other Lease
payables liabilities
AR® TR AR T
2023%F 2023 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023F1 818 At 1 January 2023 - 14,209
MER S REE Changes from financing cash flows (21,685) (7,802)
FHE New leases - 6,663
FERZ Interest expense - 1,000
PERAKEREREN Interest paid classified as operating cash
BFE flows - (503)
FEAE 2 TE RIEET Reassessment and revision of lease terms - (4,929)
25K E Dividend declared 21,685 -
720235 12H31H At 31 December 2023 - 8,638
H b fE 1 5K I8 HEBE
Other Lease
payables liabilities
ARBT T ARBFIT
20224 2022 RMB’'000 RMB’'000
7202241818 At 1 January 2022 - 22,327
BEREREL Changes from financing cash flows (49,557) (9,640)
HHE New leases = 1,957
=N 3 Interest expense - 1,549
SHE AR LIRS R 2 Interest paid classified as operating cash
= 15 F flows - (581)
B RIEFTHE R Reassessment and revision of lease terms - (1,403)
BEEIkEE Dividend declared 49,557 =
20225128314 At 31 December 2022 - 14,209
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32. MEBERERMT () 32Z.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(0 HERESARLARE (c) Total cash outflow for leases
FARERERNEER T The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement
HAEREMT - of cash flows is as follows:

20234 2022F
2023 2022
AR® T ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
LEEB N Within operating activities 17,152 18,892
REEBAN Within financing activities 7,802 9,640
24,954 28,532
33. &iE 33. COMMITMENTS
RBERR AEEHEEFREX At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any
HEHE - significant commitments.
3. BB A RS 34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

() BEBRER (a) Name and relationship
ARARHRKIER AR BESR The ultimate holding company of the Company is
RE - KRPBEHREGREE Renowned Brand. Times China is controlled by Renowned
#l e EMBERAEERN—H Brand. Guangzhou Rongxin is an associate of the Group.
NI
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3. B R 5 (48) 34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(b) EXBABLRS (b) Significant related party transactions
\\ 3 d: . . . .
Wﬁgi&g Hﬂ P BRI T AT IA The following transactions were carried out with related
7 parties during the reporting period:
20235 20224
2023 2022
AR® TR AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
Y B IR R 15 Property management services
— AR B E — Entities controlled by Times China 39,377 64,032
— R B E AR — Associates of Times China 313 1,426
—RRFPRENEEDLE — Joint ventures of Times China 6,152 8,898
&&F Total 45,842 74,356
FEEFHERSE Value-added services to non-property
owners
—ARRAP TR EE — Entities controlled by Times China 30,123 70,449
— R E A E R A — Associates of Times China 2,709 10,073
—-RRPRENEEDE — Joint ventures of Times China 9,834 23,005
aEr Total 42,666 103,527
[ I8 E R Community value-added services
—ABRRAP R A E S — Entities controlled by Times China 20,012 44,463
— R B — S A a] — An associate of Times China 8,983 1,294
—RRPEHEEDE — Joint ventures of Times China 1,712 5,952
EEr Total 30,707 51,709
HERB Professional services
— R BREH A E — Entities controlled by Times China 30,309 62,692
— R A — S A E — An associate of Times China 3,789 12,577
—RRPEHEEE — Joint ventures of Times China 1,593 3,242
aBEr Total 35,691 78,511
EEEERE Additions of lease liabilities
— R R T e — Entities controlled by Times China 2,053 -

PR E R HEMZ S ER The prices for the above service fees and other transactions
ToiRIE A 48 5 HE R E 1K were determined in accordance with terms mutually agreed
REFE - by the contract parties.
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

34. BBt S X 5 (&)

(b) EXBEMLXRZ (H)

(b) Significant related party transactions
(continued)

LitETRB IR 5 THEK L Certain of the above related party transactions also

T—*’E“’llj L4A%TE%Z A & constitute connected transactions or continuing connected
RBGUFEEERS - transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
() ERBAEE T MRBBA LR () Outstanding balances with related parties
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARET T AREEF T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
JEUE 5 RIA Trade receivables
— AR B e — Entities controlled by Times China 467,116 558,301
— B B A S A T — Associates of Times China 20,918 25,370
—RRPBENEEDE — Joint ventures of Times China 83,700 85,393
/Net Subtotal 571,734 669,064
B Impairment (334,950) (331,039)
& &F Total 236,784 338,025
T8 BB I H b fE R SRR Prepayments and other receivables
— BRI EE — Entities controlled by Times China 6,478 7,386
—EBRPENEEDE — Joint ventures of Times China 765 325
—BRAPEN—EEZ QT - An associate of Times China 197 611
——MBE QT — An associate 27 27
/INEt Subtotal 7.467 8,349
B Impairment (4,414) (3,866)
aEr Total 3,053 4,483
HEBE Lease liabilities
—HERPE TS — Entities controlled by Times China 3,333 3,778
AERAEE Contract liabilities
— AR R E — Entities controlled by Times China 7,344 6,028
—BRABENEEDRE — Joint ventures of Times China 474 305
—EBRPEN—EEEL AT - An associate of Times China 257 =
aEr Total 8,075 6,333
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4. BE AR S (88) 34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)
() EHEEB DM RERER (B) (c) Outstanding balances with related parties
(continued)
REEBBIN  FHERAE Except for lease liabilities, the above balances are
iR THEE—REEB=ZE unsecured, interest-free and generally payable from three
+ AT - to twelve months.
20234 20224
2023 2022
ARBT T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
FETE 2 5IR Trade payables
— R R T - Entities controlled by Times China 1,660 2,257
—BARPEN—EAEENRLE - Ajoint venture of Times China 2,485 2,241
— AP E—REL AT - An associate of Times China 31 -
EEr Total 4,176 4,498
H th J& 1~ FRIE Other payables
—HERPE TS — Entities controlled by Times China 2,843 3,066
—BRPENEEDE — Joint ventures of Times China 53 146
— B EN—REEZL AT - An associate of Times China 171 88
aEr Total 3,067 3,300
(d) F=EEXEEEAESHNHH: (d) Compensation of key management personnel of
the Group:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AREBT AR¥ETF T
RMB’000 RMB'000
e EAEREYREF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 5,067 6,788
BN AR e Performance related bonuses 2,849 3,775
ARG #E A E IR (D 22 BB =2 Equity-settled share award expense 1,291 2,525
SN R Pension scheme contributions 208 374
TREEEEAEN Total compensation paid to key
sz management personnel 9,415 13,462
FREEMoaE —TFBER Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
REA TS R PT 59 note 9 to the financial statements.
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35. REHESHEMTA

ERERTARBEMRNEEE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

(N instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2023F 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ TR ARBFIT
RMB‘000 RMB’'000
HHEK AT ENSRE E Financial assets at amortised cost

EUWE 53 IE Trade receivables 823,543 800,475
EPATER A - B REAM Financial assets included in prepayments,

EURFIENEREE deposits and other receivables 239,436 295,945
SRR B ERITER Restricted bank deposits 22,626 13,036
HERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 918,740 810,359

2,004,345 1,919,815
2023F 20224
2023 2022
ARE TR ARBF T
RMB’000 RMB’'000
REBHEKATENSRAE Financial liabilities at amortised cost
B & 508 Trade payables 550,397 560,436
STAEMEMPKIERESTIEE R Financial liabilities included in
SEBE other payables and accruals 169,333 193,546
719,730 753,982
AR EBESELAEBZED Financial liabilities at fair value through

TEAaE profit or loss
TIEE R R R R HER Financial liability for a put option

SRERE written on non-controlling interests 52,230 121,641
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36.

MTENAREBEER
EEE R
20234 K2022412A31H » " &

BENeREEXSRBEENAAE
BEHRAEEANKREERS

> K
b=
T H

BEECDG REMREFED
XBREIRITER  BUWE SR
FEATBN SR - B RE B R
HNEMEE BNESHANAR
FRAERMMENRERESFEENS
BAEENAABERAREERS
RARELRARZETIAMNEH
HARR -

HERENAAEEBBERR
TEEREGRK  EERRRFH
BN EFBRBARRKRESR

= | Ak
BaflHF°

AN 55 B B IE 12 AR AR o 2 B AR M B A
NeEMEBENGBERABRAZETH
FIRIRSMEEETE - N2023F12
A31B EATHERE ASER
FHEAEECEBEREAEENE
IR EEE - IR ERFER
THHENERABENAABEB
NABEERNE=H -

36.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair values of the
Group's financial assets or financial liabilities approximated to
their respective carrying amounts.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, restricted bank deposits, trade receivables, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables,
trade payables, and financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of lease liabilities has been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The valuation of the Group’s financial liability for put option
written on non-controlling interests was determined using the
discounted cash flow method under the income approach. As
at 31 December 2023, the significant unobservable inputs is the
expected discount rate which was determined using the capital
asset pricing model. The fair value of the financial liability for
the put option written on non-controlling interests is categorised
within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
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. EMITEWMNAALAEBER 36.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
NABERES (E) HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(continued)

AT B 120234 2022412 H31H
PIEEREER SR AENS B
BEHERAEANERTAIEHEE
BASBZBEURELLHEERES

Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to
the valuation of financial liability for put option written on
non-controlling interests together with a quantitative sensitivity
analysis as at 31 December 2023 and 2022:

-

20234 2023

EDNENEIEE 9 PN & [ AREEHOABBENRRE
Significant unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input

T8 HR % A1 TE AR MG 0, A1 % 5 B B
R EEEMN B ARKET50,0007T

1% increase/decrease in expected net profit
would result in increase/decrease in fair value

by RMB750,000

AR #27,790,0007T

Expected net profit RMB27,790,000

TEHTIR = 3.79% LE 3G, R A1 % BB A R EE
#0,/ > AR #339,0007T
Expected discount rate 3.79% 1% increase/decrease in rate would result in
increase/decrease in fair value by RMB339,000

2022%F 2022
ERTABERAYE giE AREBEEHBABBNHRE

Significant unobservable input

Range

Sensitivity of fair value to the input

8 HR % A TEEF R I, SR A1 % E B A R EE
# 0, B AR ¥E1,197,0007T

1% increase/decrease in expected net profit
would result in increase/decrease in fair value

by RMB1,197,000

AR #44,950,0007T

Expected net profit RMB44,950,000

TR AT IR K 4.41% LERE I, R AN %S E R AR EE
/8 AR ¥1,374,0007T
Expected discount rate 4.41% 1% increase/decrease in rate would result

in increase/decrease in fair value by
RMB1,374,000

There were no transfers of fair value measurements between
Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

HZE2023%F 128318 ILEE - 5F—
WEF —_HETENLBEFE
# NEEASEREE=H -

BRI B RAIRAR /2023 EFK 257



B 3% R 3R B R
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2023412 A31H 31 December 2023

37.%15%@,%%‘"@5 Z N 37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

R

AEENTESRIABTERAESN
MBER - ZEEMTAMNEEAR
MERSAEENELRE - KN&
EHRAEMSESREENRARE
MESREMERFIE EHRE
i FE {54 3R IR - 8 () R B 05 SRR e B
WREB D F IR ZFeMEERER
BERELEMERES

AEEeRMTAEENTIZARAS
EERRLRESERR - —KNE
ARER B 4 E L o TR BR AR ST SR
A% 2 52 B P L B O 7% B LR AR 4
RE AEBYEERETATER
Hib TEES B H) - REBRE
BRBTERZRENTESRT
BA-ARAEFERINLRAESEA
R EREE - E#nT -

(a) EERB

R 6% B T e R EL R E B ROR
R EAD R WA - BREE -
ReRREEBWURZRG
RITEFREBOEERR -

AEEEFRELAECEEY
DA 5 R ISR 1T 17 SR N7
EXEERR RASBEBER
ABAEREBRITREMKA
A FTIRTT - BEERE RS
TERAZERSGHFENMK
REBRBX-

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise cash
and short term deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, amounts
due to related parties and amounts due from related parties,
which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are credit risk and liquidity risk. Generally, the Group introduces
conservative strategies on its risk management. To keep the
Group’s exposure to these risks to a minimum, the Group has
not used any derivatives and other instruments for hedging
purposes. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes. The board of directors of the
Company reviews and agrees policies for managing each of
these risks and they are summarised below:

(a) Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its trade
receivables and other receivables, contract assets, cash and
cash equivalents and restricted bank deposits.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk
associated with cash and cash equivalents and restricted
bank deposits since they are substantially deposited at
state-owned banks and other medium or large-sized
listed banks. Management does not expect that there
will be significant losses from non-performance of these
counterparties.
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37. K EABREEEZERKE 37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
% (48) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

() EEERR (&) (a) Credit risk (continued)

7N £5 [ 75 HA £ e UK B B 05 A
WE SFIE R E bW IES
AR EERRRIE  BABH
FEEHAERBMETAEL
ReEMEERBEHEN BHEF
M E SRR (B 7 1 B & R B
SF21 %239 55 o

AEEERERAAREER
FHE=FETEE - EES
PRERBBRERE /RS5EHFH
D HTRE R - R2023F12H
318 * AR46.9% (20224 :
57.0%) WEWE 5 RIEK B
B P B 5 B %51.8% (2022
F 1 81.8% ) K E b fE IR IR
KB — KM B A E A FEIE AR
RAEEMNEEETRRE
Ko BB EWFIAL R o

RS RSO RERD R

TRITNEREAEENFER
KNEEEEREERRNE
SRBKO  TEEREHRE
B (BRIEE A E R AT 7 48 5
HARBBRARKZ HER T
R RM2A31B M ER
PEBEDE 2 AT
BEEMNBREEER-

The Group expects that the credit risk associated with
trade receivables and other receivables due from related
parties to be low, since the related parties have strong
capacity to meet contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term. Information about the impairment provision
recognised during the year is disclosed in notes 21 and 23.

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by analysis by customer/counterparty. The Group had
significant concentrations of credit risk as 46.9% (2022:
57.0%) of the trade receivables were derived from
Times China Group and 51.8% (2022: 81.8%) of other
receivables were derived from non-controlling shareholders
of a subsidiary as at 31 December 2023. Receivable
balances are monitored on an ongoing basis.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless
other information is available without undue cost or effort,
and year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.
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37. B EEMEEEEZERK 37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

= (&) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
(a) EEEK (E) (a) Credit risk (continued)
EERBR®BORERD KR Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(%) (continued)
7A2023%F12H31H As at 31 December 2023
128 RE
5-1: FEARREERE
12-month
expected
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses
Mgz — Refr = W= i F % st
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBTR ARBT T ARBT T ARBTR ARBT T
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
B E 5508 Trade receivables* - - - 1,218,750 1,218,750
AREE* Contract assets* - - - 10,303 10,303
FABRFE - & Financial assets included in
RE R FIER prepayments, deposits and
SREE other receivables
—EE** - Normal** 129,666 175,002 - - 304,668
RREHFTER Restricted bank deposits
—H AR - Not yet past due 22,626 - - - 22,626
ReRBEEEEN Cash and cash equivalents
— AR H — Not yet past due 918,740 - - - 918,740
1,071,032 175,002 - 1,229,053 2,475,087
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37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(#8) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
EERMK (&) (a) Credit risk (continued)
EEARBORFRD KR Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(%) (continued)
7202212 A31H As at 31 December 2022
1218 A & 5
REER FENEBEEFSE
12-month
expected
credit losses Lifetime expected credit losses
BB — 12 BEg= 7% @it
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARKTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
EWE 57 E* Trade receivables* - - - 1,174,488 1,174,488
EREE* Contract assets* = = = 10,870 10,870
FABMRE & Financial assets included in
RE A YRR prepayments, deposits and
CREARE other receivables
—EE** - Normal** 287,596 8,349 - - 295,945
ZRHRITER Restricted bank deposits
— AR — Not yet past due 13,036 - = = 13,036
ReRBEEEEN Cash and cash equivalents
— AR — Not yet past due 810,359 - = = 810,359
1,110,991 8,349 - 1185358 2,304,698
Bat Notes:

* %

AN 5% [ P FE R (B R 10 77
ENREESHERERE
EME ERNBERENE
R 7% 5 B 7% R MY 722 )2
23R ER -

FEAFER R - e R EAM
REFENEBEENEE
HERHARBMERES[E
Bl BYEERKRB Y
RN RZEBEENR
ERREBERE TR
ZEBMEENEREERR
RIAISE]

* %

For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information
based on the provision matrix is disclosed in notes 22 and
23 to these financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is
no information indicating that the financial assets had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.
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37. K EREEBERERK
= (%)

(a)

(b)

37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

EERMK (&) (a) Credit risk (continued)
EEARBORFRD KR Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(%) (continued)
BREASEREWE FREEE Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
HNEERBHNE T FEEEHE exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
NN E e A disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.
T Bt R B (b) Liquidity risk
nPtRRANEERESE Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter
RMmEENBITHBERENE difficulty in meeting financial obligation due to shortage
fax o 7 £ [ [ & /907 5 1 =L B of funds. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises
TEXREEREERBENH primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial
RiER - AEEMNBEERZ BB assets and liabilities. The Group’s objective is to maintain
FRERCEMBTEAHLE a balance between continuity of funding to finance its
BELEREEZEEENENH working capital needs as well as capital expenditure in
TIRHESHESHEHNRE respect of its development projects, and flexibility through
M ORI o the use of stand-by credit facilities.
TROWMBIES ORITENZ The tables below analyse the maturity profile of the
B REBRREHRNE Group's financial liabilities and lease liabilities as at the
mEEMEEEERHMRMR - end of the reporting period, which is based on contractual
undiscounted payments.
20234 2023
b PR-F5 —-FEERF RBENE &5t
Less than 1to5 More than
On demand 1 year years 5 years Total
ARBTt AR¥Tn AR¥ETR AR®Trn AR¥TR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B8 5 5E Trade payables 304,208 246,189 - - 550,397
HEERE Lease liabilities - 5,120 4,142 7 9,269
SAEMENTER Financial liabilities included in
EAEENERARE other payables and accruals 169,333 - - - 169,333
RERRERRE Financial liability for a
REHENSHAE put option written on
non-controlling interests - 52,230 - - 52,230
473,541 303,539 4,142 7 781,229
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37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

RNEFEAREIRZ BIZAER
REEETEREE ARG E
e B E BRRA
BlEEBRESES  BIRE
BREALR - AEEREZE
20234 202212 A318 I
SRR RAR M & o

AEEERABLX (BHF
B A B AN INER F ) BT
BAGER BEHFRBREN
B 55 0R ~ B R IR M e
FHIHE - HERBERIMIFER
RaBZERLHENEAREA
B ORRERREEFEY--&
RIS AR -

(#8) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)
BN R R () (b) Liquidity risk (continued)
20227 2022
N PR—F  —EE0E AFENUE &t
Less than Tt05 More than
On demand 1 year years 5 years Total
ARETT ARBTT ARBTr ARBTT ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ERESHE Trade payables 383,513 176,923 = = 560,436
HEGME Lease liabilities - 7,505 8,335 19 15,859
SAEMENMTER Financial liabilities included in
EiAEENERAR other payables and accruals 193,546 - - - 193,546
REBREREE Financial liability for a
REHENSHAR put option written on
non-controlling interests - - 125,559 - 125,559
577,059 184,428 133,894 19 895,400
EXRER (c) Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Group monitors capital structure using a gearing ratio,
which is net debt divided by the capital plus net debt. Net
debt includes trade payables, other payables and accruals,
lease liabilities and financial liability for a put option
written on non-controlling interests less cash and cash
equivalents. Capital represents total equity.
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37. B EEMEEEEZERK 37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
®

(#8) OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

() EXEE(HE) (c) Capital management (continued)
AREBEEEETFHRITERN The management of the Group reviews the capital
2R W EEE AR A K ESZ structure periodically and considers the costs of capital and
BERNBBEAORE  ABEBIK the risks associated with each class of capital to balance its
B BITHRARBITHERS overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
KIBERIIRGER Lk and new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or
BRGERE - the redemption of existing debts.

20234 2022F

2023 2022

ARET T ARBT T

RMB'000 RMB’'000

B 5 A Trade payables 550,397 560,436

H b et 2018 N fEETIE B Other payables and accruals 358,416 376,747

HEAE Lease liabilities 8,638 14,209
IR IRERF AR HE  Financial liability for a put option written

HemaE on non-controlling interests 52,230 121,641

W HERREEEY Less: Cash and cash equivalents (918,740) (810,359)

(ETYE Net debt 50,941 262,674

(=N Capital 1,463,199 1,689,988

BARERFE Capital and net debt 1,514,140 1,952,662

BELE Gearing ratio 3% 13%
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

BERIAT - Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
20234 20224
2023 2022
AR¥ET ARBF T
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
FEMENE E NON-CURRENT ASSETS
M BB MEE Property, plant and equipment 5 7
FREEE Right-of-use assets 1,738 2,494
NGk E = Investments in subsidiaries 13,967 9,688
EREBEELTE Total non-current assets 15,710 12,189
mENE E CURRENT ASSETS
FENFIE - 24 M EMEUEIE  Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 1,205,524 1,221,497
BHeMREEEYD Cash and cash equivalents 6,218 1,643
MBEERRE Total current assets 1,211,742 1,223,140
mEN B & CURRENT LIABILITIES
b RIB X FEEFTIEE Other payables and accruals 1,918 1,178
HEBE Lease liabilities 985 840
mBBEARE Total current liabilities 2,903 2,018
mENE EFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 1,208,839 1,221,122
EEABRLBEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,224,549 1,233,311
EMEBE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
HEARE Lease liabilities 952 1,747
BEFE Net assets 1,223,597 1,231,564
E EQUITY
& 75 Share capital 8,868 8,868
FAR 7 BB A Bl IF A MR 5 Shares held for the share award scheme (22,198) (22,198)
w1 () Reserves (note) 1,236,927 1,244,894
AT Total equity 1,223,597 1,231,564
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38. A B B AR T+ (4])

39.

Mzt -

THE COMPANY (continued)

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

Note:
AR RBERALT : A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
i)
BB fn s B REER X R 2B At
Share  Share award Exchange Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
ARBTT AREFTT ARETRT ARETE ARETR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
M20229F1 418 At 1 January 2022 1,329,843 6,279 (130,226) (13,114) 1,192,782
FREZABERE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - 106,043 (11,013) 95,030
PARRHE & B 8 I 10 22 B 5t 2l Equity-settled share award
scheme - 3,409 - - 3,409
BEEIR2021F R ER 2 Final 2021 dividend
declared (46,327) - - - (46,327)
MW2022F12A318 & At 31 December 2022 and
2023F1 A1H 1 January 2023 1,283,516 9,688 (24,183) (24,127) 1,244,894
FREZABERE Total comprehensive loss
for the year - - 17,906 (8,467) 9,439
R EAE R IR 2Bzt E]  Equity-settled share award
scheme - 4,279 - - 4,279
B EIR2022F KRR S Final 2022 dividend
declared (21,685) - - - (21,685)
M2023412A31H At 31 December 2023 1,261,831 13,967 (6,277) (32,594) 1,236,927

it B 1S 2R

SRR TN 20243 26 B ==

SHUE R IR T

39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

by the board of directors on 26 March 2024.
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EFFHBERE
FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TYHEHIAREBRBAER BT BREENE A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and equity
BEUNEE BEAEZHEE (BHALK of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

EZYIREK audited financial statements, is set out below:
BEZENA3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

ARBTRT AREBTET ARBTLI ARBTT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

EF RESULTS
A REVENUE 2,471,305 2,606,042 2,719,747 1,758,427 1,081,341
35 A Cost of sales (1,955,600) (2,050,148) (1,977,687) (1,227,379)  (776,044)
EF Gross profit 515,705 555,894 742,060 531,048 305,297
H g A R sz Other income and gains 95,685 28,181 38,108 23,546 6,078
HE RIS HEREKA Selling and marketing costs (41,108) (30,746) (20,561) (46,885) (10,380)
THRX Administrative expenses (276,942) (341,740) (279,224) (180,274) (124,945)
CRERAREERE Net impairment losses on

BiEFE financial and contract assets (96,547)  (372,226) (10,443) (2,154) (3,473)
HMAY Other expenses (373,967) (82,748) (28,281) (2,322) (26,893)
B AR AN F R Finance costs, net (497) (1,076) (3,348) (8,321) (13,539)
voR [a)ARNCTR = Eey Share of profit of an associate 1,629 (3,885) 5,482 2,101 3,393
BRBLAT (B51E) /FE (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (176,042)  (248,346) 443,793 316,739 135,538
FEHES%(Ex) Income tax expense/(credit) (28,428) 48,751 (109,656) (79,865) (40,214)
EE(FB)/FE (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (204,470)  (199,595) 334,137 236,874 95,324
TS TE R Attributable to:

BRAREAA Owners of the parent (201,763)  (213,627) 308,000 232,606 96,313

FEFE R = Non-controlling interests (2,707) 14,032 26,137 4,268 (989)

(204,470)  (199,595) 334,137 236,874 95,324
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EE BERER ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
A12831H
As at 31 December
2023%F 2022 20214 20204 20194
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

ARBTR ARBTRE ARBTE ARBTT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

EEMAE TOTAL ASSETS 2,604,783 2,928,883 3,268,735 2,648,951 1,500,942
BELE TOTAL LIABILITIES (1,141,584) (1,238,895) (1,335,366)  (887,254)  (601,711)
B A TOTAL EQUITY 1,463,199 1,689,988 1,933,369 1,761,697 899,231
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